Central Bedfordshire
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands,
Shefford SG17 5TQ

This meeting will
be filmed.*

please ask for

Sandra Hobbs

direct line

0300 300 5257

date

21 December 2017

NOTICE OF MEETING
EXECUTIVE
Date & Time

Tuesday, 9 January 2018 at 9.30 a.m.
Venue

Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford
Richard Carr
Chief Executive
To:

The Chairman and Members of the EXECUTIVE:

Cllrs

J Jamieson
R Wenham
I Dalgarno
S Dixon
C Hegley
B Spurr
N Young

 Chairman and Leader of the Council
 Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Corporate
Resources
 Executive Member for Community Services
 Executive Member for Education, Skills and Assets
 Executive Member for Social Care and Housing and
Lead Member for Children’s Services
 Executive Member for Health
 Executive Member for Regeneration

All other Members of the Council - on request
MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS
MEETING

*This meeting may be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast
online and can be viewed at
https://centralbedfordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home.
At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting will
be filmed by the Council. The footage will be on the Council’s website for six
months. A copy of it will also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data
retention policy. The images and sound recording may be used for training
purposes within the Council.
By entering the Chamber you are deemed to have consented to being filmed by the
Council, including during any representation you might make, and to the possible
use of the images and sound recordings made by the Council for webcasting
and/or training purposes.
Phones and other equipment may also be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog
from this meeting by an individual Council member or a member of the public. No
part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves
to go into exempt session. The use of images or recordings arising from this is not
under the Council’s control.

AGENDA

1.

Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes
To approve as a correct record, the Minutes of the meeting of the Executive
held on 5 December 2017.

3.

Members' Interests
To receive from Members any declarations of interest.

4.

Chairman's Announcements
To receive any matters of communication from the Chairman.

5.

Petitions
To consider petitions received in accordance with the Public Participation
Procedure as set out in Part 4G of the Constitution.

6.

Public Participation
To respond to general questions and statements from members of the public in
accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in Part 4G of the
Constitution.

7.

Forward Plan of Key Decisions
To receive the Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1 February 2018
to 31 January 2019.
Decisions

Item
8.

Subject

Page Nos.

Central Bedfordshire Local Plan

To follow

To consider the next steps with the draft Local Plan.

9.

Draft Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial
Plan

33 - 158

The report proposes the draft Budget for 2018/19 and
updates the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
approved by Council in February 2017.
10.

Draft Capital Programme 2018/19 To 2021/22

159 - 180

The purpose of this report is to seek Member approval
for a draft Capital Programme for the Medium Term
Financial Plan (MTFP) period 2018/19 to 2021/22 to
facilitate effective financial management and planning.
11.

Draft Budget for the Housing Revenue Account
(Landlord Business Plan) 2018/19

181 - 216

The report sets out the Draft Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) Landlord Business Plan Budget for 2018/19, with
proposals that respond to legislative changes; make
best use of the investment potential; account for the rent
reduction; and align to the debt strategy in the context of
long term Business Planning.
12.

Recommissioning Continuing Support Services for
Children

217 - 228

To present the recommissioning approach and
Communication, Engagement and Consultation (CEC)
Plan for endorsement.
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by Regulations
(4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to
Information)(England) Regulations 2012.
Details of any representations received by the Executive about why any of the above
exempt decisions should be considered in public: none at the time of publication of the
agenda. If representations are received they will be published separately, together with
the statement given in response

Agenda Item 2
Page 5
CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL
At a meeting of the EXECUTIVE held in the Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks
Walk, Shefford on Tuesday, 5 December 2017.
PRESENT
Cllr J G Jamieson (Chairman)
Executive
Members:

Cllrs

I Dalgarno
S Dixon
Mrs C Hegley

Cllrs

B J Spurr
J N Young

Deputy
Executive
Members:

Cllrs

A D Brown
Mrs S Clark
K M Collins
Mrs A L Dodwell

Cllrs

E Ghent
Ms C Maudlin
Mrs T Stock
B Wells

Apologies for
Absence:

Cllrs

R Wenham
G Tubb (Deputy Executive Member)

Members in Attendance:

Cllrs

R D Berry
P Downing
P A Duckett
K Ferguson

Officers in Attendance

Mr Q Baker
Mr R Carr
Mr M Coiffait
Ms S Duncan
Mrs S Harrison
Mrs S Hobbs
Mrs C Jagusz
Mrs J Ogley
Mrs C Shohet
Mr C Warboys

E/17/70

Cllrs

C C Gomm
Mrs S A Goodchild
Ms A M W Graham
P Smith

AD Legal Services (Monitoring
Officer)
Chief Executive
Director of Community Services
Senior Planning Officer
Director of Children's Services
Senior Committee Services Officer
Committee Services Administrator
Director of Social Care, Health and
Housing
Assistant Director of Public Health
Director of Resources

Minutes
RESOLVED
that the minutes of the meeting held on 10 October 2017 be confirmed as
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 2

E/17/71

05.12.17

Page 6

Members' Interests
None were declared.

E/17/72

Chairman's Announcements
The following Agenda items would be considered after item 23 ‘2017/18
Quarter 2 Performance Report’:




Award of Contracts for Residential and Nursing Home Placements
Village Farm, Sutton – Disposal
Land at Saxon Drive and Sorrel Way, Biggleswade.

The Leader reported that he had presented prizes at the Looked after Children
Awards evening organised by the Children in Care Council on 1 December
2017.
The National Infrastructure Commission had published their final findings in
November on the Cambridge – Milton Keynes – Oxford Corridor, and the
Chancellor of the Exchequer, as part of his Budget had largely endorsed the
findings. While there were a number of positive aspects such as the
commitment to both East West Rail and the Expressway, there were areas of
concern and the focus was now on building housing and not on economic
growth, in particular the target for one million new homes to be built along the
Corridor. The Leader committed to keeping Members updated.
E/17/73

Petitions
The Executive received the following petitions:
1.

Injunction against Illegal Encampments
The Council had received an e-petition, signed by 126 people, requesting
that the Council apply for an injunction against illegal encampments.
The Executive Member for Community Services explained that the
Council was aware of the impact illegal encampments had on residents in
Central Bedfordshire. A Gypsy and Traveller Enforcement Officer had
been employed to help address the issues. The Council had sought legal
advice on the objective standards that the Court would deem appropriate
for an injunction to be granted. Once the Council was in a position to
move forward, appropriate action would be taken. The Council had
actively lobbied local MPs for Government to provide the necessary
powers to deal more effectively with these situations.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 3

2.

05.12.17

Page 7

X31 Bus from Luton to Milton Keynes via Hockliffe
Councillor Mr Scott, from Hockliffe Parish Council, presented a petition on
behalf of the lead petitioner, signed by 60 people, that requested the
Council to support the reinstatement of the X31 bus from Luton to Milton
Keynes via Hockliffe. Residents in Hockliffe felt isolated and were
struggling to travel to work and attend appointments at the Luton and
Dunstable and Milton Keynes Hospitals.
The Executive Member for Community Services explained that alternative
arrangements were in place as Leighton Buzzard Buzzer Bus and Dial-aRide services provided public transport. The majority of the funding for
the X31 bus service had been provided in the past by Milton Keynes
Council, and it was their cut to funding which had caused the cancellation.
Central Bedfordshire Council were not in a position to replace this funding
but were looking to run a bus from Dunstable to Hockliffe, Monday to
Saturday. This proposed bus service was subject to the Transport
Commissioner’s agreement. It was anticipated that this service would
commence on 18 December 2017. Funding for this bus would be
provided from Section 106 Agreement monies received from development
in the area. The Executive Member agreed to provide a written response
to the lead petitioner.

3.

Maintenance at the Sheltered Accommodation in Southwood Road,
Dunstable
Councillor Ghent presented the petition on behalf of the lead petitioner,
signed by 22 residents, that raised concerns about the lack of
maintenance at the sheltered accommodation in Southwood Road,
Dunstable. This had led to the boilers breaking down and additional costs
for the residents for alternative heating.
The Executive Member for Social Care and Housing expressed her
disappointment that the residents had not spoken to her directly or to the
Scheme Manager. All tenants were encouraged to escalate any
problems through Housing Services as the Council were keen to address
any issues. She explained that the heating at the sheltered
accommodation had been fixed promptly and that the Director of Social
Care, Health and Housing would be writing to those tenants involved
explaining that compensation would be provided to those who had
incurred additional costs.

E/17/74

Public Participation
Members of the public had registered to speak on item 8 ‘Gypsy and Traveller
Sites – Billington Consultation’. See minute E/17/76 for further details.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 4

E/17/75

05.12.17

Page 8

Forward Plan of Key Decisions
RESOLVED
that the Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1 January 2018 to
31 December 2018 be noted.

E/17/76

Gypsy & Traveller Site - Billington Consultation
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community
Services that presented the results from the formal consultation on the
proposal to make improvements to Greenacres and The Stables, Gypsy and
Traveller sites in Billington. A 12 week consultation had taken place on the
proposals to either develop a new Council owned and managed gypsy and
traveller site or to remove the existing planning permissions and replace them
with new permissions and conditions. This would involve injunctions being
obtained to remove any occupants on the sites that were not legally entitled to
be there.
The Chairman invited the public speakers to make their statements in
accordance with the Public Participation Scheme.
Mr Barr, a resident in Little Billington, was pleased that the Council had
acknowledged there were issues with the sites. He felt that the funds set aside
to action the proposals were extortionate and could be used to support local
residents. He enquired as to where the alternative site would be located. He
objected to the residents on the sites being provided with a dedicated
telephone number to enable them to respond to the consultation when the
residents in the villages had not been provided with the same opportunity. He
also raised concerns about anti-social behaviour that occurred off the site and
enquired as to how this was going to be addressed.
Mr Swain raised concerns with the amount of Council funds that had been
allocated to action the proposals. It was unclear how these proposals would
benefit local residents and how the Council would guarantee that the gypsy and
travellers on the site would engage with the Council to improve their behaviour
despite the multi-agency approach. Toddbury Farm had not been mentioned in
the report and there had been no mention of an alternative site or the reduction
of the travelling population in the area.
Mr Jones spoke on behalf of the residents living on the gypsy and traveller
sites. He explained that the residents were keen to engage with the Council
and they had set up a residents’ association. The residents’ association had
started to put plans together to improve the infrastructure and resolve the
problems that had been identified. Since setting up the residents’ association,
there had been an improvement with community cohesion on the site and it
was hoped that this would eventually lead to community cohesion off the site.
Those residents on the sites that had not wanted to engage with the Council
had left. He hoped that the Executive would support continued engagement
with the residents living on site.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 5

05.12.17

Page 9

Councillor Ms Thompson, Chair of Billington Parish Council, raised concerns
about the £9m that would be spent on the gypsy and travellers. This was on
top of the money that had already been spent on these sites by different
agencies in an effort to deal with the problems. However, it was recognised
that the problems had to be addressed. The increase in the number of
caravans on the sites was unsustainable. Evidence had been provided to
Central Bedfordshire Council about the anti-social behaviour that had taken
place. There was concern that only 5% of respondents to the consultation
were residents from the site. She also raised concern that no alternative site
had been allocated. She requested that a representative from Billington Parish
Council and the local community be represented on the Project Board.
The Executive Member for Community Services explained that there were
issues at Greenacres and The Stables that included the lack of infrastructure,
planning breaches, anti-social behaviour and crime. Partners had been
working together to address these issues and the proposals would need to be
funded. He confirmed that an alternative location for a new site had not yet
been settled on. If the problems could not be resolved the Council would apply
to compulsorily purchase the two sites with a view to closing them following the
development of a replacement facility. New planning permissions would also
be considered as this would enable unauthorised caravans to be removed and
the conditions on the site to be enforced. Toddbury Farm had received
planning permission and the Council were able to enforce the conditions and
any issues could be addressed. Whereas Greenacres and The Stables had
been granted blanket permission from the Planning Inspectorate so the
Council’s ability to enforce conditions was compromised. There had been 382
responses to the consultation, 80% of these had been from local residents. A
telephone line had been installed to help the gypsy and traveller community to
respond to the consultation. The Executive Member would welcome a
representative from Billington Parish Council on the Project Board. The
Council had a duty of care to those residents living on the sites as well as
residents living in the villages. It was hoped that the residents on the sites
would continue to engage with the Council and he looked forward to seeing
improvements.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to continue engagement with the
residents on the sites and take robust action to bring the sites up to standard.
In the event that this could not be resolved, Officers would then be in a position
to bring a recommendation back to the Executive to acquire both sites using a
Compulsory Purchase Order.
RESOLVED
1.

that the results from the consultation be noted;

2.

to authorise the Director of Community Services to continue to coordinate robust action under planning, licensing, environmental
health, community safety, housing and other relevant powers to
bring the sites up to the following standards:

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 6





E/17/77

05.12.17

Page 10

compliant with planning and licensing regulations;
safe and well maintained;
well managed and accessible to the authorities.

3.

that in the event that resolution 2 (above) does not bring the sites up
to standard, Officers would bring a recommendation to the
Executive, to acquire Greenacres and The Stables using a
Compulsory Purchase Order; and

4.

that the estimated costs of £9m be included in the Council’s Medium
Term Financial Plan, to fund the Council’s original proposal to
acquire the site and build a new Council owned and managed
facility.

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2018/19
The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate Resources that set out the proposed Local Council Tax
Support Scheme for 2018/19. It was proposed that the current scheme be
readopted with no changes.
In response to a question, the Executive Member for Social Care and Housing
explained that consideration would be given to a support package for care
leavers to help them pay their Council Tax.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to endorse the Central
Bedfordshire Council Local Council Tax Support Scheme. If the Scheme was
not approved by 31 January 2018, the Council would have to award Local
Council Tax Support in accordance with the Government’s default Scheme
which would result in the cost of the Scheme significantly exceeding that of the
Local Council Tax Support Scheme.
RECOMMENDED to Council
that the current Local Council Tax Support Scheme be extended for a
further year (2018/19) with no changes being proposed.

E/17/78

Flitwick Station Site and Car Park
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for
Regeneration that set out the recommended delivery approach for the
regeneration of the Flitwick station site and car park and sought approval for a
procurement process to identify and secure a development partner on the best
financial terms possible.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to regenerate the Flitwick station
site and car park.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 7

05.12.17

Page 11

RESOLVED
1.

that the progress made towards enabling the regeneration of
Flitwick Station site and car park since this matter was last
considered by the Executive in April 2017 be noted, including:
 Preparation of provisional Heads of Terms with a major retail
anchor for the scheme.
 The completion of a public consultation exercise between the
31st July and the 13th September which has demonstrated broad
support for the scheme objectives and priorities as set out in the
report considered by the Executive in April 2017.
 The preparation of a Memorandum of Understanding with
Network Rail and Govia Thameslink Railways Ltd for the purpose
of supporting partnership work towards scheme delivery.
 Commencement of detailed design work for the Transport
Interchange as funded by Network Rail’s National Station
Improvement Programme (NSIP).
 The further refinement and improvement of the draft concept
scheme based on the market view of proposed uses, including
testing of likely construction costs and revenue generating
potential.

2.

that the recommended mechanism be supported, as outlined in Part
5 (B), paragraph 57 for delivering the scheme and its benefits,
namely a development partnership. Executive approval would be
sought in future on key decisions in line with the Council’s
Constitution;

3.

that the Council’s bids to the Government’s competitive Housing
Infrastructure Fund (HIF) for £5.3M and Accelerated Construction
Fund for £0.8M be noted. The purpose of these bids was to support
housing provision within the scheme through delivery of site
infrastructure. This may include the funding of new access roads,
junction improvements, public transport interchange and potentially
step free access to all station platforms. A decision on which
funding bids would be supported be expected in early 2018; and

4.

note that the Council would be lobbying Government for additional
financial support via Network Rail’s next investment plan (2019 to
2024) for the purpose of providing step free access at Flitwick
station.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 8

E/17/79

05.12.17

Page 12

Cranfield University Masterplan
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for
Regeneration that set out the proposed Cranfield University Masterplan. The
Masterplan covered the area of Cranfield University that included the academic
campus, Technology Park and the residential and recreational core areas.
In response to questions, the Executive Member for Regeneration explained
that the Masterplan had been developed over the last 2 years. A separate
Masterplan was being developed for Cranfield Airport. Discussions with
neighbouring authorities were taking place as part on the development of the
draft Local Plan that would be published on 3 January 2018 as part of
Regulation 19, for consideration by the Executive on 9 January. The route for
the East West Railway through Central Bedfordshire had not been decided. He
endorsed the concerns that since the doctors surgery on the campus had been
closed, there had been a greater impact on the Cranfield Village doctors
surgery and invited the University to take this into account.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to adopt the Masterplan as
technical guidance for the purposes of development management.
RESOLVED
that the Cranfield University Masterplan be adopted as technical
guidance for Development Management purposes.

E/17/80

Central Bedfordshire Children and Young People's Plan (2018 - 21)
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Members for Social Care
and Housing and Educations and Skills that presented the Central Bedfordshire
Children and Young People’s Plan 2018-2021 for endorsement.
Reason for decision: To ensure the Council meets its statutory duty as set out
in the Children Act 2004 to make arrangements to promote co-operation with
partners to improve the wellbeing of children in the authority’s area.
RESOLVED
that the Central Bedfordshire Children and Young People’s Plan (201821), set out at Appendix A to the report, be endorsed.

E/17/81

Commissioning New School Places in the ward of Stotfold through the
delivery of a new extended secondary Free School (Pix Brook Academy)
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education
and Skills that sought approval for the release of land (subject to planning
permission) for the new Pix Brook Academy Free School and for the Council to
manage the delivery of the build on behalf of the Department for Education
(DfE). The construction of the Free School was to be funded by the DfE
through the Free Schools Programme.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 9

05.12.17

Page 13

Reason for decision: To enable the Council to provide additional school places
due to a deficit of school places in the area.
RESOLVED

E/17/82

1.

that the release of land (subject to planning) for the new free school
be approved and that the Council deliver the new free school on
behalf of the Department for Education; and

2.

to authorise the Director of Community Services, in consultation
with the Director of Children’s Services, to enter into all appropriate
legal documentation to implement the scheme, including the
building contract and ancillary documents, funding agreement,
development agreement, Academy lease and all contracts required
to secure delivery and operation of the new school.

Temporary Increase in Pupil Admission Numbers and related Capital
Expenditure - Thomas Johnson Lower School, Lidlington and
Biggleswade Academy
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education
and Skills that sought approval for the commencement of capital expenditure
for the temporary expansion of pupil numbers at:



Thomas Lower School, Lidlington to allow the school to admit up to 30
pupils by 2018; and
Biggleswade Academy by an additional 60 pupils for 2018 and 2019.

In response to questions, the Executive Member for Education and Skills
explained that the Council was focussed on ensuring school places were
available for local children. He acknowledged the comments from the
Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee. He agreed to provide a
briefing paper to the relevant Members on the cost of new school places per
pupil. Each school had different requirements to enable it to expand, in
particular with Biggleswade Academy it was proposed that the additional
accommodation included circulation and toilets, refurbishment and remodelling
of the dining space, car parking and hard play.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to provide sufficient school places.
RESOLVED
1.

that the commencement of capital expenditure, as set out in the
report, be approved subject to the granting of planning
permissions under Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning Act for
the temporary expansion of Thomas Johnson Lower School and
Biggleswade Academy; and

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 10

2.

E/17/83

05.12.17

Page 14

to authorise the Director of Community Services, in consultation
with the Director of Children’s Services to enter all appropriate
legal documentation to implement the schemes.

Resilient Highway Network
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community
Services that sought adoption of the documentation required in order to
demonstrate a renewed commitment at senior level to the principles of asset
management and resilience to achieve Band 3 status.
Reason for decision: To enable the Highways Service to continue on track to
becoming a Band 3 authority, secure incentive funding and become a more
efficient and resilient service.
RESOLVED
that the following key documents be adopted:



E/17/84

The Resilient Network, set out in Appendix A to the report; and
Network Maintenance Management Plan, set out in Appendix B to
the report.

Authority to Tender Contract for Coroner Services
The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate Resources that sought approval of delegated authority
to award contracts for two aspects of the Coroner Services on behalf of the
Bedfordshire and Luton Coroner area, following the completion of the EU
procurement process.
Reason for decision: To ensure that the Coroner Service had in place suitable
mortuary, post-mortem and pathology services and a contract for conveyance
of bodies.
RESOLVED
1.

to authorise the Director of Resources, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Corporate Resources, to award contracts for
the delivery of mortuary, pathology and post-mortem services
identified within the report in order to meet the required timescales,
allowing the contracts to be operational at the earliest opportunity;
and

2.

to authorise the Director of Resources, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Corporate Resources, to award contracts for
the conveyance of bodies as detailed within the report if necessary.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 11

E/17/85

05.12.17

Page 15

Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast Outturn September 2017
(Quarter 2)
The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate Resources that set out the projected outturn financial
position for 2017/18 as at September 2017. The revenue forecast outturn
position was £3.3m over budget. The year to date spend was £0.6m over
budget.
Reason for decision: To maintain rigour and transparency through the
Executive’s regular public monitoring of the revenue budget.
RESOLVED

E/17/86

1.

that the forecast revenue outturn position which was currently to
overspend budget by £3.3M (over budget by £0.6M in September
2016) be noted;

2.

to note that the budget included £2.1M of contingency costs
against which no call had yet been made. If this contingency was
released then this would result in an overspend of £1.275M; and

3.

that officers be requested to continue to look for compensatory
savings in order to deliver a balanced budget.

Capital Budget Monitoring Forecast Outturn Report September 2017
(Quarter 2)
The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Executive Member for
Corporate Resources that set out the capital projected outturn for 2017/18 as at
September 2017.
Reason for decision: To maintain rigour and transparency through the
Executive’s regular public monitoring of the capital budget.
RESOLVED
1.

that the gross forecast outturn of £96.8M, excluding HRA but
including deferred spend from 2016/17 which was currently below
the approved budget by £13.9M (£3.7M below last year against a
higher budget of £132.6M) be noted; and

2.

to note that the net forecast was £3.7M below budget (£2.4M below
budget at the same stage last year).

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 12

E/17/87

05.12.17

Page 16

Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring September 2017 (Quarter 2)
The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate Resources and Executive Member for Social Care and
Housing that provided details of the 2017/18 Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
projected outturn revenue and capital position as at September 2017.
In response to a question, the Executive Member for Social Care and Housing
explained that the Council was still waiting for guidance from the Government
on funding for local authorities to be able to build their own housing provision.
Reason for decision: To maintain rigour and transparency through the
Executive’s regular public monitoring of the HRA.
RESOLVED

E/17/88

1.

that the revenue forecast position to achieve a balanced budget
with a contribution to HRA Reserves of £6.182M, thus
strengthening the Council’s ability to invest and improve its stock
of Council homes, be noted;

2.

to note that the capital forecast position indicates a net outturn of
£8.227M against a budget of £14.342M. The deferral of £2.539M of
future investment works to 2018/19, be approved;

3.

that Right to Buy (RtB) sales would be monitored for the possible
impact on predicted surpluses in the medium to longer term; and

4.

that the virement of the underspend at Croft Green (£3.725M) to the
New Build and Acquisitions budget line, to enable further
purchases of properties that would address the increasing
temporary accommodation pressure in the General Fund, be
approved.

2017/18 Quarter 2 Performance Report
The Executive considered a report from the Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate Resources that set out the quarter 2 performance for the
Council’s Medium Term Plan indicator set.
Reason for decision: To ensure a rigorous approach to performance
management across Central Bedfordshire Council.
RESOLVED
1.

that the performance be noted against the indicators currently being
used to help support the monitoring of progress against the Medium
Term Plan priorities; and

2.

that officers be requested to further investigate and resolve
underperforming indicators as appropriate.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 13

E/17/89

05.12.17

Page 17

Award of Contracts for Residential and Nursing Home Placements
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Social Care
and Housing that set out the outcome of the re-procurement of the contract for
care homes places for older people and sought to award the contracts to the
recommended providers.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to award the contracts for the
provision of care in Residential and Nursing Homes for Older People.
RESOLVED

E/17/90

1.

that the award of contracts for the provision of care in Residential
and Nursing Homes for Older People to the providers listed in
Appendix A of the report as having been successfully evaluated, be
approved; and

2.

to authorise the Director of Social Care, Health and Housing, in
consultation with the Executive Member for Social Care Health and
Housing to approve the future addition of one or more new
providers to the contract by following the process set out in
paragraph 34 of the report.

Village Farm, Sutton - Disposal
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education
and Skills that set out the proposal to dispose of land at Village Farm, Sutton.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to dispose of land and bring its
own land forward for housing development in accordance with Government
requirements.
RESOLVED
to authorise the Director of Community Services, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Education and Skills, to dispose of 0.855 ha of land
and buildings at Village Farm, Sutton on the best available terms.

E/17/91

Land at Saxon Drive and Sorrel Way, Biggleswade
The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education
and Skills that set out the proposals to dispose of land at Saxon Drive and
Sorrel Way, Biggleswade.
Reason for decision: To enable the Council to dispose of land and bring its
own land forward for housing development in accordance with Government
requirements.

Agenda Item 2
Exec Page 14

05.12.17

Page 18

RESOLVED
to authorise the Director of Community Services, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Education and Skills, to dispose of land at Saxon
Drive and Sorrel Way, Biggleswade on the best available terms.
E/17/92

Letting of Contract for Residential and Nursing Home Placements
See minute E/17/89 for further details.

E/17/93

Village Farm, Sutton - Disposal
See minute E/17/90 for further details.

E/17/94

Land at Saxon Drive and Sorrel Way, Biggleswade
See minute E/17/91 for further details.

(Note:

The meeting commenced at 9.30 a.m. and concluded at 11.37 a.m.)
Chairman …………….………………….
Dated ………………………………..

Central Bedfordshire Council
Forward Plan of Key Decisions
1 February 2018 to 31 January 2019
1) During the period from 1 February 2018 to 31 January 2019, Central Bedfordshire Council plans to make key decisions on the issues set
out below. “Key decisions” relate to those decisions of the Executive which are likely:
-

to result in the incurring of expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant (namely £200,000 or above per annum)
having regard to the budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

-

to be significant in terms of their effects on communities living or working in an area comprising one or more wards in the area of Central
Bedfordshire.

There are exceptions to these criteria which is set out in C2 1.3 in the Council’s Constitution. Specifically, expenditure which is identified in
the approved Council revenue and capital budgets are not key decisions.
2) The Forward Plan is a general guide to the key decisions to be determined by the Executive and will be updated on a monthly basis. Key
decisions will be taken by the Executive as a whole. The Members of the Executive are:
Councillor James Jamieson
Councillor Richard Wenham
Councillor Ian Dalgarno
Councillor Steven Dixon
Councillor Carole Hegley
Councillor Brian Spurr
Councillor Nigel Young

Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Corporate Resources
Executive Member for Community Services
Executive Member for Education and Skills
Executive Member for Social Care and Housing and Lead Member for Children’s Services
Executive Member for Health
Executive Member for Regeneration

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

3) Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the meetings listed in this Forward Plan will be open to the public and media organisations
to attend, there will inevitably be some business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal
information.

This is a formal notice under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to Information)(England) Regulations
2012 that part of the Executive meeting listed in this Forward Plan will be held in private because the agenda and reports for the meeting will
contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and that the public interest in
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.
4) Those items identified for decision more than one month in advance may change in forthcoming Plans. Each new Plan supersedes the
previous Plan. Any person who wishes to make representations to the Executive about the matter in respect of which the decision is to be
made should do so to the officer whose telephone number and e-mail address are shown in the Forward Plan. Any correspondence should
be sent to the contact officer at the relevant address as shown below. General questions about the Plan such as specific dates, should be
addressed to the Committee Services Manager, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford SG17 5TQ.
5) The agendas for meetings of the Executive will be published as follows:
Meeting Date

Publication of Agenda

20 June 2017
1 August 2017
10 October 2017
5 December 2017
9 January 2018
6 February 2018
3 April 2018

12 June 2017
20 July 2017
28 September 2017
23 November 2017
21 December 2017
25 January 2018
22 March 2018

Agenda Item 7

Page 20

Central Bedfordshire Council
Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1 February 2018 to 31 January 2019
Key Decisions
Date of Publication: 21 December 2017
Ref
No.
1.

Issue for Key
Decision by
the Executive
Southill Lower
School Change of Age
Range -

Intended Decision

To seek approval
for the publication of
a statutory notice for
the proposed
change of age
range from 4-9 to 29 years.

Indicative
Meeting
Date
6 February
2018

Consultees and
Date/Method

Documents
which may be
considered
Open
Southill Lower
School

Contact officer (method of
comment and closing date)
Education and Skills - Executive
Member
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Victor Wan, Senior Education
Officer (Planning)
Email:
victor.wan@centralbedfordshire.
gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5574

Agenda Item 7

Page 21

Ref
No.
2.

3.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
Southcott
Lower School,
Linslade Change of Age
Range -

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

Approval for launch
of statutory
consultation &
subsequent
determination of
proposal by
delegated authority
for a proposed
permanent change
of age range for
Southcott Lower
School, Linslade from 4-9 years to 29 years.

6 February
2018

Permission to
Award Dial a
Ride Contracts
-

To seek permission
from Executive to
award contracts to
provide dial a ride
services in Central
Bedfordshire.

6 February
2018

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

Open

Education and Skills - Executive
Member
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Victor Wan, Senior Education
Officer (Planning)
Email:
victor.wan@centralbedfordshire.
gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5574

Southcott Lower
School, Linslade

Open
Permission to
Award Dial a
Ride Contracts

Community Services - Executive
Member
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Susan Childerhouse, Head of
Public Protection (North)
Email:
susan.childerhouse@centralbed
fordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4394

Agenda Item 7

Page 22

Ref
No.
4.

5.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
Dunstable
High Street Regeneration
Proposals -

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

To allow members
to review the
proposed designs
following feasibility
and consultation.

6 February
2018

Members, officers and
public consultation.

Open

Cllr J Nigel Young
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Gerri Davies, Principal Strategic
Transport Officer
Email:
geraldine.davies@centralbedfor
dshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4854

Waste
Collection &
Street
CleansingService
Design and
Delivery
Method -

The current Waste
Collection and
Street Cleansing
contracts end on
31st March 2019.
This report details
the options and
seeks approval for
the recommended
design and delivery
method of future
household waste
collection and street
cleansing services.

6 February
2018

Dunstable High
St - Regeneration
proposals

Open
Waste Collection
& Street
CleansingMethodolgy and
Procurement

Community Services - Executive
Member
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Tracey Harris (Waste), Head of
Waste Services
Email:
tracey.harris2@centralbedfords
hire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4646

Agenda Item 7

Page 23

Ref
No.
6.

7.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
Travel
Assistance
Policies for
School
Children and
Post 16
Students -

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Adoption of
Reviewed Transport
Assistance Policies
for school children
and post 16
students.

6 February
2018

Open

Community
Safety
Accreditation
Scheme
(CSAS) -

The report seeks
6 February
approval for the
2018
Council to submit an
application to be an
accredited
organisation under
the Community
Safety Accreditation
Scheme.

Open

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

Community Services - Executive
Member, Education and Skills Travel Assistance Executive Member
Policies
Comments by 06/01/18 to
Contact Officer:
Susan Childerhouse, Head of
Public Protection (North)
Email:
susan.childerhouse@centralbed
fordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4394

Community
Safety
Accreditation
Scheme (CSAS)

Community Services - Executive
Member
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Jeanette Keyte, Head of
Community Safety
Email:
jeanette.keyte@centralbedfords
hire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5252

Agenda Item 7

Page 24

Ref
No.
8.

9.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
Cranfield
Community
Building -

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

To approve the
transfer of the
Cranfield
Community Building
when built, on the
Home Farm
development in
Cranfield, to
Cranfield Parish
Council.

3 April 2018

Permission to
Award Repair
and
Maintenance
Contract for
Fleet -

To seek permission
from Executive to
award the repair
and maintenance
contract for council
operated and
managed fleet
vehicles.

3 April 2018

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

Open

Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Leader of the Council
Comments by 03/03/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Sarah Hughes, Community
Engagement Manager
Email:
sarah.hughes@centralbedfords
hire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6166

Cranfield
Community
Building

Open
Permission to
Award Repair
and maintenance
Contract for Fleet

Community Services - Executive
Member
Comments by 03/03/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Susan Childerhouse, Head of
Public Protection (North)
Email:
susan.childerhouse@centralbed
fordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4394

Agenda Item 7

Page 25

Ref
No.
10.

11.

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

To advise on the
outcome of the
public consultation
into the future of
Westlands Older
Persons Home and
to determine its
future. To advise on
the outcome of the
process to identify a
provider for a new
care home in
Leighton Buzzard
and to agree a
preferred provider.

3 April 2018

Residents, relatives,
stakeholder groups and any
other interested parties.
Full public consultation August to November 2017

Part exempt
Some information
relating to the
procurement
process may be
commercially
sensitive.
The Future of
Westlands Older
Persons Home The outcome of
the consultation
and procurement
processes

Social Care & Housing Executive Member and Lead
Member for Children's Services
Comments by 03/03/2018 to
Contact Officer
Tim Hoyle, MANOP Head of
Service
Email:
tim.hoyle@centralbedfordshire.
gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6065

Independent
Living Scheme
at Houghton
Regis Central -

To award the
contract for the
construction of an
Independent Living
Scheme at
Houghton Regis
Central.

7 August
2018

Part exempt
Appendices will
be exempt due to
commercial
sensitivity.
Independent
Living Scheme at
Houghton Regis
Central

Social Care & Housing Executive Member and Lead
Member for Children's Services
Comments by 07/07/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Ian Johnson, Housing Asset
Manager
Email:
ian.johnson@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5202

Page 26

Agenda Item 7

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
The Future of
Westlands
Older Persons
Home - The
Outcome of
the
Consultation
and
Procurement
Processes -

Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

Treasury
Management
Strategy and
Treasury
Policy -

The report proposes
the Treasury
Management
Strategy and
Treasury Policy for
2018/19.

6 February
2018

Traded
Services to
Schools &
Academies –
Proposed
Charges for
2018/19. -

The report proposes
the revised 2018/19
charges for Traded
Services to Schools
& Academies for
non statutory
services.

6 February
2018

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

Open

Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Leader of the Council
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

NON KEY DECISIONS
12.

13.

Treasury
Management
Strategy and
Treasury Policy

Open
Traded Services
to Schools &
Academies –
Proposed
charges for
2018/19.

Page 27

Agenda Item 7

Education and Skills - Executive
Member, Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Leader of the Council
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

Ref
No.
14.

15.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
Fees and
Charges Social Care
Health &
Housing –
April 2018 -

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

The report proposes
the revised Fees
and Charges prices
for April 2018;
identifies new
services for which it
is proposed that
Fees or Charges
will be levied; and
identifies those
charges where
proposed increases
are significantly
different from the
advisory increase
as per the 2018/19
Budget Strategy.

6 February
2018

Final Budget
2018/19 and
Medium Term
Financial Plan
-

The report proposes 6 February
the Final Budget for 2018
2018/19 and
updates the Medium
Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) approved
by Council in
February 2017.

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

Open

Social Care & Housing Executive Member and Lead
Member for Children's Services,
Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Leader of the Council
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

Fees and
Charges - Social
Care Health &
Housing – April
2018

Open
Final Budget
2018/19 and
Medium Term
Financial Plan

Page 28

Agenda Item 7

Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Leader of the Council
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

Ref
No.
16.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
Final Capital
Programme
2018/19 to
2021/22 -

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

The purpose of this
report is to seek
Member approval
for a Capital
Programme for the
Medium Term
Financial Plan
(MTFP) period
2018/19 to 2021/22
to facilitate effective
financial
management and
planning.

6 February
2018

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

Open

Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Leader of the Council
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

Final Capital
Programme
2018/19 TO
2021/22

Agenda Item 7

Page 29

Ref
No.
17.

18.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive
Final Budget
for the
Housing
Revenue
Account
(Landlord
Business Plan)
2018/19 -

2017/18
Quarter 3
Performance
Report -

Intended Decision

Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method

Documents which
may be considered

The report sets out
the Final Housing
Revenue Account
(HRA) Landlord
Business Plan
Budget for 2018/19,
with proposals that
respond to
legislative changes;
make best use of
the investment
potential; account
for the rent
reduction; and align
to the debt strategy
in the context of
long term Business
Planning.
To receive the
2017/18 quarter 3
performance
monitoring report.

6 February
2018

Open

3 April 2018

Open

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Final Budget for
Leader of the Council, Social
the Housing
Care & Housing - Executive
Revenue Account Member and Lead Member for
(Landlord
Children's Services
Business Plan)
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
2018/19
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

Page 30

Agenda Item 7

Corporate Resources Executive Member and Deputy
Leader of the Council
Comments by 03/03/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Tobin Stephenson, Programme
Manager
Email:
tobin.stephenson@centralbedfo
rshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4098
Postal address for Contact Officers: Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford SG17 5TQ

Agenda Item 7
Page 31
Central Bedfordshire Council
Forward Plan of Decisions on Key Issues
For the Municipal Year 2017/18 the Forward Plan will be published on the following dates:
Period of Plan

Date of Publication

1 May 2017 – 30 April 2018

4 April 2017

1 June 2017 – 31 May 2018

3 May 2017

1 July 2017 – 30 June 2018

25 May 2017

1 August 2017 – 31 July 2018

30 June 2017

1 September 2017 – 31 August 2018

20 July 2017

1 October 2017 – 30 September 2018

1 September 2017

1 November 2017 – 31 October 2018

28 September 2017

1 December 2017 – 30 November 2018

2 November 2017

1 January 2018 – 31 December 2018

23 November 2017

1 February 2018 – 31 January 2019

21 December 2017

1 March 2018 – 28 February 2019

25 January 2018

1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019

2 March 2018

1 May 2018 – 30 April 2019

22 March 2018

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Page 33

Central Bedfordshire Council
EXECUTIVE

9 January 2018

Draft Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial Plan
Report of Cllr Richard Wenham, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for
Corporate Resources (richard.wenham@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Advising Officers: Charles Warboys, Director of Resources and S151 Officer
(charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
This report relates to a non-Key Decision

Purpose of this report
1.

The report proposes the draft Budget for 2018/19 and updates the
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) approved by Council in February
2017. At the time of writing this report, the Financial Settlement for
Local Government has not yet been released and is expected in mid
December 2017. The final Budget report will be updated to reflect the
impact of the Settlement once published.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Executive is recommended to:
1. approve the draft Budget for 2018/19 and the updated MTFP
2018/19 – 2021/22 as the basis for consultation with the
Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
other interested parties.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations
2.

The Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee will
consider the draft budget and MTFP proposals at its meeting on 25th
January 2018 and comments will be included in the final Budget report
to be presented to the Executive at its 6 February 2018 meeting, prior
to final recommendations being made by the Executive to Council at its
meeting on the 22nd February 2018.

Agenda Item 9
Page 34
Issues
3.

The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is intended to set out a
sustainable and affordable financial plan that addresses the Council’s
priorities over the next four years. It should provide for realistic levels of
spending, not dependent upon the use of one-off reserves. It should
provide for a prudent level of reserves for contingencies.

4.

This Plan is set against a background of significant new burdens
impacting on the Council’s costs as a result of Government policy or
legislation. These include:







Removing Revenue support grant (RSG) entirely (impact £4.7M
in 2018/19).
Negative RSG impacting on Non Domestic Rates (Impact £1.3M
in 2019/20).
Reductions to the Public Health Grant (£0.3M in 2018/19).
Additional pay award and National Living Wage (£1.2M in
2018/19 (£2.5M over the MTFP).
Extended rights to travel (transporting students from low income
families to school - £0.3M in 2018/19).
Impact of the Homelessness Act (full extent as yet unknown).

5.

As a result of these changes, and the potential for further adjustments
in Government policy which could impose yet more unfunded costs on
the Council, it is prudent to seek £5M of additional efficiencies in the
medium term over and above the operational efficiencies identified in
this report. The intention is that a plan for these additional efficiencies
should have been developed by the time the Executive makes its final
recommendations to Council in February.

6.

During last year’s Financial Settlement, the Government made the
assumption in its financial modelling that councils will raise Council Tax
by both a minimum of 2% earmarked specifically for adult social care
and an assumed 1.75% for inflation in 2018/19.

7.

The 2017 Financial Settlement also gave local authorities the option to
raise a 6% precept for adult social care over three years (2017/18 –
2019/20) which could be phased as either 2% each year or 3% for two
years and zero in the third year. This Council chose to increase the
precept by 3% in 2017/18 and 2018/19.

8.

The 2020/21 MTFP continues to broadly reflect that assumption (3.0%
adult social care precept and 1.494% General Fund Council tax
increase for 2018/19).

9.

This is in addition to the significant efficiencies contained in the draft
Budget/ updated MTFP.

Agenda Item 9
Page 35
10.

The draft Budget for 2018/19 sets out the Council’s finances and
identifies the efficiencies required to produce a balanced budget in light
of the ongoing reduction in funding from Government and other
pressures. £13.8M of efficiencies are identified for 2018/19 before any
contribution to the additional £5M referred to in paragraph 5 above.

11.

The draft Capital Programme is included elsewhere on the Agenda.
However, the revenue implications of the draft Capital Programme are
reflected in the proposals contained in this report.

12.

A separate report in respect of the Housing Revenue Account
(Landlord Services Business Plan) is also presented to this Executive.

Reasons for decision
13.

To enable consultation on the draft Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term
Financial Plan 2018/19-2020/21, prior to final recommendations being
made by the Executive to Council on 6 February 2018.

Council Priorities
14.

The Council approved the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for
2017/18 to 2020/21 in February 2017. The MTFP has been updated
and extended to 2021/22 and an initial draft Budget for 2018/19
prepared, reflecting new cost pressures and offsetting efficiencies. It
does not yet include the detailed Financial Settlement due to be
announced in mid December 2017.

15.

The Council’s priorities are:


Enhancing Central Bedfordshire.



Great resident services.



Improving education and skills.



Protecting the vulnerable; improving wellbeing.



Creating stronger communities.



A more efficient and responsive Council.

These priorities are reflected in the budget proposals included in this
report.
Corporate Strategy and Background to the Budget Setting Process
16.

In February 2017 the Council approved the 2017/18 Budget and
Medium Term Financial Plan to 2020/21.

Agenda Item 9
Page 36
17.

Two years ago, 2016/17, was the first time that the Council increased
Council Tax which was as a result of a change in Central Government
policy in the way in which local authorities are funded.

18.

Prior to that, over the past seven years, the Council has generated
savings of more than £104M in order to avoid the necessity of
increases in Council Tax whilst protecting front line services. It has
managed to achieve this by adopting a whole Council approach to
robust budget management, delivering more efficient ways of working
and ensuring that the Directorate and Service priorities are clearly
identified and resourced.

19.

As part of the MTFP process for 2017/18-2020/21 in developing the
strategy for efficiencies over the next four years, the Council developed
both a thematic approach and also a focus on key specific issues. This
focus continues for the 2018/19 MTFP.

20.

The strategy upon which the Council’s MTFP is based comprises the
following elements;


Delivering operating efficiencies, including through digitisation,
those things that are essentially internal arrangements and will not
impact adversely on the public. This includes internal restructures.



Generating income (some based on capital investments).



Intervening early to reduce demand (where we are looking to
reduce the need to provide a service by preventative actions
“upstream”).



Determining the Council’s offer (areas where we are looking to limit
the Council’s financial exposure but in some cases residents could
opt to make their own contributions to “top up” the service they
receive).



Withdrawing services where the continued need for them is not
apparent.

Budget Strategy Review Process
21.

The Budget Strategy Review Process for 2018/19 built on that adopted
in previous years with a series of “Budget Strategy Reviews” at an
early stage. As per last year, given the ever increasing pressures on
local authority finances, a greater emphasis was placed on planning for
the whole 4 year period of the MTFP.

22.

A number of financial challenges and opportunities have emerged
during 2017/18 which required a particular focus in the MTFP to
mitigate growing pressures and to stabilise costs and service provision.
These included:

Agenda Item 9
Page 37
Homelessness
23.

The Council is facing an increase in the numbers of homeless people,
and although not yet on the same scale as neighbouring authorities,
this is causing financial pressures, which will continue to grow unless
addressed.

24.

The causes of homelessness are many and complex and so a cross
Council response is required. Key planks of the strategy to deal with
homelessness include increasing the supply of affordable housing and
managing the flow of people through temporary accommodation into
more settled accommodation.

Learning Disabilities
25.

The number of people (both Children and Adults) diagnosed with
learning disabilities is increasing significantly. The range of disabilities
is broad and different responses are required for different conditions.

26.

As with Homelessness, no single Directorate within the Council can
address this alone. The response involves cross Council working with a
particular emphasis on Children’s Services, Social Care Health and
Housing and also Regeneration (Employment, Skills and Education).

Special Educational Needs (SEN) Transport
27.

The costs of transporting Children with SEN are amongst the highest in
the country. Central Bedfordshire does not have a disproportionately
high number of children with SEN relative to the population of CBC, but
the location of special schools and the geography of the area is a major
factor.

28.

Costs are being reduced through improving contractual arrangements
with transport providers, but to address this in the longer term will
require a more fundamental review of the location of our schools
aligned to the growth identified in the Local Plan and also the extent
and location of SEN provision (including special schools).

29.

The Council is also looking at methods of incentivising parents to make
alternative transport arrangements, for example, personal travel plans
and budgets.

An integrated Approach to Families requiring Council Support
30.

The Council is developing a pilot to look at families that require a lot of
Council (and partners’) support in order to see if a more integrated
approach to dealing with the issues that present themselves could
deliver better outcomes for those families, whilst reducing the need for
Council intervention.

Agenda Item 9
Page 38
This approach is still in the early planning phase and so the MTFP
does not reflect any additional efficiencies at this stage.
Digitisation
31.

Digitisation provides the Council with a number of opportunities to both
improve services though customer self service or process improvement
whilst reducing transactional costs.

32.

There are a number of system changes planned over the next two
years that will enable these opportunities. These include upgrading the
Council’s:






Finance/Procurement/Payroll from SAP to S4HANA – the next
generation of SAP.
Further roll out of Success Factors (the Council’s Employee Self
Serve system).
Replacing or upgrading the Council’s Adult Social Care system
(SWIFT).
Replacing Acolaid, the Council’s (Case Management) system.
Further rolling out STORM (the Council’s Call Management
system) to support channel shift.

33.

These system enhancements are, where necessary, funded within the
Capital Programme and will deliver significant efficiencies.

34.

The outcome of these areas of focus have been reflected in the budget
efficiencies shown at Appendix D(ii).

35.

As per last year, the Capital Programme was also included in the
Budget Strategy Review process, the two (i.e. revenue and capital
plans) being run concurrently. There was an increased focus on what
drives costs, and the degree to which these can be controlled or
mitigated, together with a rigorous approach to reviewing pressures &
efficiencies. Focus was on the major challenges and opportunities
facing the Council over the four years to 2021/22.

36.

The Capital Programme was also built up thematically. More detail is
contained in the draft Capital Programme, also on the same agenda,
but in summary, those themes are:






Replacing and renewing operational assets
Investing to save through managing demand or generating
income
Capturing the benefits of growth
Protecting and enhancing Central Bedfordshire
Responding to new opportunities

Agenda Item 9
Page 39
Budget Context
Political
37.

The MTFP has been updated against a background of significant
uncertainty. On the 23rd June 2016, the United Kingdom (UK) voted to
leave the European Union (EU). The required process to trigger the UK
leaving the EU (Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union) was
invoked in March 2017.

38.

The exit process is expected to last for up to two years although the
political and economic ramifications will probably be felt for many
years.

39.

The longer term implications of leaving the EU (risks and opportunities)
are uncertain at this time. The Council will need to keep a careful eye
on developments as the process evolves.

Autumn Budget 2017
40.

On 22 November 2017 the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Philip
Hammond MP, announced the Autumn Budget 2017. This was the first
Autumn budget.

41.

Although we await the Financial Settlement expected in mid December
2017, which will provide detail at an individual local authority levels, the
key issues that were covered in the Autumn Statement include;

42.

National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) – The 2016 Autumn
Statement established the National Productivity Investment Fund to
provide over £23bn of high-value investment between 2017-18 and
2021-22. The NPIF is to be invested in Digital Infrastructure, Full-fibre
broadband, 5G, Transport, Research and Development (R&D),
Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund, Talent Funding, and Global
Research Talent. The 2017 Spring Budget announced that the NPIF
included £690M of local transport funding.

43.

The 2017 Autumn Budget announced the expansion of the NPIF to
support innovation, upgrade the UK’s infrastructure and to underpin the
government’s modern Industrial Strategy. The NPIF will last an
additional year and total over £31bn. Plans to boost productivity were
announced including: a new transforming cities fund (£1.7bn), R&D
support (£2.3bn), unlocking over £20bn of capital, developing
standards and ethics for the use of data and Artificial Intelligence,
creating advanced regulatory framework for driverless cars and
partnering with industry and trade unions to deliver a National
Retraining Scheme as well as encouraging the study of STEM subjects
(Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics).

Agenda Item 9
Page 40
Table 1
NPIF Forecasts
Accelerated Construction
Affordable Housing
Housing Infrastructure Fund
Small sites infrastructure and
remediation
Land Assembly Fund
Roads and local transport
Next generation vehicles
Digital railway enhancements
Cambridge - Milton Keynes Oxford corridor
Transforming Cities Fund
Tyne & Wear Metro
Fibre and 5G investment
Research and Development
funding
Total

2017-18
£90m
£495m
£60m
£0m

2018-19
£230m
£605m
£300m
£275m

2019-20
£170m
£1215m
£1.160bn
£355m

2020-21
£200m
£610m
£2.135bn
£120m

£0m
£365m
£75m
£30m
£5m

£0m
£360m
£145m
£55m
£135m

£220m
£290m
£155m
£165m
£0m

£355m
£415m
£115m
£285m
£0m

£0m
£0m
£25m
£425m

£140m
£0m
£150m
£820m

£355m
£25m
£275m
£1.5bn

£485m
£35m
£290m
£2bn

£1.570bn

£3.215bn

£5.885bn

£7.045bn

44.

Public Sector Pay – In September 2017 the Government announced its
intention to move away from the 1% basic public sector pay award
policy. In December, councils were advised that the pay offer for
2018/19 and 2019/20 would broadly be a 2% increase (slightly different
approaches for different pay scale spinal points but averaging 2%).
This has been reflected in the MTFP as an additional pressure of £1M
but as yet the pay offer has still to be accepted. No funding from
Government has yet been announced to cover this additional burden.

45.

National Living Wage and National Minimum Wage – NLW will rise by
4.4% from £7.50 per hour to £7.83 from April 2018. The National
Minimum Wage rates will be increased to £7.38 for 21-24 year olds,
£5.90 for 18 to 20 year olds, £4.20 for 16-17 year olds and £3.70 for
apprentices, an increase of 4.7%, 5.4%, 3.7% and 5.7% respectively.

46.

Uprating of Business Rates – The business rates multiplier (the tax
rate) is increased each April in line with inflation. The figure used is the
Retail Price Index (RPI) from the preceding September. Plans,
originally announced in Budget 2016, were confirmed to switch in April
2018 to CPI rather than RPI. Local government will be fully
compensated for the loss of income as a result of these measures.

47.

Changes to the Revaluation Process – Following the next revaluation
process (currently due in 2022), revaluations will take place every three
years (currently every five years). This follows a consultation
announced at the 2017 Spring Budget.

Agenda Item 9
Page 41
To enable this, ratepayers will be required to provide regular
information to the VOA (in full) on who is responsible for business rates
and property characteristics including use and rent. The government
will consult on the implementation of these changes in the spring. Local
government will be fully compensated for the loss of income as a result
of these measures.
48.

Housing Revenue Account borrowing caps - The Government will lift
caps for councils in areas of high affordability pressure, so they can
build more council homes. Local authorities will be invited to bid for
increases in their caps from 2019-20, up to a total of £1bn by the end
of 2021-22. The Government will monitor how authorities respond to
this opportunity, and consider whether any further action is needed.

49.

No detail on what constitutes high affordability has been provided as
yet.

Social
50.

There are significant social and economic drivers of change within
Central Bedfordshire across the medium term and beyond, particularly:


Central Bedfordshire’s population has increased at a faster rate
than nationally at 19.4% since the 2001 census and a further 7.2%
increase is forecast between 2016 and 2021.



The rate of population growth is expected to be much higher for
older people, with an expected growth rate of 13% for those aged
65-85 and 22% for those aged 85+ between 2016 and 2021.



Schools moving to Academy status and out of local authority
control. We expect to maintain a mixed economy of maintained
schools, academies and free schools.



Additionally, technological change is having a profound impact on
the delivery of, and public access to, services; this is reflected in
use of the internet and social media. This is also reflected in our
Digitisation efficiencies.

Budget Objectives
51.

The principal objectives of the 2018/19 Budget have been:


To produce a sustainable plan which allows Council priorities to be
delivered;



Realistic spending year on year not dependent on reserves in the
long term;

Agenda Item 9
Page 42


Reserves maintained at, or above, an agreed minimum prudent
level which reflects the risks faced by the Council;



Cuts to front line services to be avoided; and commitment to
efficiency as a means of delivering savings.

Economic Outlook
Consumer Price Index (CPI) Inflation
52.

The November 2017 Quarterly Inflation Report issued by the Bank of
England advised that CPI inflation is currently at 3.1%.

53.

The Bank does not expect inflation to return to its 2% target until 2021.

54.

Others see a different picture. The National Institute for Economic and
Social Research said it expected CPI inflation to peak at 3.2% in Q4
2017 before easing back to 2% in the second half of 2019.

Economic Growth and Unemployment
55.

The Bank’s prediction for economic growth as measured by Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) in 2018 is 1.75% compared to 0.4% in Q3
2017 (note the Autumn Budget cites growth of 1.4% for 2018 and 1.3%
for 2019).

56.

Unemployment is expected to remain low and is currently at 4.3%
nationally (June to August 2017 figures).

Interest Rate Implications.
57.

The Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee voted by 7-2 on the
1st November 2017 to increase base interest rates from 0.25% to 0.5%
but advised that any future increases in interest rates would be at a
gradual pace and to a limited extent.

58.

The Council’s treasury management advisers, Arlingclose Ltd, also
expects interest rates to remain low for the foreseeable future.

59.

Since inception, the Council, (excluding HRA refinancing) has
borrowed internally from its own cash balances to fund the Capital
Programme, as opposed to taking on debt from the Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB), a Central Government lending facility, or financial
markets. Cash balances derive from the Council’s reserves, grants
received in advance and amounts due to creditors. As at 31st March
2017, the Council had borrowed £159.3M from its own balances to
fund capital expenditure. Where required by the actual cash flow
position, the Council obtains short term borrowing from other public
authorities.

Agenda Item 9
Page 43
60.

Revenue implications of the Capital Programme have been calculated
on the assumption that any borrowing, required by actual cash flows,
will be obtained on a short term basis taking advantage of current low
interest rates. Council borrowing has traditionally been obtained from
the PWLB for longer periods. However in the current market, public
authorities are lending to each other at rates below the PWLB rate for
short term periods and the inclusion of these rates coupled with revised
assumptions in respect of future increases in UK base rates has
lowered the projected revenue implications of the Capital Programme
over the previous MTFP 2017/18 to 2020/21 period.

61.

The rate of interest assumed is important in determining the revenue
implications of borrowing arising from the Capital Programme.
Importantly, the assumed borrowing costs over the period of the MTFP
are particularly sensitive to any unexpected increases in interest rates.
Table 2 below demonstrates the impact on the MTFP of interest rates
above those assumed in the Plan.

62.

Table 2 – 2018/19 to 2021/22 additional costs over the MTFP
period of an unexpected increase in the Interest

1% point higher
2% points higher

2018/19
£’000
940
1,880

2019/20
£’000
1,520
3,040

2020/21
£’000
1,580
3,160

2021/22
£’000
1,710
3,420

63.

There is a risk that interest rates may be higher than current rates
when it comes to refinancing debt taken out on a short term basis. This
would lead to higher revenue implications arising from the draft Capital
Programme over the longer term within and beyond the current MTFP
period. Conversely, higher interest rates might reduce the Council’s net
pension liability which would be reflected in the triennial assessment of
employer’s contributions by the Local Government Pension Scheme
Fund Actuary.

64.

The Council’s treasury management advisers, Arlingclose Ltd, do not
expect the Bank of England to raise its Base Rate from its current level
of 0.50% over the next three years.

65.

The Council’s MTFP assumes variable interest rate forecasts as
follows in table 3:
Table 3
Rate %

66.

2018/19
0.75%

2019/20
0.75%

2020/21
0.75%

2021/22
0.88%

This forecast includes a 0.25% prudent allowance for uncertainty
above the assumptions provided by Arlingclose Ltd.

Agenda Item 9
Page 44
67.

The Council reviews and approves annually its Treasury
Management Strategy and monitors financial markets on an on-going
basis. It is possible that, based on market conditions, the Council may
choose to borrow at a fixed rate of interest to reduce exposure to
variable debt. However, medium term fixed interest rates are higher
than variable rates and any decision to fix debt in the short term
would adversely impact revenue implications within the MTFP.

Budget 2017/18 Consultation
68.

The Council has a responsibility to consult with residents and
businesses on its draft Budget.

69.

Each year the Council conducts a consultation on the budget
proposals, in advance of decision making in February.

70.

This consultation is planned to launch in early January 2018 and will
comprise online and paper questionnaires, promoted to residents
through a mixture of social and conventional media initiatives. Key
stakeholder groups will also be targeted for promotion, including Town
and Parish Councils, the Council’s Equality Forum, Youth Parliament,
the business community and Older Person’s Forum.

71.

Following the conclusion of the budget process for 2018/19,
communication about the final decisions and implications for residents
will take place through a range of communications, including a
household leaflet that will be delivered with the Council Tax notices in
Spring 2018.

72.

The planned consultation process and timelines are as follows:

73.

Budget Consultation:


Consultation will take place during January 2018 .



Feedback will be invited via an online survey, hard copies of which
will also be made available in service outlets and promoted through
a range of media outlets and channels.

74.

Full results will be presented to 6 February 2018 Executive.

75.

A plan for consultation with businesses has also been drawn up which
includes;


Email bulletins on the Budget Consultation via our ‘Lets Talk
Business’ e-newsletter (a ‘Coming Soon’ email in December,
followed by a ‘Consultation now live’ in January).



Details of the consultation posted on the CBC Business Support
webpages.

Agenda Item 9
Page 45

76.



An article on the budget consultation included in the local B2B
newsletter (bimonthly).



Promotion through the local Federation of Small Business and
Chamber of Commerce.

Depending on the nature of the budget proposals, further and more
targeted consultation may be required with groups (residents or
businesses) directly affected by any anticipated changes.

Budget Assumptions
77.

The MTFP has been prepared taking account of various scenarios with
input from the Local Government Association model and also a model
provided by LG Futures. However, the proposed MTFP does not yet
reflect the detailed Financial Settlement due to be announced in mid
December 2017.

2017/18 Forecast Outturn
78.

Based on the current forecast, this draft Budget assumes 2017/18
outturn will be on budget.

Funding
79.

80.

Revenue Support Grant (RSG)


The 2015 Financial Settlement made an offer to Councils to seek
agreement to a Certainty Deal that effectively fixed RSG for the
then current MTFP period. CBC’s application was accepted and
the current assumption is that the Financial Settlement will continue
to confirm the levels of RSG announced last year.



This is expected to be £4.7M in 2018/19 a reduction of £3.6M on
2017/18 and zero thereafter.



The national proposals concerning 100% retention of business
rates are still uncertain but the assumption was that the removal of
RSG would be compensated by local retention of Business Rates.
What additional responsibilities may be allocated to councils is still
not yet clear.

Council Tax


During the 2015 Financial Settlement, DCLG radically changed
the way in which councils are funded by introducing a
Comparative Spending Power approach.

Agenda Item 9
Page 46

81.



Fundamental to the calculations that see a significant reduction in
RSG and its subsequent removal, is the expectation that councils
will increase the Council Tax charge by 1.75% (based on OBR
forecast for CPI at that time) per year on average over the life of
the MTFP, and also increase by 2.0% to provide funding for Adult
Social Care.



The 2017 Financial Settlement also gave local authorities the
option to raise a 6% precept over three years (2017/18 – 2019/20)
which could be phased as either 2% each year or 3% for two years.
CBC chose to increase the precept by 3% in 2017/18 and 2018/19.



The Council Tax base for 2017/18 has grown by 1.88% as a
result of housing growth within Central Bedfordshire and also a
reduction in the number of claimants of Local Council Tax
Support (LCTS).



For future years, there is an assumption that the tax base will
continue to increase by 1.75% per annum as a result of housing
growth and also an increase of 0.1% per annum as a result of
fewer people claiming LCTS and therefore that they are due to
pay the full rate of Council Tax. The combined assumption is a
continuation of a 1.85% tax base increase per annum.



Therefore over the MTFP period Council Tax funding is forecast
to rise from £148.6M in 2018/19 to £163.1M in 2021/22.



The Autumn Budget also announced that in order to “encourage
better use of the existing housing stock”, legislation will be
brought forward to give councils the power to charge a 100%
premium on Council Tax for empty properties (a charge of two
times the applicable rate).



Central Bedfordshire will look to implement this as soon as the
legislation will allow. This is currently expected to impact from
April 2019.

Retained Business Rates


Business Rates growth has been forecast as a result of new
businesses being attracted into the Central Bedfordshire area.
Additional business rates income of: £1.8M in 2018/19, £4.1M in
2019/20, £3.4M in 2020/21 and £2.9M in 2021/22 has been
included in the MTFP.



The Business Rates figure in 2018/19 is reduced as a result of a
Collection Fund deficit (£0.944M), which because it is one off,
reverses in 2019/20 increasing that year’s income from business
rates. Thereafter, the Collection Fund impact is assumed as zero.

Agenda Item 9
Page 47


The Council receives a Section 31 Grant each year as
compensation for the Government decision to cap NNDR
increases at 2% rather than the full RPI increase due, amongst
other factors. This mitigates the deficit referred to above.



The draft Budget includes the following amounts of Section 31
Grant: £1.7M in 2018/19, £2.3M in 2019/20 and £2.5M
thereafter.

Business Rates Review/Fairer Funding
82.

The Business Rates Retention scheme was introduced in 2013/14.
Current forecasts for this suggest that Central Bedfordshire will exceed
the “Baseline Funding Level” set by Government for the year 2017/18
and hence be able to retain a small element of growth. However, given
the uncertain nature of this income, including potential appeals and bad
debts, only specific known growth of income has been forecast for
2018/19. For the remaining three years an element of growth has been
added, based on modelling work of future developments.

83.

As mentioned previously, the 2015 Autumn Statement announced that
a review of the structure of business rates will be carried out by the
Government. The review will be fiscally neutral and consistent with the
Government’s agreed financing of local authorities at national level.
The timing of the introduction of changes resulting from this review and
the detail of how it will work is still not known as yet, but is likely to be
at the end of this MTFP period, c.2020/21.

84.

The Fair Funding Review will set new funding baselines for every
authority alongside the introduction of 100% business rate retention in
2019-20. It will not consider the overall quantum of funding available for
local government which is a matter for the Spending Review. With the
introduction of 100% business rates retention there will be an
estimated £25 billion of business rates available to the sector in 201920.

85.

The Review will design a needs assessment methodology in support of
these wider reforms, replacing the current approach which was
designed over 10 years ago and has not been updated since 2013.
Since then there has been demographic and other changes. The
Review will consider how the relative needs and resources of local
authorities should be assessed in a world where local government
spending is driven by local resources, not central grant, looking again
at the factors that drive costs.

86.

The Review will produce solutions that are sustainable for the duration
of a reset period (“future-proofed”) for every council. It will also define
appropriate transitional arrangements. It will focus initially on the
services currently funded through the Financial Settlement, considering
grants such as the Public Health Grant on a case-by-case basis.

Agenda Item 9
Page 48

2017 Business Rates Revaluation
87.

In October 2014 the Government introduced a new Growth and
Infrastructure Bill into the House of Commons which included
measures to postpone the next business rates revaluation in England
from 2015 to 2017.

88.

The Revaluation which came into effect for the financial year 2017/18
is expected to be fiscally neutral as DCLG will use the Tariff/Top Up
system to equalise any impact on a national basis.

New Homes Bonus (NHB)
89.

There is still uncertainty about the future of the NHB scheme.


Last year DCLG consulted on a number of proposed changes to
the way in which NHB is administered and awarded. The
outcome of this consultation was that the current six year
payment mechanism would reduce to five years for 2017/18 and
then to four years thereafter.



In addition there were other changes including the introduction of
a 0.4% housing growth threshold to exclude organic growth from
the calculation in order to only reward those Councils that
pursued a growth agenda.



Previously the MTFP has assumed NHB at the 2014/15 level of
£6.9M and any growth above this baseline since then has been
held in an Earmarked Reserve (EMR) to be used to fund
infrastructure costs incurred as a result of growth, or to generate
income streams (access to the reserve is subject to an approved
business case where appropriate).



NHB is not new or additional funding. The removal of RSG for
CBC was based on DCLG’s approach to funding councils using a
method called Comparative Spending Power (basically the ability
of a council to raise funding locally). This approach included NHB
in the calculation, so in effect, contributed to the loss of RSG.



In anticipation of further changes to NHB funding, the revised
MTFP assumes NHB at £6.9M for 2018/19, £6.15M in 2019/20,
£3.85M in 2020/21 and then zero from 2021/22.



Any NHB actually earned during the life of the MTFP above the
current baseline of £6.9M will still go to the NHB EMR.



The NHB reserve will be used to help fund the Integrated Health
& Care Hubs contained in the Capital Programme.

Agenda Item 9
Page 49
Expenditure
90.

Economic


For 2018/19, non pay inflation is allocated to Directorates on a
contract by contract basis. For the following three years this is
then increased in line with the latest Office of Budget
Responsibility inflation projections (3.1% in both 2019/20 and
2020/21 and 3.2% 2021/22).



Pay is assumed at 2.0% for 2018/19 (£1.9M) and 2019/20 and
1.0% thereafter.



The additional impact of the National Living Wage (NLW) for
Council employees is £110K in 2018/19, £130K in 2019/20, £57K
in 2020/21 and £53K in 2021/22.

Table 4 – Impact on Pay

91.

92.

Financial


General Fund Reserves remain at the 2017/18 level of £15.6M.



A detailed analysis of reserves is at Appendix G.



A number of earmarked reserves are used to support the early
years in particular of the MTFP. All use of reserves have been
reversed back out over the life of the Plan. Their use is in
recognition of the lead in time for some efficiencies. However, it is
not sustainable to rely on reserves as a source of longer term
funding, hence the Plan reverses these over the medium term.
See Table 2 in Appendix G for details.

Contingency


The contingency within the budget for 2018/19 is £2.6M. A
contingency at this level is considered appropriate taking into
account risk, the level of savings proposed and difficulties in
achieving targets (some of which involve significant organisational
change) – including uncertainties over future funding.

Agenda Item 9
Page 50
Holding a contingency within the approved budget provides in-year
flexibility to respond to any unanticipated developments. It must
also be assessed alongside the level of General Fund reserves.
Better Care Fund (BCF) and Improved Better care Fund (iBCF)
93.

The 2016 Financial Settlement confirmed the continuation of the Better
Care Fund (BCF) and an increase in funding for adult social care (paid
for by a reduction to NHB) through the iBCF worth £1.5Bn by 2019/20.

94.

The Government has proposed to distribute this funding so that the
grant acts as a method of equalising the relative needs for social care
services and the maximum possible impact of the social care council
tax precept. This would lead to some social care councils receiving no
additional BCF money. For Central Bedfordshire that additional funding
totals £0.618M in 2018/19.

95.

The introduction of the BCF has marked an important change in how
care and health interact within a place. The fact that the nationally
mandated £3.8Bn BCF in 2015/16 was increased by an additional
£1.5Bn (iBCF) from local care and health budgets demonstrates that
local areas are ambitious about integration.

Education Services Grant (ESG)
96.

In the November 2015 spending review, the Government announced
that although the core school budget would be protected in real terms
and that per pupil funding levels/ pupil premium would be protected in
cash terms, further savings of £600M nationally would be made from
the Education Services Grant (ESG). The impact for this Council was a
loss of £1.5M. As a result, a pressure of £0.875M was reflected in the
2017/18 MTFP, with a flow through pressure of £0.625M in 2018/19 to
reflect the full year loss of funding (the grant covered the academic
year rather than fiscal year).

Public Health
97.

Spending plans for 2018/19 to 2021/22 have had to be reduced in
order to operate within the limit of the revised Public Health Grant.

98.

The amount of grant assumed for 2018/19 is £12.264M, a 2.6%
reduction on 2017/18.

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
99.

The key elements of the draft MTFP for 2018/19 to 2021/22 are shown
at Appendix B. Table 5 shows a summary of this plan. Note both the
table and the appendix predates the Provisional Local Government
Financial Settlement.

Agenda Item 9
Page 51
Table 5 Medium Term Financial Plan

Medium Term Financial Plan

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£m

£m

£m

£m

Funding
Revenue Support Grant

4.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

Retained Business Rates

36.1

40.6

43.5

50.2

148.6

151.3

157.1

163.1

0

(1.5)

(1.9)

(0.6)

Transitional Funding

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Renewable Energy NNDR

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

189.8

190.8

199.1

213.1

199.3

Council Tax
Use of / Contribution to Reserves

Total Funding
Revenue Budget
Opening Base Net Revenue Budget

189.6

189.8

190.6

Inflation

3.9

4.0

3.0

3.1

Pressures

10.1

11.1

17.3

19.3

Revenue Budget before efficiencies

203.6

204.9

211.0

221.8

Efficiency Savings identified

(13.8)

(14.3)

(11.6)

(6.2)

0.0

0.0

0

(0.2)

189.8

190.6

199.3

215.3

0.0

(0.2)

0.2

2.2

Closure of prior year gap
Total Revenue Budget after efficiencies
Budget Gap/ (Surplus)

(Note – any minor rounding differences are due to linking to detailed
spreadsheets. For more detail see appendices).
100.

The MTFP above does not reflect the Provisional Local Government
Financial Settlement issued in December 2017 and so will be subject to
change in the Final Budget to be presented at 6 February 2018
Executive.

Funding Sources
101.

The Council’s funding from Government over the MTFP period
comprises three elements:




102.

Revenue Support Grant (RSG) – one year only,
Business Rates Retention Scheme and
Grants, including Ring Fenced Grants & New Homes
Bonus.

Figure 1 below shows how funding sources are forecast to change over
the MTFP period, with 2013/14 to 2017/18 as comparators.

Agenda Item 9
Page 52
Figure 1 – CBC Revenue budget Funding Sources Projection

103.

The above graph, which predates the Provisional Local Government
Financial Settlement due in mid December 2017 shows that over the
MTFP period:





The Council Tax element increases from approximately 76% of
total funding in 2018/19 to 77% by 2021/22.
Business Rates Retention increases from 18% in 2018/19 to 23%
in 2021/22.
New Homes Bonus reduces from 4% in 2018/19 to zero by
2021/22.
Revenue Support Grant decreases from 3% in 2018/19 to zero in
2019/20.

Gross Budget Income Sources
104.

Figure 2 below shows the 2018/19 Gross revenue budget income
sources (note this is mainly grant income and does not include RSG,
Council Tax etc.)
Figure 2 – Estimated 2018/19 Gross budget income sources

Agenda Item 9
Page 53

Fees and Charges
105.

For the majority of services there will be a 2.9% increase for 2018 in
line with the RPI for September 2017. Fees & Charges for 2018 were
subject to a separate report which was approved by Council in
November 2017.

106.

New prices for Social Care Health & Housing are due to be taken to
Council in February 2018, as changes take effect from April 2018 in
line with benefit changes.

Grants
107.

A detailed analysis of grant income will be provided as an appendix to
the final budget report due to Council in February 2018.

Expenditure Budget Detail
108.

Figure 3 below reflects the change in Council’s cost base (this predates
the Provisional Local Government Financial Settlement .
Figure 3 Summary of changes to Central Bedfordshire Council’s
Net Expenditure Budget 2017/18 to 2018/19.

(Notes – Any minor rounding differences are due to linking to detailed
spreadsheets. The proposed base budget for 2018/19 as shown above
assumes that the gap shown in Table 3 is closed)

Agenda Item 9
Page 54
109.

The information in figure 3, above, is broken down by Directorate in
Table 6 below.

Table 6 2018/19 Net Expenditure Budget breakdown by Directorate
Efficiencies

110.

All of the £45.9M of allocated efficiencies during the period of the
MTFP have been identified and are shown at Appendices D(i) and
D(ii). A summary of these is shown below in Table 7 and Table 8.

111.

Paragraph 23 highlighted the key themes identified within the budget
strategy. The themes encapsulate the Council’s approach to delivering
efficiencies whilst maintaining the outcomes from services delivered.
Table 7 below groups the efficiencies by these themes.
Table 7 Medium Term Financial Plan Efficiencies by Category

112.

Table 8 below shows the breakdown of allocated efficiencies by
Directorate.

Agenda Item 9
Page 55
Table 8 Efficiencies by Directorate 2018/19 to 2021/22

(Note – Any minor rounding differences are due to linking to detailed
spreadsheets. For more detail see the Pressures and Efficiencies
appendices).
Pressures
113.

A full breakdown of cost pressures is provided at Appendix C (ii), with
the major items relating to:








Increased demand for care services from an ageing population
£8.1M;
Reduced reliance on NHB £6.9M;
Increased demand for adult disability services £7.6M;
Impact of legislative changes £4.6M;
Potential impact of funding changes £4.3M;
Financing costs of the Capital Programme £3.5M;
Impact of the changes to Council responsibilities as part of 100%
Retained NNDR £1.6M.

Table 9 Pressures by Directorate 2018/19 to 2021/22

Agenda Item 9
Page 56
(Note – Any minor rounding differences are due to linking to detailed
spreadsheets. For more detail see the Pressures and Efficiencies
appendices).
Reserves
114.

One of the key budget objectives is to maintain General Fund reserves
to at least a risk assessed prudent minimum level. The anticipated
outturn for 2017/18 indicates a General Fund reserve position of
£15.6M and so the previously identified minimum prudent level of
£11.2M has been achieved. Reserve levels need to take account of
the continued reductions in funding levels and significant future
pressures across all forms of social care services in particular.

115.

The reserves policy will be updated to ensure it accounts for these risk
factors and will be presented with the final Budget report. The draft
budget also includes a contingency element of £2.6M.

116.

The assessment of the appropriate level of reserves is continually kept
under review. See Appendix G.

Risk Management
117.

All budget proposals incorporate a degree of risk. Whilst the Council
has a good track record of delivering the required budget savings to
date, the following are highlighted as key risks within the proposals:


Demand: The wider impact of the current economic climate on
local residents is placing further demands on the Council's
services, at a time when the Council needs to reduce spending
due to constraints on public expenditure.



Reputation: If stakeholder engagement is not managed
effectively, the need for the Council to take difficult decisions in
response to the contraction of public expenditure will not be
understood.



Delivery: The delivery of the agreed savings proposals, including
those which cut across more than one Directorate will need to be
effectively managed to ensure they are realised in practice. Many
require major organisational change programmes.



Increases in the number of children and older people in care.



Ability to achieve £13.8M savings in 2018/19 and £45.9M in total
over plan period.



Ability to collect the budgeted levels of Council Tax and Business
Rates.

Agenda Item 9
Page 57


Impact of Universal Credit.



Inflationary pressures greater than assumed.



Impact of economic volatility due to Brexit and other global
developments.



Changes to interest rates.



Financial stability of the Health system.



School conversions to Academies reducing Business rates.



Risk of school deficits and redundancy costs falling to the
Council.



Uncertainty around the continuation of New Homes Bonus.



Uncertainty over new responsibilities to be transferred to Local
Government.



Government announced changes to the National Living Wage
commencing from April 2016. This will have significant
implications for local authority costs and in particular, the care
market. The Council has included estimated cost pressures in all
years of the MTFP.

2018/19 Capital Programme
118.

The draft Capital Programme is not included within this draft Budget
report as it is subject to a separate report to Executive on this Agenda.
However by way of context, the key figures within the draft Capital
Programme Report 2018/19 are reflected below.
Table 10 2018/19 Capital Programme Budget (Excluding HRA)

Agenda Item 9
Page 58
Table 11 2018/19 Capital Programme Funding (Excluding HRA)

Table 12 2018/19 Capital Programme Revenue Implications
(Excluding HRA)

119.

Table 13 below shows the change in draft Capital Programme
Revenue implications.
Table 13 Capital Programme Revenue Implications (Excluding
HRA)

Note: the opening position for 2018/19 is the 2017/18 Budget.
120.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is the minimum amount which
must be charged to the revenue account each year and set aside as
provision for repaying the principal element of external loans and
meeting other credit liabilities. Interest is the estimated cost of
borrowing to fund the Capital Programme.

Agenda Item 9
Page 59
The reduction in MRP is as a result of a change of methodology agreed
by Council in February 2017. This changed the phasing of the payment
of MRP from a fixed rate method to an annuity method and so better
reflects the value of money over time.
Timetable Milestones
121.

The key milestones in the timetable for Council to agree its budget in
February 2018 are set out in Table 14 below:

Table 14 Timetable Milestones
Date
Early January 2018

Body
Public

Outcome
Budget papers made available
to Public and Public
Consultation commences

9th January 2018

Executive

Considers Draft Budget

25th January 2018

Corporate Resources
Overview & Scrutiny

Consideration of efficiencies
and savings and draft budget
proposals

6th February 2018

Executive

Recommends Final Budget

22nd February 2018

Council

Approves Budget

1st March 2018

Council

Reserve Council Meeting in
case of delay in receiving
notification of other precepts.

Next Steps
122.

A period of public consultation will commence from early January 2018.

123.

The Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee will
consider the draft budget proposals at its January 2018 meeting and
comments will be included in the final Budget report to be presented to
Council at its February 2018 meeting.

Corporate Implications
Legal Implications
124.

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 stipulates that the Council
must set an amount of council tax payable for the financial year
2018/19 by 11 March 2018. Before calculating the level of council tax
payable, the Council must consult representatives of non-domestic
ratepayers in its area.

Agenda Item 9
Page 60

125.

The Council’s Constitution requires the Executive to publish a timetable
for making proposals to the Council in respect of the Budget. The
timetable was set out in the Budget Framework report to Executive on
the 2nd August 2017.

126.

There are statutory requirements in relation to consultation with users
of the services the Council provides, employees and employee
representatives. Where there are issues arising from budget proposals
which require such consultation, the Council complies with these
requirements.

127.

As a result of a legal challenge relating to West Berkshire Council, the
2017/18 MTFP contained a full list of the statutory duties relating to
specific budget proposals (Appendix F). Budget proposals in this
MTFP are similar in nature to those last year and so Members are
asked to remind themselves of those duties.

Risk
128.

Covered in paragraph 117.

Financial Implications
129.

The financial implications of the draft Budget 2018/19 and Medium
Term Financial Plan are set out in the report.

Equalities Implications
130.

Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation. As part of the budget strategy review process,
consideration has been given to the need to address a range of
challenges relating to homelessness, support for children and adults
with learning disabilities, school transport for children with special
educational needs and greater levels of integrated working with
families requiring council support.

131.

In terms of the specific efficiency proposals, Equality Impact
Assessments will be carried out where appropriate.

Agenda Item 9
Page 61

Appendices
Appendix A

Appendix B
Appendix C(i)
Appendix C(ii)
Appendix C (iii)
Appendix D (i)
Appendix D (ii)
Appendix D (iii)
Appendix E
Appendix F
Appendix F
Appendix G
Appendix H

Budget Consultation (not required with the draft budget,
but will accompany the final Budget Report in February
2018).
MTFP Four year Summary
Pressures Summary
Pressures by Directorate
Pressures by Category
Efficiencies Summary
Efficiencies by Directorate
Efficiencies by Category
2018/19 Budget Diagram
Statutory Requirements
Statutory Requirements (Addendum)
Reserves Policy
Directorate Priorities

Background Papers
(i)

Budget Strategy - Executive, August 2017

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Page 63
Appendix B Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Medium Term Financial Plan

2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

2020/21
£'000

2021/22
£'000

Funding
Revenue Support Grant (RSG)
Retained Business Rates
Council Tax
Use of / (Contribution) to reserves
Renewable Energy NNDR Income

4,683
36,105
148,569
408

0
40,599
151,262
(1,500)
421

0
43,502
157,057
(1,882)
434

0
50,225
163,073
(635)
448

Total Funding
Growth (%)

189,765

190,782
0.53%

199,111
4.18%

213,111
6.57%

379,662
3,917

379,846
3,997

380,671
3,038

389,409
3,141

10,084

11,097

17,324

19,290

(190,081)

(190,081)

(190,081)

(190,081)

Total Planned Spending before savings
Growth before Savings (%)

203,582

204,859

210,952

221,759

Efficiency Savings
Closure of Prior Year Gap
Total Planned spending after savings
Growth after Savings (%)

Planned Revenue Budget
Base Revenue Budget Expenditure
Net Inflation
Pressures
Base Income

Budget Gap / (Surplus)

0.62%

2.89%

4.87%

(13,817)
-

(14,269)
(0)

(11,624)
-

(6,229)
(217)

189,765

190,590
0.43%

199,328
4.38%

215,313
7.42%

0

(192)

217

2,202

Appendix B Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C(i) - Pressures Summary

Social Care Health & Housing
Children's Services
Community Services
Regeneration and Business Support
Public Health
Chief Executives Team
Resources
Sub-total
Corporate Costs
Total

2018/19
£'000s
6,832
2,199
2,405
50
583
436
12,505
(2,421)
10,084

2019/20
£'000s
5,009
(45)
1,145
62
15
6,186
4,911
11,097

2021/22
£'000s
5,560
(234)
(195)
938
50
6,119
13,171
19,290

Total
£'000s
22,584
1,696
3,020
50
1,652
651
29,653
28,142
57,795

Agenda Item 9

Page 65

Appendix C(i) Pressures Summary

2020/21
£'000s
5,183
(224)
(335)
69
150
4,843
12,481
17,324

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Page 67
Appendix C(ii) - Pressures by Directorate
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of pressure

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

383

62

69

938

Comments

As a result of a decision to extend commissioning a
Public Health

PH6

G

Movement in Public Health Grant

1,452 range of public health services to reduce demand

across the health and care system.

This is as a result of some residents continuing to
Public Health

PH7

G

Sexual Health Service

200

-

-

-

200 access services out of area which attract a higher

tariff.
Total Public Health

583

62

69

938

1,652

Children's
Services

CSP181901

A

School Improvement Team

321

-

(321)

-

-

Agreed priority to fund an School Improvement team. No
base budget currently to fund this.

Children's
Services

CSP181901

A

School Improvement Team

(321)

-

321

-

- Use of Reserve (Agreed at PFMT).

Children's
Services

CSP181902

G

In-house/Independent Fostering

913

(156)

(234)

(234)

Children's
Services

CSP181903

E

Practice Manager

81

-

(81)

-

-

Children's
Services

CSP181904

E

Supported Lodgings

109

(109)

(109)

-

(109)

Children's
Services

CSP181905

E

IRO

70

-

(70)

-

Children's
Services

CSP181906

G

Remand

145

-

-

-

145

No base budget for remand costs based on 60% 16/17 and
17/18 actual usage .

Children's
Services

CSP181907

G

Asylum over 18 yrs.

156

-

-

-

156

No base budget for over 18's Asylum grant not paid for first
25.

133

-

-

-

133 Shortfall on 17/18 adjustment due to vacant posts

68

-

-

-

68 Social workers moving from AYSE to perm SW post

34

-

-

-

34 unfunded salary increments

(235)

-

-

-

Based on actual known children April 18 reducing over the
289 MTFP and extended to 22/23 (reduction in IFA 4 19/20, 6
20/21 and 21/22 and 8 22/23 based on average cost).

This post is a key leadership post in the Corporate Parenting
Service, which requires improvement to be good in our 2017
Ofsted Inspection. We have delayed this planned efficency in
order to provide capacity to secure improvement to be good.

This previous efficency is reprofiled to secure sufficent time
to deliver our in-house supported lodging arrangements.

This previous efficency is reprofiled to match our current
- forecast of reduced LAC numbers which requires IRO
monitoring.

Superannuation
Children's
Services

CSP181908

G

Children's
Services

CSP181909

G

Children's
Services

CSP181910

G

MRS

Salary Increments

Children's
Services

G

New efficiency to offset pay pressure

(235) Shortfall on base salary

Previously never built into the MTFP - we have modelled this
against all demography which comes in at 10% equalling
£1.5m we have been asked to attempt to absorb half of this
leading to £750k demographic pressure.

Children's
Services

CSP181912

B

Demographic Growth

100

220

270

-

Children's
Services

CSP181913

G

Locality Working

100

(100)

-

-

5 locality shared family support workers to be based in
- schools. 5 x £30k = £150k, less £50k contribution expected
from Schools.

G

Locality Working (funded by Reserve)

(100)

100

-

-

-

D

ESG

625

-

-

-

2,199

(45)

(224)

(234)

Children's
Services

Children's
Services

CSP171806

Total Children's Services

590

This pressure related to the current uncertainty around the
625 future of ESG. We await central government's decision.
Worse case scenario would result in this budget pressure.

1,696

A small amount of residual waste will continue to be sent to
60 landfill, however this pressure has reduced due to new
residual waste treatment and disposal contracts.

Community
Services

SC1

B

WASTE - Landfill tax uplift

15

14

15

16

Community
Services

SC4

B

WASTE - Increase in waste collection
costs as a result of increase in housing
growth.

15

-

-

-

Community
Services

SC7

B

WASTE - Increase in waste disposal
costs due to housing growth

106

145

140

120

Community
Services

SC8

D

COMMUNITY SAFETY - Gypsy and
traveller resource

-

50

-

50

Community
Services

SC10

C

ASSETS - Mailroom budget pressure

(34)

-

-

(67)

-

Postage volumes and the
cost of postage have
increased beyond the
budget provision.

(33)

Appendix C(ii) Pressures by Directorate

15

Housing growth impacts on waste management costs - the
pressure reflects the expected number of new homes.

511 Figures based on housing completion numbers.

To cover cost of Gypsy & Traveller liaison officer - currently
funded from reserves.

Mitigating action required across the Council to reduce
pressure to zero over period of plan.

Agenda Item 9
Page 68
Directorate

Community
Services

Ref

SC18

Category

Detail of pressure

LEISURE - Technical costs of
Dunstable Leisure Centre

E

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(144)

-

-

-

(144)

Comments

Anticipated revenue cost of closing Dunstable Leisure Centre
for rebuild.

Community
Services

CS1718P002

E

ASSETS - Repairs and maintenance

(50)

-

-

-

Detailed review and consideration of the ability to further
control repairs and maintenance spend through various
means such as e, capturing some more significant planned
(50)
remedial works under CRP and generating and utilising data
more effectively through the development of the TF Cloud
Asset Management System.

Community
Services

CS1718P006

B

Transport - mainstream

146

146

58

-

350 Based on forecasted projected pupil numbers.

Community
Services

CS1718P007

F

Transport - SEN

-

91

39

-

130 Based on forecasted projected pupil numbers.

Community
Services

CS1819P001

G

PARKING - Parking Enforcement

91

-

-

-

91

Increase in NNDR for carparks together with new service
demands from new equipment.

Community
Services

CS1819P003

G

COMMUNITY SAFETY - Salaries

30

-

-

-

30

Overtime and enhancement payments for CCTV. Overtime
budget insufficient to cover costs.

Community
Services

CS1819P004

A

COMMUNITY SAFETY - G&T
Enforcement Officer

19

26

-

-

45 Post currently funded from reserve.

Community
Services

CS1819P008

G

EDUCATIONAL TRANSPORT

1,200

(500)

(350)

(350)

Community
Services

CS1819P008

G

EDUCATIONAL TRANSPORT

(1,200)

1,200

-

-

G

Educational Transport - accelerated
saving

(200)

-

100

100

-

110

Community
Services

-

Current pressure requires council wide strategic solutions to
be delivered.

- Use of EMR created in 2017/18.
The use of the reserve includes additional resource to
accelerate the mitigation of the pressure.

Community
Services

CS1819P009

C

LEISURE - Libraries income

80

30

-

-

Community
Services

CS1819P010

G

LEISURE - Houghton Hall Park
STAFFING

34

-

-

39

Community
Services

CS1819P011

C

WASTE - cost of treatment and
disposal of recycling

280

-

-

-

280

New contract will be a cost, reflects both this cost and loss of
income.

Community
Services

CS1819P012

G

WASTE- Underprovision of Indexation
in 17/18

195

-

-

-

195

Additional indexation required from 17/18 (1% and 2% given
in base budget, 3% required).

Community
Services

CS1819P013

G

HIGHWAYS - Tree work

-

55

55

Community
Services

CS1819P014

G

HIGHWAYS - emergency service

150

(50)

(50)

(50)

Community
Services

CS1819P014

G

HIGHWAYS - emergency service

(150)

150

-

-

- Use of EMR created in 2017/18

Community
Services

CS1819P015

G

HIGHWAYS- street lighting

150

(100)

(50)

-

-

Community
Services

CS1819P015

G

HIGHWAYS- street lighting

(150)

150

-

-

- Use of EMR created in 2017/18.

Community
Services

CS1819P016

A

HIGHWAYS / ENVIRONMENT:
Staffing

245

-

(50)

(50)

Community
Services

CS1819P016

A

HIGHWAYS / ENVIRONMENT:
Staffing

(245)

245

-

-

- Use of EMR created in 2017/18.

Community
Services

CS1819P017

G

ASSETS - continued occupation/delay
in disposal of Houghton Lodge.

134

(72)

(62)

-

Staging based on assumption vacation of HL in 2019, and
- disposal of site in 2020 therefore continued £52k rates and
£10k for issues on site/security response.

Community
Services

CS1819P018

E

ASSETS - continued use of Rufus
Centre

75

-

-

(75)

Community
Services

CS1819P019

G

ASSETS - FM increased occupancy at
Priory House (e.g. Mezzanine)

15

-

-

-

If the proposed mezzanine project goes ahead we will need
15 to increase operating cost of FM services e.g. cleaning and
waste.

Community
Services

CS1819P020

G

ASSETS - FM operating cost of The
Moorings

16

-

-

-

16

Community
Services

CS1819P021

G

ASSETS - FM operating cost of
Houghton Hall

42

-

-

-

42 New Asset - FM will require a budget to operate this building.

-

Appendix C(ii) Pressures by Directorate

Libraries income unachievable due to shift in behaviour;
online book renewal and no demand for audio visual rentals.

73 Net staffing cost after 63% claimed from HLF until 20/21.

110 revenue budget not reflected in change to new contract.

-

residual budget does not cover current emergency service
requirements; reduction capital dependant

Based on current levels; reduced capital spend means more
reactive work; reduction capital dependant

Increased capacity to deal with changed operating
145 environment together with digitisation efficiencies and shared
working.

-

assumes alternative accommodation in Council owned
building available.

Children's Services will be creating a locality hub, no current
budget within FM for supporting the building.

Agenda Item 9
Page 69
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of pressure

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

Community
Services

CS1819P022

G

ASSETS - FM operating cost of Thorn
Turn

57

-

-

-

New Asset - FM will require a budget to operate this building,
57 the estimate is covering Hard and Service provision and
rates.

Community
Services

CS1819P023

G

ASSETS - Revenue cost of Houghton
Lodge move.

10

-

-

-

10 Based on costs for Stephenson Court move.

Community
Services

CS1819P024

G

IT - Budget rebase: staff costs

350

-

-

-

Current establishment not fully funded but required if
350 council's digitalisation ambitions are to be realised, some
posts will change and some will move to Programme office.

Community
Services

CS1819P025

G

IT - Budget rebase: telephony

170

-

-

-

170

Community
Services

CS1819P026

G

IT - Budget rebase: Software costs, ongoing

300

-

-

-

300 Reflects current actual costs.

Community
Services

CS1819P027

G

IT - Budget rebase: Software costs,
double running

500

(400)

(100)

-

Community
Services

RG1819P002

G

IT - Without revenue to cover new
licenses full implementation of
replacement of new system will not be
possible. This revenue pressure sits
alongside request for additional
capital.

Community
Services

CS1819P028

G

IT - Budget rebase: Hardware costs

Total Community Services

Cost of current investment in telephony not reflected in the
ICT budget.

- Dual licencing costs during project implementation.

112

104

(130)

-

Revenue costs to cover licenses associated with introduction
of the new system.
86
Includes saving in 2020/21 from discontinuing the Acolaid
system - budget in IT .

40

-

-

-

40 Actual costs of ONI.

2,405

1,145

(335)

(195)

3,020

-

-

50

50

100

Resources

Rephasing of
previous Pressure

E

Revenues & Benefits

CRP-1617-01 Reduction
in Housing Benefit Admin
& Council Tax Support
grants to be rephased
over the next four years.

Resources

NEW

D

Revenues & Benefits

Credit Card Surcharges
not able to be charged
from 1/1/2018

16

-

-

-

Resources

NEW

B

Revenues & Benefits

Agency Base Budget
Build Exercise - Revs &
Bens

85

(85)

-

-

Resources

NEW

C

AD Finance- Insurance

Pressures against
Insurance Premiums and
associated costs

125

-

-

-

Resources

NEW

G

AD Finance- various

Workforce Base Budget
Build Exercise - AD
Finance

56

-

-

-

56

Resources

NEW

D

AD People

Corporate Apprenticeship
Manager post (funded
from reserves in 17/18)

36

-

-

-

Post was funded by reserve in 2017/18; needs to be included
36 in base budget from 2018/19. Apprenticeships Manager.
Provision for corporate apprentices costs.

Resources

NEW

A

AD People

Funding for
Apprenticeship
Programme

100

100

100

-

Resources

ICSP-1718-03

Insurance Premium Tax (As per
Autumn Statement)

Impact of increase from
9.5% to 10% in October
2016 and increase to 12%
in June 2017.

18

-

-

-

18

436

15

150

50

651

Increased demand on care packages
for Older People

More intensive support
packages needed,
unavoidable public
financial support where
residential care
customers' income falls
below the self funding
threshold

1,166

1,809

2,348

2,739

8,062

Increased demand on care packages
for People with a Learning Disability

Demand management
approach to young people
aged 14-17 to ensure
appropriate and cost
effective services are
identified to support them
(and their families) in
adulthood

1,962

1,976

1,833

1,814

Funding within Adult Social Care for eligible transitions
7,585 customers from Children's Services, mid life transitions
customers (ageing carers).

D

Total Resources

SCHH

SCHH

SCHH01

SCHH02

B

B

Appendix C(ii) Pressures by Directorate

Re-alignment and revision of previous MFTP pressure
against Housing Benefit and Council Tax admin grants.

16 Credit card surcharges increased.

- Based on 2 agency staff (revised from 4) 18/19 only.

Increase in insurance premiums as asset values rise. Also
125 lower buy back from schools as more convert to academy
status.

Realignment of base salary budgets. Mitigated by
efficiencies.

300 Apprentices. Provision for corporate apprentices costs

People living longer with more complex needs, 85+
population increasing by more than 4% year-on-year.

Agenda Item 9
Page 70
Directorate

SCHH

Ref

Category

SCHH03

D

SCHH

SCHH
SCHH04

Detail of pressure

Implications / Impact

Addresses risk around
market sustainability,
Increased cost of service delivery due recognises rising cost of
wages within the care
to legislative changes
sector and the need to
fund a "fair cost of care"

Increased demand due to
Homelessness

No impact as a variety of
cost effective solutions
have been implemented
to deliver more affordable
temporary
accommodation

Increased demand due to
Homelessness

No impact as a variety of
cost effective solutions
have been implemented
to deliver more affordable
temporary
accommodation

B

Comments

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

1,655

1,071

952

957

4,635

Funding to address the phased National Living Wage and its
impact on the cost of care delivered by the independent
sector. Also cover sleep-ins and Personal Assistant rates
paid through Direct Payments

550

275

300

300

1,425

Phased repayment of prior years' pressure funding increased
for temporary accommodation costs.

(72)

-

-

(72)

Phased repayment of prior years' pressure funding increased
for temporary accommodation costs.

SCHH

Homelessness

-

(100)

(100)

(100)

(300)

SCHH

Homelessness

-

-

(200)

(200)

(400)

448

-

-

-

448

206

-

-

-

206

No impact - correction to
the base budget

190

-

-

-

190 Prior years' unachieved cross-cutting efficiencies

No impact - reflects
reduced reliance on
agency staff

200

50

50

50

SCHH

SCHH05

E

17/18 overspend currently met from
reserves.

SCHH

SCHH06

G

Customer Services

SCHH

SCHH07

F

Non achievement of Cross Cutting
Procurement savings

SCHH

SCHH08

F

Comensura Rebate reduction

No impact, ensures
performance targets are
met in respect of
customer contacts

350

No impact - correction to
base budget
SCHH

G

SCHH09

Increased resources to support
Independent Living and homelessness
reduction.

Total Social Care, Health & Housing

Regeneration

RG1819P001

G

Without additional funding CBC will not
be able to fund it's contribution to
shaping and supporting the
development of the Central area and
broader Oxford to Cambridge work.
This new area of work has emerged as
an in year pressure in 17/18. - base
budget

Funding the Customer Services workforce to operate at the
required performance level

Reducing use of agency staff is leading to reduced rebate
income
Salary budget pressure for Homelessness Reduction, BCF
funded and Independent Living

455

-

-

-

455

6,832

5,009

5,183

5,560

22,584

50

-

-

-

Required to cover additional costs in shaping future subregional architecture to support housing growth, infrastructure
and economic investment. Includes £30k East of England
50
Heartlands membership and other on-going costs such as
contribution to pooled resource for staffing across all member
authorities.

Regeneration

RG1819P003

A

Without this additional resource it is
not possible for enforcement activity to
match the level of service sought by
members.

200

-

(200)

-

Member request to increase resources to support additional
enforcement activity.
This is to fund a more responsive enforcement service on a
wider range of enquiries and complaints within normal
- working hours.
The original objectives of this member request are not now
reflected in the revised pressure and will therefore require a
re-visit of the proposal to establish what can be delivered
within the revised pressure

Regeneration

RG1819P003

A

Without this additional resource it is
not possible for enforcement activity to
match the level of service sought by
members.

(200)

-

200

-

-

50

-

-

-

50

(4,509)

688

674

1,629

(1,518)

-

-

1,980

2,000

Total Regeneration

Use of Reserve (Agreed at PFMT) - Limited to £500K spread
over 2 years

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-01

G

Corporate Costs

Capital Financing Minimum Revenue
Provision

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-01

G

Corporate Costs

Capital Financing Minimum Revenue
Provision (Policy Change)

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-02

G

Corporate Costs

Capital Financing Interest Payable

186

460

34

323

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-04

D

Employer's Pension Contribution

Past Service Pension
Costs.

825

826

-

-

1,651 Employer's Pension Contribution.

D

Employer's Pension Contribution

Past Service Pension
Costs.

467

557

-

-

1,024 Employer's Pension Contribution.

Corporate Costs

Appendix C(ii) Pressures by Directorate

Figures reflect the revenue costs of the proposed Capital
Programme.

3,980 Reversal of the Policy change over the MTFP

1,003

Figures reflect the revenue costs of the proposed Capital
Programme.

Agenda Item 9
Page 71
Directorate

Ref

Corporate Costs

Category

Detail of pressure

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

-

560

-

560

110

130

57

53

350

1,500

3,000

-

5,000

(154)

23

(131)

1,000

3,277

4,277

500

1,016

1,516

G

Loan repayments £20M over 25 years

D

National Living Wage

Corporate Costs

G

Contingency

500

Corporate Costs

G

Contingency

-

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-07

Internal Staffing Impact

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-11

E

Potential impact of funding changes

-

-

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-12

E

Inflationary impact

-

750

2,300

3,850

6,900

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-13

E

Reduced reliance on New Homes
Bonus

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-14

E

Transfer of new responsibilities
funding

-

-

930

1,000

1,930

Corporate Costs

CCP- 1617-15

E

Revaluation 2017- potential shortfall in
provision for appeals

-

-

1,600

-

1,600

Total Corporate Costs

(2,421)

4,911

12,481

13,171

28,142

Overall Pressures - Total

10,084

11,097

17,324

19,290

57,795

Appendix C(ii) Pressures by Directorate

Comments

National policy change. This cost will eventually be allocated
across all appropriate Directorates.

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C (iii) - Pressures by Category
Category Summary
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

Social Care, Health and Housing
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

Children's Services
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

Community Services
Ref Category
Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
119
4,145
452
3,752
589
390
637
10,084

£'000s
371
4,328
(4)
2,584
641
141
3,036
11,097

£'000s
50
4,664
1,059
6,120
89
5,342
17,324

£'000s
(50)
4,689
1,010
9,118
50
4,473
19,290

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
3,678
1,655
448
390
661
6,832
-6354.5

£'000s
3,888
1,071
50
5,009
-2103

£'000s
4,181
952
50
5,183
-909

£'000s
4,553
957
50
5,560
-1143

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
100
625
260
1,214
2,199
-2774

£'000s
220
(109)
(156)
(45)
-1954

£'000s
270
(260)
(234)
(224)
-437

£'000s
(234)
(234)
-284

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
19
282
327
(119)
1,896
2,405

£'000s
271
305
(4)
91
482
1,145

£'000s
(50)
213
50
39
(587)
(335)

£'000s
(50)
136
(75)
(206)
(195)

Total
£'000s
16,300
4,635
448
540
661
22,584
-10510

Total
£'000s
590
625
(109)
590
1,696
-5449

Total
£'000s
190
936
323
50
(194)
130
1,585
3,020

Page 73

Appendix C (iii) Pressures by Category

Total
£'000s
490
17,826
448
8,405
16,468
670
13,488
57,795
(81,236)

Agenda Item 9

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

2018/19

Regeneration and Business Support
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

Public Health
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

Chief Executives Team
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

Resources
Ref Category
Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

-1237

-485

-40

-3776

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
50
50
-390

£'000s
130

£'000s
-85

£'000s
-0

Total
£'000s
50
50
-345

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
583
583

£'000s
62
62

£'000s
69
69

£'000s
938
938

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
-1734.4

£'000s
-492

£'000s
-200

£'000s
-150

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
100
85
125
70
56
436
-600

£'000s
100
(85)
15
-170

£'000s
100
50
150
-35

£'000s
50
50
0

Total
£'000s
-2576
Total
£'000s
300
125
70
100
56
651
-805

Page 74

Appendix C (iii) Pressures by Category

Total
£'000s
1,652
1,652

Agenda Item 9

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

-2014

Corporate Costs
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Growth Bids
Demographic Growth
Market Changes/Pressures
Legislative / Additional Responsibilites
Re-phased Existing Pressure
Unachievable efficiencies
New Pressures

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000s
1,402
(3,823)
(2,421)

£'000s
1,513
750
2,648
4,911

£'000s
57
6,330
6,094
12,481

£'000s
53
9,143
3,975
13,171

Agenda Item 9

Page 75

Appendix C (iii) Pressures by Category

Total
£'000s
3,025
16,223
8,894
28,142

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D(i) - Efficiencies Summary

Social Care Health & Housing
Children's Services
Community Services
Regeneration and Business Support
Public Health
Chief Executives Team
Resources
Sub-total
Corporate Costs
Total

2018/19
£'000s
(5,396)
(1,211)
(2,645)
(171)
(583)
(181)
(869)
(11,056)
(2,760)
(13,817)

2019/20
£'000s
(5,735)
(423)
(4,510)
(445)
(62)
(292)
(11,467)
(2,801)
(14,269)

2021/22
£'000s
(3,396)
(375)
(1,370)
(938)
(6,079)
(150)
(6,229)

Total
£'000s
(18,291)
(2,789)
(12,030)
(859)
(1,652)
(181)
(1,334)
(37,136)
(8,803)
(45,939)

Agenda Item 9

Page 77

Appendix D(i) Efficiencies Summary

2020/21
£'000s
(3,764)
(780)
(3,505)
(243)
(69)
(172)
(8,533)
(3,091)
(11,624)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Page 79
Appendix D (ii) - Efficiencies by Directorate
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of efficiency

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

Stopping Service Provision. Successful delivery
(65) of an enhanced school based PHSE programme
helps mitigates the change in the programme.

Public Health

PH13

C

Aspire Programme

Delay existing efficiency

-

-

-

(65)

Public Health

PH15

C

Adult Weight Management

Delay existing efficiency

-

-

-

(209)

(209)

Public Health

PH16/17

C

Health checks

Delay existing efficiency

116

-

-

(304)

(188) £116k a 2017/18 efficiency.

Public Health

PH20

A

Drugs & Alcohol

Delay existing efficiency

-

-

-

(360)

(360)

Public Health

PH11

A

Further re-alignment of
priorities

Economies of Scale

(160)

-

-

-

(160)

Public Health

PH12

A

Re-define stop smoking offer Using Digitalisation

-

(62)

-

-

Public Health

PH18

A

0-19

To be managed through
reprocurement

(396)

-

-

-

(396)

Public Health

PH21

A

Stop Smoking (Shared)

Low Impact on Service
Provision and using
digitalisation

(96)

-

-

-

(96)

Public Health

PH22

A

Stop Smoking (CBC)

Low Impact on Service
Provision and using
digitalisation

(47)

-

-

-

(47)

Public Health

PH23

A

Additional 5% on Sexual
Health

Reduced Access to
Services

-

-

(69)

-

(69)

(583)

(62)

(69)

(938)

(1,652)

Reduction to funding for the
Voluntary and Community
Services Infrastructure
Organisations.

Reduction in funding to
Infrastructure
organisations that
provide information,
advice and training
support to voluntary and
community
organisations.

(22)

(21)

-

-

(43)

Total Public Health

Children's
Services

CSE1609

B

Children's
Services

CSE1629

D

Restructure Court Teams

Moving from 3 court
teams to two.

Children's
Services

Commissioning
and Partnerships

A

Youth Support Service

Efficiencies in
buildings/property
budget

Children's
Services

Commissioning
and Partnerships

B

Partnerships and Community
Reduce VCS grant
Engagement

Stopping Service Provision. Successful delivery
of the excess weight partnership strategy and
healthy child programme will help mitigate
changes in service delivery.

Reduced Access to Services. Continued
delivery at current level until re-procurement.

(62) Equivalent to 10% on budget.

We will work with the sector to explore new ways
of working and support voluntary and community
organisations to access alternative sources of
funding.

This efficiency depends on a reduction in
children requiring statutory services and
therefore a reduction in court work, enabling us
(392)
to right size the team and ensure we have the
right team structure in place to move forwards
with less court work.

(392)

-

-

-

(15)

-

-

-

(15)

-

- £11k 20% reduction in funding to voluntary
sector representation
- £19k Reduce grants to Citizens' Advice (6%)
and
- £10k use of community engagement reserve ,
(57) we are working with Citizen's Advice to mitigate
this risk.
- £17k VCS infrastructure grants will be
removed. No external support to increase
volunteering, support communities doing more,
or manager community facilities.

(11)

-

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

(46)

The service will work with Assets to reduce the
running costs of the youth centres and work with
partners/community organisations as part of an
asset transfer strategy.

Agenda Item 9
Page 80
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of efficiency

Implications / Impact

Children's
Services

Operations /
Commissioning &
Partnerships

A

Staffing

There should be no
impact on service

Children's
Services

Commissioning
and Partnerships

D

Youth Support Services

Children's
Services

Innovation
Initiatives 2Income from
Assets

A

Children's
Services

Innovation
Initiatives 6Commissioning

Children's
Services

Children's
Services

Children's
Services

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

- £27k With the remodelling of senior
management it will be possible to reduce PA
support by one post.
- £27k Restructure Commissioning and
Performance
- £93k Remove a Head of Service, this depends
on our demand management strategy effectively
reduced the numbers of children in care.
- £120k As the service is redesigned the senior
management structure will need to align.
- £33k Youth worker post will be removed to
coincide with a new commissioning model for
(431)
targeted youth support. It is not anticipated to
have an adverse effect on the numbers of
children supported.
- £63k We have fewer AYSE's (Assisted Year in
Social Work Employment) now due to our
successful recruitment campaign so less support
from agency social workers is required. Agency
social workers cover 10% of each AYSE
caseload for the first 12 months
- £52k As numbers of LAC reduce there is less
demand for IRO time
- £16k Remove Participation Officer (p/t)CWD

(131)

(300)

-

-

There will be an
increased focus on Early
Intervention, delivered
by multi-agency teams

-

(20)

(59)

-

(79)

Developing a new model of targeted youth
support (including YOS) by working with key
stakeholders in localities on an evidence based
model of need.

Children's Home &
Assessment Centre

A business case is being
produced to explore the
implications

-

-

(300)

-

(300)

The concept of delivering an in house
assessment centre and Children's Home may
deliver efficiencies due to reducing the need for
more expensive external placements.

A

Domiciliary Care

We are exploring better
commissioning
arrangements for
domiciliary care in
partnership with Adult
Services

(80)

(82)

-

-

(162)

This may be an efficiency delivered through
more efficient commissioning.

CSE1511 /
CSE1629

F

Reprofile existing MTFP
Efficiency (Early Help and
Socuial Care Support)

-

-

(375)

(375)

CSE181902

D

Leaving Care

(245)

-

-

-

(245)

We have managed to reduce the use of
residential provision from 17 to 5. However if
(315) more complex children enter care and have to
go to residential this budget would be under
pressure.

CSE181903

A

Residential Placements

Total Children's Services
Community
Services

2018/19

SC251/SC254

E

LEISURE - New leisure
management contract North

Community
Services

SC374

E

LEISURE - New Leisure
managmement contract South

Community
Services

SC450

A

ASSETS - working smarter

Community
Services

SC457

E

Estates - Additional rental
income from Investment
portfolio

Community
Services

SC462

A

Assets - Staff costs

Community
Services

SC473

E

Develop additional off-street
car parking - based on
approx. 274 spaces

New lettings

Reprofile of existing efficiency. This reduction in
early help & social care support is achieveable
(750) only if there is full integration of wider council
services specifically health visiting, school
nursing & drug and alcohol services

(315)

-

-

-

(1,211)

(423)

(780)

(375)

(2,789)

(136)

(62)

-

-

(198)

Analysis will need to continue each year to
understand potential future growth in the number
of children leaving care who still need a service
which could put pressure on this budget.

Ongoing increases in income from North
Contract

Leisure south contract for The Grove Theatre,
Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre and the new
(400) Dunstable Leisure Centre. Reprofiles SC374 and
includes estimates for the three facilities with
DLC opening in Jan 2019.

150

74

(383)

(241)

-

(53)

-

-

(53)

(10)

(10)

-

-

Increased revenue generation from existing
(20) commercial estate through improvements to
stock leading to reduced voids.

(20)

-

-

-

(20)

-

-

(200)

-

(200)

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

58k based on 2018 forecast spend for
Biggleswade Area office.

Staffing efficiencies resulting from the
reorganisation of the Assets Team.

Parking studies suggest opportunities exist to
develop additional revenue streams from new
car parking provision in Leighton Buzzard and
Biggleswade. Capital dependant

Agenda Item 9
Page 81
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of efficiency

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

Community
Services

SC478

A

reduction in contributions by
leisure services

(8)

-

-

-

End of funding to FA partnership and reduction
(8) of contribution (in line with partners) of Team
Beds and Luton.

Community
Services

SC483

B

Countryside site savings

(6)

-

-

-

(6)

Community
Services

SC487

A

staffing changes - libraries

(85)

-

-

-

(85) Restructure of management.

Community
Services

SC491

A

More Efficient running of
services from business unit

(50)

-

-

-

(50)

Community
Services

SC492

B

Public Transport Savings
from Passenger Transport
Strategy

Routes may no longer
be commercial and Dial
a ride not funded

(520)

(100)

-

-

Dependant on adoption of Passenger Transport
(620) Strategy (some may need to be kept to support
Community Transport).

Community
Services

SC508

A

New waste collection and
street cleansing contract

2017/18 tender process

-

(300)

-

-

(300) Estimated saving from retender.

Community
Services

SC509

D

Demand Management

Research &
implementation post or
other investment

(50)

-

-

-

(50)

Ongoing impact of demand management in
waste.

Community
Services

SC514

A

savings from depot based
services

(80)

-

-

-

(80)

Saving in passenger transport operations
through standardised operating procedures.

(150)

(100)

-

-

(250)

Additional savings in addition to £150k already
budgeted but requires commitment from
Members to removal of transport when route is
available following assessment.

(30)

(180)

-

-

(210)

Impact of work following Transport Strategy on
Home to School Transport costs.

(66)

-

-

-

(66)

Maintenance cost savings following provision of
new Library in Dunstable.

Community
Services

SC517

B

EDUCATIONAL
TRANSPORT - walking
assessments policy reviews

The Passenger
Transport Strategy deals
with safe walking
assessments. The
methodology and
prioritisation has been
agreed by MRG
01/10/15
A new procurement
process will be put in
place to deliver
efficiencies for Home to
School Transport

Community
Services

SC518

A

Efficiencies from Special
Educational Needs (SEN)
Transport

Community
Services

SC519

A

Dunstable Library & Leisure
Centre

Community
Services

CS1718E002

E

ASSETS - income from new
commercial properties

Community
Services

CS1718E003

A

ASSETS - offsite printing

Community
Services

CS1718E004

A

ASSETS - Watling House
rental income or revenue
saving

Community
Services

CS1718E005

A

ASSETS - in-house web
casting

Community
Services

CS1718E007

A

ASSETS - Kingsland centre
running costs

Community
Services

CS1718E008

A

Community
Services

CS1718E009

Community
Services

£6k Swiss Garden as surrender of the lease,
£15k net reduction on other sites.

Part of saving dependant on implementation of
new IT system.

Income from new commercial property assumes development of remaining plot at
(160) Stratton Phase 5 by CBC for revenue generation
rather than sale. Capital for the development will
need to be included in the capital MTFP.

-

(60)

(100)

-

(70)

(10)

(10)

-

(90)

-

(200)

(200)

-

(400)

(25)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(157)

(157)

ASSETS - closure of
Heathfield

(40)

-

-

-

(40)

A

ASSETS - retender of all FM
contracts

(71)

(55)

-

-

(126) Retender of contracts to generate efficiencies.

CS1718E010

A

ASSETS - new operating
model & full review of service

(100)

-

-

-

(100) To be confirmed.

Community
Services

CS1718E011

A

ASSETS - corporate landlord

-

(60)

-

-

Community
Services

CS1718E020

E

HIGHWAYS CONTRACTS adoption of ADEPT for
commuted sums

(100)

(100)

-

-

Based on P12 budget
forecast.

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

Savings to be achieved through the move to
offsite printing in conjunction with working with
service areas to facilitate a year on year
reduction in demand and costs.
Revenue generation achieved from Watling
House through the leasing of excess office
space or reduced maintenance costs if site
released.

Saving generated through the use of in-house
support to web cast meetings rather than using
(25) an external supplier. This meets statutory
requirement and will be phased in as the current
contract expires.
Saving in building maintenance and
management costs as a result of the successful
delivery of the Legacy Project which would take
over this site.

Savings on annual revenue running costs
through the closure of this asset.

Original efficiency identified likely savings
(60) through more efficient working. Implementation
delayed due to capacity (now resolved).

(200)

Introduce industry standard charging, phased
over 3 years.

Agenda Item 9
Page 82
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of efficiency

Community
Services

CS1718E022

E

PUBLIC PROTECTION Regulatory services

Community
Services

CS1718E023

B

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

Incrementally increase income so that it would
cover the costs of trading standards and
environmental health provision for CBC. Is
(600) dependant on allowing carry over of £200k from
16/17 to allow retention of skills within the
organisation and engage another NNO and
Licensing Enforcement Officer.

(200)

(200)

(200)

-

EDUCATIONAL
TRANSPORT - home to
school transport to nearest
school

-

-

(25)

(50)

-

-

(75)

(125)

(200)

Subject to detailed modelling - budgeted
(75) efficiency reprofiled to meet revised policy
timetable.

Community
Services

CS1718E024

B

EDUCATIONAL
TRANSPORT - voluntary
mileage payments for parents
in receipt of mobility
allowance

Community
Services

CS1718E027

A

EDUCATIONAL
TRANSPORT - payment and
assistance to school with
minibuses to provide
transport

(50)

-

-

-

(50)

Based on 10 schools and looking at average
costs for a minibus running a current routes we
could achieve savings of £150,000. Some risk
as appetite from schools not fully determined.

Community
Services

CS1718E029

E

PASSENGER TRANSPORT
SERVICES - non emergency
passenger transport

(40)

(40)

(40)

-

(120)

Development of a commercial offer for patient
transport using our own fleet.

Community
Services

CS1718E032

A

COMMUNITY SAFETY review of growing CCTV

-

(100)

(20)

(20)

(140)

Savings from new infrastructure and selling
capacity. Capital dependant

Community
Services

CS1718E035

E

PARKING - charging for
Westfield Rd Car park

-

(35)

-

-

(35)

Community
Services

CS1718E037

B

WASTE - Reduction of
HWRC Opening hours

-

(70)

(70)

-

B

Waste collection

-

(305)

(1,125)

-

-

(100)

-

-

(100)

Savings from SAP4HANA moved to year likely to
be realised.

-

(50)

(100)

(130)

(280)

Revenue generation from a Crematorium facility
delivered within Central Bedfordshire.

Community
Services

Reduce opening by 2
days a week from Oct
18.

Savings against SAP
licensing costs following
upgrade.

Linked to CS1718E004. estimated at average
income per space based on CBC car park
actuals in sept 2016: linked to the future of
Watling House.

Closure of HWRC's on two midweek days
(140) moved to October '19, impact mitigated by
income from charging for some materials.

(1,430) Potential changes to waste collections.

Community
Services

ICSE-1718-06

A

IT - Licensing costs

Community
Services

Innovation
Initiatives 1Income from
Assets

E

ASSETS _ Crematorium

Community
Services

Innovation
Initiatives 2-Waste

D

15% Increase in Household
Recycling

(25)

-

-

-

(25) Community Services.

Community
Services

CS1819E001

E

Charging for Pre app
PUBLIC PROTECTION - New
and Planning agreement
Charge
advice

(40)

-

-

-

(40)

Community
Services

CS1819E002

E

PUBLIC PROTECTION Increased Income from Fees
and Charges

(25)

-

-

-

To reflect inflationary increase in fees & charges
(25) and cyclical nature of some licences and
increased enforcement.

Community
Services

CS1819E003

A

PUBLIC PROTECTION and
TRANSPORT - savings from
digitalisation

-

-

-

(75)

(75)

Community
Services

CS1819E004

A

TRANSPORT - Fleet
Contract Hire

(50)

(50)

-

-

(100)

Following purchase of new fleet. Capital
dependant

Community
Services

CS1819E005

A

TRANSPORT - Fleet R&M

(30)

(30)

-

-

(60)

Following purchase of new fleet. Capital
dependant

Community
Services

CS1819E006

A

LEISURE - Programme
Delivery

(30)

-

-

-

(30) Pending approval of mini restructure.

Community
Services

CS1819E007

A

LEISURE - Houghton Hall
Park operations

13

(12)

(17)

11

Community
Services

CS1819E008

E

LEISURE - increase income
FLC

-

(15)

-

-

(15) Result of capital spend .

Community
Services

CS1819E009

B

WASTE- disposal saving

50% of HWRC residual
to treatment rather than
landfill

(25)

-

-

-

(25) Forecast saving, dependant on tonnages.

Community
Services

CS1819E010

A

WASTE - fleet purchase

Saving on provision of
own fleet (net of revenue
cost of capital)

-

(1,130)

-

-

New disposal contract offers opportunity to
(1,130) supply fleet leading to reduced revenue costs.
Capital dependant

Reduction in Staff
following introduction of
nre processes

Better use of staff
resources

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

Ability to secure income from pre planning
advice (noise, pollution, contaminated land).

Potential to digitise processes in licencing etc.,
dependant on suitable system being available.

(5) Estimated net costs to manage the centre.

Agenda Item 9
Page 83
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of efficiency

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

Community
Services

CS1819E011

E

WASTE - charging for
materials

Charging for materials
at HWRCs

(70)

-

-

-

(70) Charging for rubble, plasterboard and tyres.

Community
Services

CS1819E012

A

WASTE - haulage costs

saving on haulage costs

(28)

-

-

-

(28) Based on current price and tonnage.

Community
Services

CS1819E013

E

Green Waste

Green waste collection

-

(820)

-

-

Community
Services

CS1819E014

A

HIGHWAYS - Highways
posts

(62)

-

-

-

(62) Staff savings.

Community
Services

CS1819E017

E

HIGHWAYS - NRSWA
compliance income

(11)

(50)

-

-

(61)

Community
Services

CS1819E018

E

ASSETS - increased income
from Industrial Units &
Estates

761002

(50)

-

-

-

(50) Dependant on EPC compliance.

Community
Services

CS1819E019

E

ASSETS - increased income
from Business Units

761003

-

(10)

(10)

-

(20)

2018 level of income based on almost no vacant
units.

Community
Services

CS1819E020

A

ASSETS / ICT / LEISURE Paper storage & Mail room

requires capital
investment

-

-

(180)

-

(180)

Scanning stored files and adoption of hybrid mail
/ digital reception systems.

Community
Services

CS1819E021

E

ASSETS - increased income
from Farm Estate

761020
Includes Windfarm rental
income (30).

(50)

-

-

(20)

(70)

Community
Services

CS1819E022

A

ASSETS - reduction in rates

(48)

-

-

-

(48) Based on actual costs.

Community
Services

CS1819E023

A

ASSETS - no spend on
Dunstable Court House.

(30)

-

-

-

(30) Courthouse now demolished.

Community
Services

CS1819E024

A

ASSETS - reduction in utility
spend

(2)

-

-

-

Community
Services

CS1819E025

E

ASSETS - increase in HRA
recharge

(15)

-

-

-

Community
Services

CS1819E026

E

ASSETS - Integrated Health
& Care Hubs rental income

(187)

(750)

(563)

(1,500)

Community
Services

CS1819E027

A

IT - Budget rebase: operating
overheads

(65)

-

-

-

(65)

Community
Services

CS1819E028

A

IT - Budget rebase: Data
Networks

(135)

(90)

-

-

Community
Services

CS1819E029

A

IT - Budget rebase: HRA
contribution

(25)

-

-

-

(25) Reflects 16/17 recharge.

Community
Services

CS1819E030

A

IT - Budget rebase: MFDs

(85)

-

-

-

(85) Based on actuals.

(2,645)

(4,510)

(3,505)

(1,370)

-

Total Community Services

(820)

Potential efficiencies resulting in changes to
waste collections.

This is linked to the recruitment of a compliance
inspector (net income).

Includes mineral income, Will need to revise
once Farm Strategy in place.

(2) Based on actual costs Bedford Square £2k.

(15) Reflects 16/17 recharge.
Assumes capital investment in two Hubs.
Capital dependant
Various efficiencies in operating overheads;
based on actuals.

Reduced costs following review of WAN
(225) requirements post schools network and end of
DUCAL running costs.

(12,030)

Resources

NEW

E

Director of Resources

HRA Recharges- across
Resources

(44)

-

-

-

(44)

Review of HRA recharges across Resources to
meet current demand from services.

Resources

NEW

A

Revenues & Benefits

Offsite printing of
Council tax bills and
benefits letters including
all outgoing mail.

(20)

-

-

-

(20)

Further savings may be able to be achieved as
a result of offsite print solution.

Resources

NEW

A

Revised apportionment
Governance- Coroner Service of Coroner Service costs
over the three authorities

(30)

-

-

-

Additional savings against existing efficiency
(30) relating to the fairer apportionment of costs
between BBC, CBC and LBC.

Resources

NEW

E

Governance- Registration
Services

Increased income
resulting from fees and
charges increases

(10)

-

-

-

(10)

Miscellaneous increases in statutory charges for
registrations.

Resources

Un-achievable Eff

G

Governance- Local Land
Charges

Unachievable Land
Charge income
efficiency

-

-

-

100

Lower volume of requests and competition from
private sector.

Resources

NEW

A

Audit

Reduction in Audit fee
18%

(33)

-

-

-

(33) Reduction in external audit fees to £153k (18%).

Resources

NEW

A

Audit

Workforce Base Budget
Build Exercise - Audit

(6)

-

-

-

Resources

CRE - 1617-03,
CRE-1718-08

E

Revenues & Benefits

Increase in recovery of
overpaid Housing
Benefit

(10)

(30)

-

100

-

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

(6) Realignment of base salary budget.

Additional Real Time Information now being
(40) received from DWP enables more overpayments
to be identified.

Agenda Item 9
Page 84
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of efficiency

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

Resources

CRE - 1617-13

E

Revenues & Benefits

Revenues and Benefits
external income
generation

(30)

(30)

-

-

(60)

Resources

CRE-1718-02

A

Financial Performance &
Support

Process improvements
through new systems
and technology

-

-

(50)

-

(50) Dependent on new main accounting system.

Resources

CRE-1718-03

A

Financial Control

Payments Processing
Efficiencies

(20)

-

-

-

(20)

Resources

CRE-1718-04

A

Financial Control

Contribution to
Insurance Reserve

(244)

-

-

-

Actuarial review of self insurance reserves
(244) indicates scope to reduce the annual
contribution. Subject to Actuarial review in 2018.

Resources

Innovation
Initatives1- Shared
Services

E

Internal Enforcement Agents
& Corporate Debt Team

(40)

(80)

-

-

(120)

Resources

ICSE - 1617-11 ,
ICSE-1718-14

A

Democratic Services

Review of management
arrangements.

(40)

-

-

-

(40)

Resources

ICSE-1718-18

A

Legal Services

Additional savings as per
LGSS business case

(61)

(54)

(13)

-

Resources

ICSE-1718-19

A

Legal Services

Future potential dividend
as per LGSS business
case

(35)

(10)

(10)

-

(56)

Resources

ICSE-1718-22

A

Reducing reliance on hard
copy agenda papers

Savings against courier
service following
removal of printed
committee reports

(5)

-

-

-

(5)

-

(9)

-

(91)

(109)

(69)

-

(269) Finance.

(250)

-

-

-

(250) Review of existing budgets.

(869)

(292)

(172)

-

(1,334)

(16)

-

-

-

(16)

(165)

-

-

-

(165) Communications.

Working Smarter - Dunstable
Registrar Office

Resources

ICSE - 1617-20

A

Resources

Innovation
Initiatives 1,2,3 Financial
Transactions

E

Use of Purchasing Cards

Resources

Innovation
Initiatives 1Learning &
Development

A

Needs Based Budget
Process

Total
Resources
Chief
Executive

NEW

A

Communications & Insight

Chief
Executive

Innovation
Initatives2- Shared
Services

A

Commercial Review of
Communications

Workforce Base Budget
Build - Communications
and Insight

Total Chief
Executive

Proposal to provide chargeable services to other
local authorities.

Changes to contractual arrangements in terms of
electronic payments to the Council.

Revenues & Benefits. Potential to bring part of
the service in-house.

(128) Operating efficiencies.

-

Benefit arising from being part owner of LGSS
Law ltd.

(9)

(181)

-

-

-

(181)

Improved outcomes for
OP customers by
working closer with
Health

(804)

(800)

(875)

(800)

(3,279)

(44)

(42)

-

-

(86)

SCHH

EA46

D

Right sizing care packages
for Older People

Ensuring appropriate contributions from both
Health and Social Care for packages of care.

SCHH

EA73

D

Deliver savings within Private
Sector Housing & Housing
More efficient use of
Needs by better use of ICT
ICT and staff resources
and further income
generation activity

SCHH

EA106

E

Increased income from Care
Fees

Continue to improve
income collection
arrangements

(210)

(215)

(221)

(226)

Relies on the Government's "Triple Lock" for
(872) basic state pension - guaranteeing minimum
annual increase of 2.5%.

(100)

(100)

(100)

(100)

Invest to save, targeted review of packages
(400) requiring more than one carer, improve telecare
offer.

SCHH

EA112

B

Better use of Assistive
Technology - Older People

To utilise Assistive
Technology as an
integral part of the care
management
assessment as
evidenced in their Care
and Support Plan that
will be proportionate and
asset based

SCHH

EA115

D

Right sizing care packages
for Adults with a Learning
Disability

Improved outcomes for
LD customers by
working closer with
Health

(593)

(600)

(675)

(600)

(2,468)

Developing Learning
Disability Services

Improved outcomes for
LD customers. Will
involve re-shaping the
market which may result
in opposition from
providers.

(500)

(750)

(1,000)

(500)

Follow on from Draft Learning Disability Market
Position Statement - review current services and
(2,750) alternatives. Develop relationship with market to
deliver more local, cost effective care and
support.

SCHH

EA125

B

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

Looking to reduce high cost care packages by
providing care as close to home as possible.

Agenda Item 9
Page 85
Directorate

SCHH

Ref

EA130

Category

Detail of efficiency

Implications / Impact

D

Modernising / Transforming
Care

Implementation of the
Older Persons MPS
likely to lead to changes
in care and
accommodation services
to be provided

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comments

Continuation of investment from institutional to
personal solutions through the modernisation of
(1,958) services for Older People and People with
Learning Disabilities. Restated and re-reprofiled
for current MTFP

(242)

(406)

(652)

(658)

Investment in systems
needed to deliver
change. Customers &
staff need to be
receptive to increased
self-management

-

(250)

(250)

-

(500)

Revised Customer Pathway, increased self
service, more agile workforce.

-

(250)

(500)

-

(750)

Alternative delivery model for in-house care
services.

SCHH

EA131

A

Asset Based Approach/Self
Service (incls Digitisation)

SCHH

EA132

A

Local Authority Trading
Company

Potential local opposition
from providers to LATC
and need to renegotiate
pay and conditions of
staff affected

Clarifying the Social Care
Offer for new customers

The Council will continue
to meet the assessed
care needs of customers
though the outcome may
be a care home offer
rather than continuing to
be cared for at home
and will offer potential
for customers/families to
contribute to the costs of
remaining at home

(50)

(100)

(200)

-

The Council with continue to meet the assessed
care needs of customers though the outcome
may be a care home offer rather than continuing
(350)
to be cared for at home and will offer potential
for customers/families to contribute to the costs
of remaining at home.

(75)

-

-

-

To review the current support offer for carers
(75) with the intention of bringing investment in line
with other Local Authorities.

SCHH

EA133

B

SCHH

EA134

B

Review the Carers Offer

To review the current
support offer for carers
with the intention of
bringing investment in
line with other Local
Authorities

SCHH

EA135

E

BCF

Future funding
allocations could
change; negotiation
required with CCG

(98)

(619)

-

-

(717)

Increased BCF allocation and 18/19 inflationary
uplift

Use of HRA stock to
reduce demand for
supported services in
General Fund

(73)

(73)

(73)

-

(219)

Maximising the impact of the HRA and General
Fund costs.

SCHH

EA137

D

Intensive Property
Management (system
resilience / demand
management), Supported
Housing reduced cost, new
media

SCHH

EA149

A

Customer Services

Reductions in operations
as a result of channel
shift

(50)

(100)

(150)

(200)

(500)

SCHH

EA150

A

Procurement

Central Purchasing Hub

(178)

(128)

-

-

(306)

SCHH

EA151

A

Procurement

None- reflects level of
support to HRA
procurement

(28)

-

-

-

SCHH

EA152

A

More efficient assessment of None- reallocation of
DoLS
work

(300)

(100)

(100)

(100)

(600)

SCHH

EA153

B

Better use of Assistive
Technology - Learning
Disabilities

-

-

(100)

(100)

(200)

SCHH

EA154

A

Review of Supported Living
for adults with a Learning
Disability

-

-

(200)

(200)

(400)

SCHH

EA155

D

Further Investment in
preventative solutions for
adults with a Learning
Disability

(50)

(250)

(200)

(200)

(700)

SCHH

EA156

(28) Additional HRA funding.

Efficiency achieved by reducing reliance on
locums to complete DoLS assessments.

Funding of increased
establishment from iBCF,
HRA, and Govt Grant (new
burdens), plus reduced
contract costs.

Housing

(455)

85

72

-

(298)

New burdens funding in year 1 (£157K) reversed
in years 2 and 3.

Funding of increased
establishment from iBCF,
HRA, and Govt Grant (new
burdens), plus reduced
contract costs.

Housing

-

72

(72)

-

-

New burdens funding in year 1 (£157K) reversed
in years 2 and 3.

E

SCHH

EA157

A

Adjustment to Base Budget

(785)

-

-

-

(785)

SCHH

EA158

A

Use of Reserves

(711)

(1,109)

1,532

288

-

SCHH

EA159

A

Success Factors/ Fiori

(50)

-

-

-

(50)

(5,396)

(5,735)

(3,764)

(3,396)

(18,291)

Total Social Care, Health & Housing

Service based savings to be determined and
agreed.

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

Agenda Item 9
Page 86
Directorate

Ref

Category

Detail of efficiency

Implications / Impact

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

(25)

(25)

-

(50) Administrative fee levied as part of the charge.

Comments

Regeneration

SC151

E

Community Infrastructure levy
(CIL) administration fee

Regeneration

SC154

A

Reduce development plan
consultancy budget

150

(190)

(40)

-

A reduction in need for use of external
(80) consultancy services as a result of progress /
delivery of the Local Plan.

Regeneration

SC503

E

Income from charging of new
transport model

(20)

(10)

-

-

(30) Revenue from new transport model.

Regeneration

RG401

E

Increase development
management income

(227)

(170)

(100)

-

Regeneration

RG403

A

Electronic processes

(25)

-

-

-

Regeneration

RG404

E

Building control / Albion

(55)

(50)

-

-

Regeneration

RG405

F

Working Smarter

-

-

(18)

-

Regeneration

CS1718E044

E

Section 106 contribution from
HRN2

60

-

-

-

Regeneration

RG1718E01

A

Directorate Wide Restructure

(20)

-

-

-

Reduction in management team capacity,
(20) integration of strategic transport, increase focus
on commercialism and place delivery.

Regeneration

RG1718E02

A

Employee related costs

(30)

-

-

-

(30) Reduction in costs associated with re-structure.

Regeneration

RG1718E05

E

PPA income / staffing offset

-

-

(60)

-

(60)

Regeneration

RG1819E01

E

Fees and charges

Total Regeneration

Corporate
Costs

A

Premature Retirement

Corporate
Costs

A

Unallocated Efficiencies

Corporate
Costs

A

Possible Pension Savings

Corporate
Costs

A

Digitisation (to be allocated
out)

A

Vacancy Management &
Agency

Corporate
Costs

CCE- 1617-03

Innovation
Initiatives 1Recruitment

Total Corporate Costs
Overall Efficiencies - Total

Pension costs (teachers
and non teachers) early
retirement- assumed
2.5% reduction p.a.

The additional income is based on both the
(497) position with the Local Plan and the submission
of details expected for major developments.

(25)

The delivery of this is reliant on the successful
role out of BOX Document Management.

(105) Review of the operation of both service areas.
Part of Working Smarter programme to reduce
(18) spend on office accommodation - linked ro
review of Albion
60

Contribution to transport model costs expenditure incurred in 2016/17.

Reduction in salary costs as a result of direct
funding of posts through PPA income.

(4)

-

-

-

(171)

(445)

(243)

-

(859)

(4) Pre-app fee increase

(71)

(71)

(71)

-

(214)

(500)

(1,500)

(3,000)

-

(5,000) To be allocated to Directorates

(1,089)

-

-

-

(1,089) To be allocated to Directorates

(100)

(230)

(20)

(150)

(1,000)

(1,000)

-

-

(500)
Rigorous approach to all vacancies and
(2,000) recruitment opportunities. Will eventually be reallocated back to Directorates.

(2,760)

(2,801)

(3,091)

(150)

(8,803)

(13,817)

(14,269)

(11,624)

(6,229)

(45,939)

Appendix D(ii) Efficiencies by Directorate

Reduction in costs relating to historic early
retirements.

Appendix D (iii) - Efficiencies by Category

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

£'000s
(8,225)
(1,459)
116
(2,518)
(1,831)
100
(13,817)

£'000s
(7,816)
(1,546)
(2,191)
(2,716)
(14,269)

£'000s
(3,668)
(2,741)
(2,534)
(2,288)
(393)
(11,624)

£'000s
(963)
(875)
(578)
(2,258)
(1,180)
(375)
(6,229)

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
(2,102)
(725)
(1,806)
(763)
(5,396)
-6354.5

£'000s
(1,937)
(950)
(2,171)
(677)
(5,735)
-2103

£'000s
332
(1,400)
(2,475)
(221)
(3,764)
-909

£'000s
(212)
(700)
(2,258)
(226)
(3,396)
-1143

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
(541)
(33)
(637)
(1,211)
-2774

£'000s
(382)
(21)
(20)
(423)
-1954

£'000s
(300)
(46)
(59)
(375)
(780)
-437

£'000s
(375)
(375)
-284

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
(1,272)
(701)
(75)
(597)
(2,645)

£'000s
(2,370)
(575)
(1,565)
(4,510)

£'000s
(427)
(1,295)
(1,783)
(3,505)

£'000s
(241)
(175)
(954)
(1,370)

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

Social Care, Health and Housing
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

Children's Services
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

Community Services
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

Appendix D(iii) Efficiencies by Category

Total
£'000s
(20,672)
(6,621)
(462)
(9,501)
(8,015)
(768)
100
(45,939)
22,498
Total
£'000s
(3,919)
(3,775)
(8,710)
(1,887)
(18,291)
-10510

Total
£'000s
(1,223)
(100)
(716)
(750)
(2,789)
-5449

Total
£'000s
(4,310)
(2,746)
(75)
(4,899)
(12,030)

Agenda Item 9

2018/19

Page 87

Category Summary
Ref Category

Regeneration and Business Support
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

Public Health
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

Chief Executives Team
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

Resources
Ref Category
Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

-1237

-485

-40

-3776

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
75
(246)
(171)
-390

£'000s
(190)
(255)
(445)
130

£'000s
(40)
(185)
(18)
(243)
-85

£'000s
-0

Total
£'000s
(155)
(686)
(18)
(859)
-345

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
(699)
116
(583)

£'000s
(62)
(62)

£'000s
(69)
(69)

£'000s
(360)
(578)
(938)

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
(181)
(181)
-1734.4

£'000s
-492

£'000s
-200

£'000s
-150

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
(745)
(225)
100
(869)
-600

£'000s
(73)
(219)
(292)
-170

£'000s
(73)
(99)
(172)
-35

£'000s
0

Total
£'000s
(181)
(181)
-2576
Total
£'000s
(891)
(543)
100
(1,334)
-805

Page 88

Appendix D(iii) Efficiencies by Category

Total
£'000s
(1,190)
(462)
(1,652)

Agenda Item 9

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

-2014

Corporate Costs
Ref Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
Total

Delivering operating efficiencies
Determining the Council's offer
Withdrawing services
Intervening early to reduce demand
Generating Income
Unachievable efficiencies
New efficiencies identified

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£'000s
(2,760)
(2,760)

£'000s
(2,801)
(2,801)

£'000s
(3,091)
(3,091)

£'000s
(150)
(150)

Agenda Item 9

Page 89

Appendix D(iii) Efficiencies by Category

Total
£'000s
(8,803)
(8,803)

This page is intentionally left blank

Central Bedfordshire Council Net Budget 2018/19

Appendix E

Public Health
£0.1m
Social Care, Health
& Housing £75.5m

Community
Services £51.4m

Chief Executive’s
Team £1.2m

40%

Net
Budget
2018/19
£189.8m

27%

3%

4%

Children’s
Services £37.8m

Corporate Costs £6.9m
(Includes Capital
Financing Costs)

6%
Page 91

Resources
£11.3m

Agenda Item 9

20%

Regeneration &
Business Support
£5.6m

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Page 93
Appendix F – Legal Requirements – Addendum A
More detailed advice on the legal implications of proposed efficiencies will be
required as and when the detail and specifics of a particular proposed efficiency are
determined. Attention is drawn to the following legislation relating to the specific
efficiencies identified in this addendum.
Community Services
Efficiency - CS1718E037 Waste - Reduction of HWRC Opening hours.
The Council is obliged to provide places to deposit waste to residents which should
be available at all reasonable times:
Environmental Protection Act 1990
S.51 Functions of waste disposal authorities
(1) It shall be the duty of each waste disposal authority to arrange—
(b) for places to be provided at which persons resident in its area may deposit
their household waste and for the disposal of waste so deposited;
(2) The arrangements made by a waste disposal authority under subsection (1)(b)
above shall be such as to secure that—
(a) each place is situated either within the area of the authority or so as to be
reasonably accessible to persons resident in its area;
(b) each place is available for the deposit of waste at all reasonable times
(including at least one period on the Saturday or following day of each week except a
week in which the Saturday is 25th December or 1st January);
(c) each place is available for the deposit of waste free of charge by persons
resident in the area;
but the arrangements may restrict the availability of specified places to specified
descriptions of waste.
An assessment of what is reasonable in relation to each centre will be required as
will any appropriate consultation
Public Health
Efficiency – PH13 Aspire Neuro Linguistic Programming.
Efficiency - PH15 Adult weight management
Efficiency PH 16 and PH 17 Healthchecks
S.2B(1) of the National Health Service Act 2006 imposes a duty on the Council to
"take such steps as it considers appropriate for improving the health of the people in
its area." These steps may include providing information and advice; providing
services or facilities to promote health living; providing services or facilities for the
prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness; financial incentives to encourage
healthier lifestyles and making available the services of any person or any facilities.
Under the Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local
Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013 in exercising the duty above the
Council is obliged to offer health checks to all eligible persons between the ages of
40 and 74 once in every relevant period. Both eligibility and relevant period are
specifically prescribed in the Regulations and should be complied with. Eligibility for

Agenda Item 9
Page 94
healthchecks does not include persons with diagnoses detailed in sub-clauses
4(1)(a) to (c) of the Regulations as detailed.
Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local
Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013
4 Health check assessment
(1) In the exercise of its functions under section 2B of the Act (functions of local
authorities and Secretary of State as to improvement of public health), each local
authority shall provide, or shall make arrangements to secure the provision of, health
checks to be offered to eligible persons in its area.
(2) Subject to paragraph (5), in this regulation, an eligible person is a person in the
local authority's area who is aged from 40 to 74 years.
(3) Each eligible person shall be offered a health check once in every relevant
period.
(4) For the purposes of this regulation, the relevant period is—
(a) in the case of a person who is an eligible person on the date that this Part
comes into force
(i) the period of five years starting with that date, and
(ii) each subsequent period of five years starting on the date on which the
previous health check was offered;
(b) in the case of a person who becomes an eligible person (whether or not that
person has ever previously been an eligible person) on a date after the date that this
Part comes into force,
(i) the period of five years starting with the date on which the person becomes an
eligible person, and
(ii) each subsequent period of five years starting on the date on which the
previous health check was offered.
(5) Any person of a description specified in this paragraph shall not be an eligible
person for the purposes of this regulation—
(a) a person who has been diagnosed with any of the following—
(i) coronary heart disease,
(ii) chronic kidney disease (CKD), being CKD which has been classified as stage
3, 4 or 5 CKD within the meaning of the National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence clinical guideline 73 on Chronic Kidney Disease, published September
2008,
(iii) diabetes,
(iv) hypertension,
(v) atrial fibrillation,
(vi) transient ischaemic attack,
(vii) hypercholesterolaemia,

Agenda Item 9
Page 95
(viii) heart failure,
(ix) peripheral arterial disease,
(x) stroke;
(b) a person who is being prescribed statins for the purpose of lowering
cholesterol;
(c) a person who has been assessed, either through a previous NHS health check
or through any other check undertaken through the health service in England, as
having a twenty per cent or higher risk of having a cardiovascular event during the
ten years following the check.
(6) In discharging the requirement under paragraph (1), the local authority shall
act with a view to securing continuous improvement in the percentage of eligible
persons in its area participating in the health checks.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Page 97

Appendix F - Statutory Requirements – Social Care, Health and Housing
The Care Act 2014
Care and Support Statutory Guidance – Department of Health
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-supportstatutory-guidance
Section 1 Promoting Wellbeing
Local authorities must promote wellbeing when carrying out any of their care and support functions
in respect of a person. This may sometimes be referred to as “the wellbeing principle” because it is
a guiding principle that puts wellbeing at the heart of care and support.
The wellbeing principle applies in all cases where a local authority is carrying out a care and
support function, or making a decision, in relation to a person. It applies equally to adults with care
and support needs and their carers.
In some specific circumstances, it also applies to children, their carers and to young carers when
they are subject to transition assessments (see chapter 16 on transition to adult care and support).
Wellbeing” is a broad concept, and it is described as relating to the following areas in particular:










personal dignity (including treatment of the individual with respect);
physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing;
protection from abuse and neglect;
control by the individual over day-to-day life (including over care and support provided and the
way it is provided);
participation in work, education, training or recreation;
social and economic wellbeing;
domestic, family and personal;
suitability of living accommodation;
the individual’s contribution to society.

All the above should be considered of equal importance when considering “wellbeing” in the round
Promoting wellbeing involves actively seeking improvements in the aspects of wellbeing set out
above when carrying out a care and support function in relation to an individual at any stage of the
process from the provision of information and advice to reviewing a care and support plan.
Wellbeing covers an intentionally broad range of the aspects of a person’s life and will encompass
a wide variety of specific considerations depending on the individual.
A local authority can promote a person’s wellbeing in many ways. How this happens will depend
on the circumstances, including the person’s needs, goals and wishes, and how these impact on
their wellbeing. There is no set approach – a local authority should consider each case on its own
merits, consider what the person wants to achieve, and how the action which the local authority is
taking may affect the wellbeing of the individual.
The Act therefore signifies a shift from existing duties on local authorities to provide particular
services, to the concept of ‘meeting needs’. This is the core legal entitlement for adults to care and

Agenda Item 9
Page 98

support, establishing one clear and consistent set of duties and power for all people who need
care and support.

The concept of ‘meeting needs’ recognises that everyone’s needs are different and personal to
them. Local authorities must consider how to meet each person’s specific needs rather than
simply considering what service they will fit into. The concept of meeting needs also recognises
that modern care and support can be provided in any number of ways, with new models emerging
all the time, rather than the previous legislation which focuses primarily on traditional models of
residential and domiciliary care.
Whenever a local authority carries out any care and support functions relating to an individual, it
must act to promote wellbeing – and it should consider all of the aspects above in looking at how
to meet a person’s needs and support them to achieve their desired outcomes. However, in
individual cases, it is likely that some aspects of wellbeing will be more relevant to the person than
others. For example, for some people the ability to engage in work or education will be a more
important outcome than for others, and in these cases “promoting their wellbeing” effectively may
mean taking particular consideration of this aspect. Local authorities should adopt a flexible
approach that allows for a focus on which aspects of wellbeing matter most to the individual
concerned.
The principle of promoting wellbeing should be embedded through the local authority care and
support system, but how the local authority promotes wellbeing in practice will depend on the
particular function being performed. During the assessment process, for instance, the local
authority should explicitly consider the most relevant aspects of wellbeing to the individual
concerned, and assess how their needs impact on them. Taking this approach will allow for the
assessment to identify how care and support, or other services or resources in the local
community, could help the person to achieve their outcomes. During care and support planning,
when agreeing how needs are to be met, promoting the person’s wellbeing may mean making
decisions about particular types or locations of care (for instance, to be closer to family).
The wellbeing principle applies equally to those who do not have eligible needs but come into
contact with the system in some other way (for example, via an assessment that does not lead to
ongoing care and support) as it does to those who go on to receive care and support, and have an
ongoing relationship with the local authority. It should inform the delivery of universal services
which are provided to all people in the local population, as well as being considered when meeting
eligible needs. Although the wellbeing principle applies specifically when the local authority
performs an activity or task, or makes a decision, in relation to a person, the principle should also
be considered by the local authority when it undertakes broader, strategic functions, such as
planning, which are not in relation to one individual. As such, “wellbeing” should be seen as the
common theme around which care and support is built at local and national level.
Key Principles and Standards
There are a number of key principles and standards which local authorities must have regard to
when carrying out the same activities or functions:
(a) the importance of beginning with the assumption that the individual is best-placed to
judge the individual’s wellbeing. Building on the principles of the Mental Capacity Act, the local
authority should assume that the person themselves knows best their own outcomes, goals and
wellbeing. Local authorities should not make assumptions as to what matters most to the person;
(b) the individual’s views, wishes, feelings and beliefs. Considering the person’s views and
wishes is critical to a person-centred system. Local authorities should not ignore or downplay the
importance of a person’s own opinions in relation to their life and their care. Where particular
views, feelings or beliefs (including religious beliefs) impact on the choices that a person may wish
to make about their care, these should be taken into account. This is especially important where a

Agenda Item 9
person has expressed views in the past, but no longer has capacity to make decisions
themselves;

Page 99

(c) the importance of preventing or delaying the development of needs for care and support
and the importance of reducing needs that already exist. At every interaction with a person, a
local authority should consider whether or how the person’s needs could be reduced or other
needs could be delayed from arising. Effective interventions at the right time can stop needs from
escalating, and help people maintain their independence for longer;
(d) the need to ensure that decisions are made having regard to all the individual’s
circumstances (and are not based only on their age or appearance, any condition they have, or
any aspect of their behaviour which might lead others to make unjustified assumptions about their
wellbeing). Local authorities should not make judgments based on preconceptions about the
person’s circumstances, but should in every case work to understand their individual needs and
goals;
(e) the importance of the individual participating as fully as possible in decisions about
them and being provided with the information and support necessary to enable the individual to
participate. Care and support should be personal, and local authorities should not make decisions
from which the person is excluded;
(f) the importance of achieving a balance between the individual’s wellbeing and that of any
friends or relatives who are involved in caring for the individual. People should be considered
in the context of their families and support networks, not just as isolated individuals with needs.
Local authorities should take into account the impact of an individual’s need on those who support
them, and take steps to help others access information or support;
(g) the need to protect people from abuse and neglect. In any activity which a local authority
undertakes, it should consider how to ensure that the person is and remains protected from abuse
or neglect. This is not confined only to safeguarding issues, but should be a general principle
applied in every case;
(h) the need to ensure that any restriction on the individual’s rights or freedom of action
that is involved in the exercise of the function is kept to the minimum necessary for
achieving the purpose for which the function is being exercised. Where the local authority has to
take actions which restrict rights or freedoms, they should ensure that the course followed is the
least restrictive necessary.
Independent living
Although not mentioned specifically in the way that “wellbeing” is defined, the concept of
“independent living” is a core part of the wellbeing principle. Section 1 of the Care Act includes
matters such as individual’s control of their day-to-day life, suitability of living accommodation,
contribution to society – and crucially, requires local authorities to consider each person’s views,
wishes, feelings and beliefs.
The wellbeing principle is intended to cover the key components of independent living, as
expressed in the UN Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities1 (in particular, Article 19
of the Convention). Supporting people to live as independently as possible, for as long as
possible, is a guiding principle of the Care Act.
Promoting wellbeing is not always about local authorities meeting needs directly. It will be just as
important for them to put in place a system where people have the information they need to take
control of their care and support and choose the options that are right for them.
Control also means the ability to move from one area to another or from children’s services to the
adult system without fear of suddenly losing care and support. The Care Act ensures that people

Agenda Item 9
Page 100

will be able to move to a different area without suddenly losing their care and support and provides
clarity about who will be responsible for care and support in different situations.
Section 2. Preventing, reducing or delaying needs

It is critical to the vision in the Care Act that the care and support system works to actively promote
wellbeing and independence, and does not just wait to respond when people reach a crisis point.
To meet the challenges of the future, it will be vital that the care and support system intervenes
early to support individuals, helps people retain or regain their skills and confidence, and prevents
need or delays deterioration wherever possible.
The local authority’s responsibilities for prevention apply to all adults, including:




people who do not have any current needs for care and support;
adults with needs for care and support, whether their needs are eligible and/or met by the local
authority or not (see chapter 6);
carers, including those who may be about to take on a caring role or who do not currently have
any needs for support, and those with needs for support which may not be being met by the
local authority or other organisation.

The term “prevention” or “preventative” measures can cover many different types of support,
services, facilities or other resources. There is no one definition for what constitutes preventative
activity and this can range from wide-scale whole-population measures aimed at promoting health,
to more targeted, individual interventions aimed at improving skills or functioning for one person or
a particular group or lessening the impact of caring on a carer’s health and wellbeing.
“Prevention” is often broken down into three general approaches – primary, secondary
and tertiary prevention.
Primary prevention/promoting wellbeing
These are aimed at individuals who have no current particular health or care and support needs.
These are services, facilities or resources provided or arranged that may help an individual avoid
developing needs for care and support, or help a carer avoid developing support needs by
maintaining independence and good health and promoting wellbeing. They are generally universal
(i.e. available to all) services, which may include, but are not limited to interventions and advice
that:






provide universal access to good quality information;
support safer neighbourhoods;
promote healthy and active lifestyles (e.g. exercise classes);
reduce loneliness or isolation (e.g. befriending schemes or community activities) or,
encourage early discussions in families or groups about potential changes in the future, e.g.
conversations about potential care arrangements or suitable accommodation should a family
member become ill or disabled.

Reduce: secondary prevention/early intervention
These are more targeted interventions aimed at individuals who have an increased risk of
developing needs, where the provision of services, resources or facilities may help slow down or
reduce any further deterioration or prevent other needs from developing. Some early support can
help stop a person’s life tipping into crisis, for example helping someone with a learning disability
with moderate needs manage their money, or a few hours support to help a family carer who is
caring for their son or daughter with a learning disability and behaviour that challenges at home.
Early intervention could also include a fall prevention clinic, adaptions to housing to improve
accessibility or provide greater assistance, handyman services, short term provision of
wheelchairs or telecare services. In order to identify those individuals most likely to benefit from

Agenda Item 9
Page 101

such targeted services, local authorities may undertake screening or casefinding, for instance to
identify individuals at risk of developing specific health conditions or experiencing certain events
(such as strokes, or falls), or those that have needs for care and support which are not currently
met by the local authority. Targeted interventions should also include approaches to identifying
carers, including those who are taking on new caring responsibilities. Carers can also benefit from
support to help them develop the knowledge and skills to care effectively and look after their own
health and wellbeing.
Delay: tertiary prevention

These are interventions aimed at minimising the effect of disability or deterioration for people with
established or complex health conditions, (including progressive conditions, such as dementia),
supporting people to regain skills and manage or reduce need where possible. Tertiary prevention
could include, for example the rehabilitation of people who are severely sight impaired. Local
authorities must provide or arrange services, resources or facilities that maximise independence
for those already with such needs, for example, interventions such as rehabilitation/reablement
services, e.g. community equipment services and adaptations and the use of joint casemanagement for people with complex needs.
Tertiary prevention services could also include helping improve the lives of carers by enabling
them to continue to have a life of their own alongside caring, for example through respite care,
peer support groups like dementia cafés, or emotional support or stress management classes
which can provide essential opportunities to share learning and coping tips with others. This can
help develop mechanisms to cope with stress associated with caring and help carers develop an
awareness of their own physical and mental health needs.
Developing a local approach to preventative support
Whilst local authorities may choose to provide some types of preventative support themselves,
others may be more effectively provided in partnership with other local partners. . A local
authority’s commissioning strategy for prevention should consider the different commissioning
routes available, and the benefits presented by each. This could include connecting to other key
areas of local preventative activity outside care, including housing, planning and public health.
In developing a local approach to prevention, the local authority must take steps to identify and
understand both the current and future demand for preventative support, and the supply in terms
of services, facilities and other resources available.
Local authorities must consider the importance of identifying the services, facilities and resources
that are already available in their area, which could support people to prevent, reduce or delay
needs, and which could form part of the overall local approach to preventative activity.

Section 3 Information and advice
Local authorities must: “establish and maintain a service for providing people in its area with
information and advice relating to care and support for adults and support for carers”.
The local authority has an active and critical role in the provision of information and advice and
must take an active role. To fulfil its duty under section 4 of the Act, a local authority is likely to
need to go further than providing information and advice directly (though direct provision will be
important) by working to ensure the coherence, sufficiency, availability and accessibility of
information and advice relating to care and support across the local authority area. Importantly,
this duty to establish and maintain an information and advice service relates to the whole
population of the local authority area, not just those with care and support needs or in some other
way already known to the system.

Agenda Item 9
Page 102
Section 4 Market shaping and commissioning of adult care and support
The Care Act places new duties on local authorities to facilitate and shape their market for adult
care and support as a whole, so that it meets the needs of all people in their area who need care
and support, whether arranged or funded by the state, by the individual themselves, or in other
ways. The ambition is for local authorities to influence and drive the pace of change for their whole
market, leading to a sustainable and diverse range of care and support providers, continuously
improving quality and choice, and delivering better, innovative and cost-effective outcomes that
promote the wellbeing of people who need care and support.
Section 5 Managing provider failure and other service interruptions
The possibility of interruptions to care and support services causes uncertainty and anxiety for
people receiving services, their carers, family and friends. The guidance explains how the Care
Act makes provision to ensure that, in such circumstances, the care and support needs of those
receiving the service continue to be met. It describes local authorities’ powers and duties when
services are at risk of interruption in general and, in particular, when the interruption is because a
provider’s business has failed. It provides guidance to local authorities on the exercise of those
powers and the discharge of those duties.
Section 6 Assessment - Eligibility
The national eligibility criteria set a minimum threshold for adult care and support needs and carer
support needs which local authorities must meet. All local authorities must comply with this
national threshold. Authorities can also decide to meet needs that are not deemed to be eligible if
they chose to do so.
The eligibility threshold for adults with care and support needs is set out in the Care and Support
(Eligibility Criteria) Regulations 2014 (the ‘Eligibility Regulations’). The threshold is based on
identifying how a person’s needs affect their ability to achieve relevant outcomes, and how this
impacts on their wellbeing.
In considering whether an adult with care and support needs has eligible needs, local authorities
must consider whether:




The adult’s needs arise from or are related to a physical or mental impairment or illness.
As a result of the adult’s needs the adult is unable to achieve two or more of the specified
outcomes (which are described in the guidance).
As a consequence of being unable to achieve these outcomes there is, or there is likely to be,
a significant impact on the adult’s wellbeing.

An adult’s needs are only eligible where they meet all three of these conditions
Carers can be eligible for support in their own right. The national eligibility threshold for carers is
also set out in the Care and Support (Eligibility Criteria) Regulations 2014. The threshold is based
on the impact a carer’s needs for support has on their wellbeing.
In considering whether a carer has eligible needs, local authorities must consider whether:




the needs arise as a consequence of providing necessary care for an adult;
the effect of the carer’s needs is that any of the circumstances specified in the Eligibility
Regulations apply to the carer; and
as a consequence of that fact there is, or there is likely to be, a significant impact on the carer’s
wellbeing.

Agenda Item 9
Page 103
A carer’s needs are only eligible where they meet all three of these conditions

Section 7 Independent Advocacy
There are duties to arrange an independent advocate for all adults, as part of their own
assessment and care planning and care reviews and to those in their role as carers. It also applies
to children who are approaching the transition to adult care and support, when a child’s needs
assessment is carried out, and when a young carer’s assessment is undertaken. Section 72 of the
Act provides that Regulations may be made for appeals against local authority decisions made
under Part 1 of the Act and includes reference to the provision of independent advocacy
There is also a separate duty to arrange an independent advocate for adults who are subject to a
safeguarding enquiry or Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR).
Local authorities must arrange an independent advocate if two conditions are met. That if an
independent advocate were not provided then the person would have substantial difficulty in being
fully involved in these processes and second, there is no appropriate individual available to
support and represent the person’s wishes who is not paid or professionally engaged in providing
care or treatment to the person or their carer. The role of the independent advocate is to support
and represent the person and to facilitate their involvement in the key processes and interactions
with the local authority and other organisations as required for the safeguarding enquiry or SAR.
Everyone should have access to information and advice on care and support and keeping safe
from abuse or neglect (see chapter 3). Prior to making contact with the local authority, there may
be some people who require independent advocacy to access that information and advice. Local
authorities will need to consider such needs in ensuring that the information and advice service is
accessible.
Section 8 Charging and financial assessment
The Care Act provides a single legal framework for charging for care and support under sections
14 and 17. It enables a local authority to decide whether or not to charge a person when it is
arranging to meet a person’s care and support needs or a carer’s support needs.
Where a local authority arranges care and support to meet a person’s needs, it may charge the
adult, except where the local authority is required to arrange care and support free of charge. The
new framework is intended to make charging fairer and more clearly understood by everyone. The
overarching principle is that people should only be required to pay what they can afford. People
will be entitled to financial support based on a means-test and some will be entitled to free care.
Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996
The homelessness legislation places a general duty on housing authorities to ensure that advice
and information about homelessness, and preventing homelessness, is available to everyone in
their district free of charge. The legislation also requires authorities to assist individuals and
families who are homeless or threatened with homelessness and apply for help.

Agenda Item 9
Page 104
Statutory Requirements Children’s Services
Advice in relation to planning, consultation, decision making and proposed implementation
for individual proposals should be obtained once the specifics of a proposal have been
decided upon.
The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations – June 2015 Department for Education
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placementand-case-review
The UN Convention and the European Convention on Human Rights
The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) is an international human
rights treaty to which the UK is a signatory, which grants all children and young people aged 17
and under a comprehensive set of rights. These include the right to:






special protection measures and assistance;
access to services such as education and health care;
develop their personality, abilities and talents to the fullest potential;
grow up in an environment of happiness, love and understanding; and
be informed about and participate in achieving their rights in an accessible and active manner.

The Human Rights Act 1998 gives further effect in UK law to the rights and freedoms contained in
the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR).
The Children Act 1989
Key Principles
A key principle of the 1989 Act is that children are best looked after within their families, with their
parents playing a full part in their lives, unless compulsory intervention in family life is necessary.
That principle is reflected in:






the concept of parental responsibility;
the ability of unmarried fathers to share that responsibility by agreement with the mother, by
joint registration at birth or by court order;
the local authority’s functions to provide services which support children and their families;
the local authority’s duty to return a looked after child to his/her family unless this is against
his/her interests; and
the local authority’s duty, unless it is not reasonably practicable or consistent with his/her
welfare, to endeavour to promote contact between a looked after child and his/her parents or
others.

Principles in relation to children and their families
Good social care practice recognises the following principles when working with children and their
families:



Time is a crucial element in work with children and should be reckoned in days and months
rather than years.
Parents should be expected and enabled to retain their responsibilities and to remain as
closely involved as is consistent with their child’s welfare, even if that child cannot live at home
either temporarily or permanently.

Agenda Item 9





Page 105

If children have to live apart from their family, both they and their parents should be given
adequate information and helped to consider alternatives and contribute to the making of an
informed choice about the most appropriate form of care.
Continuity of relationships is important and attachments should be respected, sustained and
developed.
A change of home, carer, social worker or school almost always carries some risk to a child’s
development and welfare.
All children need to develop their own identity, including self-confidence and a sense of selfworth.

These principles reflect the intention in the 1989 Act, that parents should be encouraged to
exercise their responsibility for their child’s welfare in a constructive way and that where
compulsory intervention in the family is necessary it should, where possible, support rather than
undermine the parental role. The 1989 Act places a strong emphasis on the local authority working
in partnership with parents when undertaking their statutory functions.
The child’s wishes and feelings
Section 22(4) of the 1989 Act, consistent with Article 12 of the UNCRC, provides that, before
making any decision with respect to a child whom the local authority are looking after or proposing
to look after, the authority must, so far as reasonably practicable, ascertain the wishes and
feelings of the child and any other relevant person. Section 22(5) provides that, in making any
decision in relation to the child, it should give due consideration to those wishes and feelings,
having regard to the child’s age and understanding. Children should feel that they are active
participants and engaged in the process when adults are trying to solve problems and make
decisions about them. When plans are being made for the child’s future, s/he is likely to feel less
fearful if s/he understands what is happening and has been listened to from the beginning.
The functions (including powers and duties) of local authorities in relation to children who are
looked after by them are set out in the 1989 Act as principally amended by the Children (Leaving
Care) Act 2000, the Adoption and Children Act 2002 and the Children and Young Persons Act
2008, and the associated Regulations and guidance in relation to those functions.
Section 22(3) of the 1989 Act sets out the general duty of the local authority looking after a child to
safeguard and promote the welfare of the child. This duty underpins all activity by the local
authority in relation to looked after children.
Section 17 – Provision of Services for Children in Need
Section 17(1) of the 1989 Act imposes on local authorities a general duty to safeguard and
promote the welfare of children in their area who are in need by providing a range and level of
services appropriate to those children’s needs. A child ‘in need’ includes a disabled child
(section 17(10)). ‘For the purpose principally of facilitating the discharge of’ that general duty,
every local authority ‘shall have the specific duties and powers set out in Part 1 of Schedule 2’ to
the 1989 Act (section 17(2)).
A child in need is defined under the Children Act 1989 as a child who is unlikely to achieve or
maintain a satisfactory level of health or development, or their health and development will be
significantly impaired, without the provision of services; or a child who is disabled. In these cases,
assessments by a social worker are carried out under section 17 of the Children Act 1989.
Children in need may be assessed under section 17 of the Children Act 1989, in relation to their
special educational needs, disabilities, or as a carer (for any need for support under s.17ZA and
s.17ZB and must consider such assessment under s.17ZC), or because they have committed a
crime. The process for assessment should also be used for children whose parents are in prison

Agenda Item 9
Page 106

and for asylum seeking children. The definition will include any child or young person under the
age of 18.
The provision of services under s.17 may also be arranged where a parent carer’s needs
assessment has been carried out and considered under sections 17ZD to 17ZF

The services provided by a Local Authority under this section may include providing
accommodation, giving assistance in kind, or in exceptional circumstances, in cash and can be
subject to conditions as to the repayment of the assistance of its value (in whole or in part) subject
to means testing.
Section 47 – Duty to Investigate
Where there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or likely to suffer, significant
harm, the local authority is required under s47 of the Children Act 1989 to make enquiries, to
enable it to decide whether it should take any action to safeguard and promote the welfare of the
child.
The Children Act 1989 places a statutory duty on health, education and other services to help the
local authority carry out its social services functions under Part 3 of the Children Act 1989 and
section 47 enquiries. All agencies then have a duty to assist and provide information in support of
child protection enquiries.
Section 44 – Emergency Protection Powers
The court may make an emergency protection order under section 44 of the Children Act 1989, if it
is satisfied that there is reasonable cause to believe that a child is likely to suffer significant harm if
the child:



is not removed to different accommodation provided by the applicant; or
does not remain in the place in which the child is then being accommodated.

Where the applicant is the local authority, an emergency protection order (EPO) may also be
made if enquires (for example, made under section 47) are being frustrated by access to the child
being unreasonably refused to a person authorised to seek access, and the applicant has
reasonable cause to believe that access is needed as a matter of urgency. An emergency
protection order gives authority to remove a child, and place the child under the protection of the
applicant.
Section 20 - Co-operative Agreement Into Care
Some children in need may require accommodation because there is no one who has parental
responsibility for them, because they are lost or abandoned or because the person who has been
caring for them is prevented from providing them with suitable accommodation or care. Under
section 20 of the Children Act 1989, the local authority has a duty to accommodate such children
in need in their area. An Accommodated Child is looked after under Section 20 of the Children
Act. This is a voluntarily arranged, co-operative agreement, between the local authority and the
parents (or the young person if they are aged over 16). The parents retain full parental
responsibility.
Section 31 - Care Orders
Under section 31 of the Children Act 1989, the local authority or any authorised person can apply
to the court for a child or young person to become the subject of a care order. Once a care order is
made, the local authority obtains parental responsibility in addition to the other parental
responsibility holders. Following an application for a care order under section 31A, the local

Agenda Item 9
Page 107

authority, must assess the child’s needs and draw up a care plan (or a proposed care plan) which
sets out the services which will be provided to meet the child’s identified needs.
Both children under Section 20 and those under Section 31 are deemed ‘Looked After Children’
(LAC).
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO)
Section 25B sets out the functions of IROs to improve care planning and secure better outcomes
for looked after children. IROs have responsibility for monitoring the performance by the local
authority of their functions in relation to a child’s case, as well as specific duties in relation to the
review function. There are now two clear and separate aspects to the function of the IRO:



chairing the child’s review; and
monitoring the child’s case on an ongoing basis including whether any safeguarding issues
arise.

The intention is to enable the IRO to have an effective and independent oversight of the child’s
case to ensure that the care plan represents an effective response to the assessed needs of the
child and that progress is being made towards achieving the identified outcomes.
The responsibilities of the IRO include:







ensuring that care plans for looked after children are based on a detailed and informed
assessment, are up to date, effective and provide a real and genuine response to each child’s
needs;
identifying any gaps in the assessment process or provision of service;
offering a safeguard to prevent any ‘drift’ in care planning and the delivery of services;
monitoring the activity of the local authority acting as a good corporate parent in taking all
reasonable steps to ensure that care plans have given proper consideration and weight to the
child’s current views, wishes and feelings and that the child fully understands the implications
of any changes to their care plan; and
making sure that the child understands how an advocate could help and his/her entitlement to
one.

As part of the monitoring function, the IRO also has a duty to monitor the performance of the local
authority’s function as a corporate parent and to identify any areas of poor practice. This should
include identifying patterns of concerns emerging not just around individual children but also more
generally in the collective experience of their looked after children. Where these more general
concerns around service delivery are identified, the IRO should immediately alert senior managers
to these concerns.
Contact arrangements for a child looked after under a care order
Where a child is in care there is a requirement to promote contact with their family and specific
requirements are placed on the local authority in relation to the refusal of contact, departure from
the terms of an order made under section 34 (as regards contact with the child’s family) and
notification, variation or supervision of contact arrangements made under such a section 34 order.
The responsible authority must allow reasonable contact with a child’s parents, any guardian and
any other person with whom s/he was living under a court order immediately before the care order
was made, provided that contact is consistent with the LA’s duty to safeguard and promote the
welfare of the child

Agenda Item 9
Page 108

Section 26A of the Children Act 1989 was inserted by section 119 of the Adoption and
Children Act 2002. The Advocacy Services and Representations Procedure
(Children)(Amendment) Regulations 2004
Advocacy

All local authorities with social services responsibilities should ensure that advocacy services are
provided for children and young people making or intending to make a complaint under section
24D or section 26 of the Children Act 1989.
There are further duties imposed on a local authority to publish information about their services,
maintain registers and to take reasonable steps to reduce the need for care by local authorities.

Children Act 2004
Section 10 Co-operation to improve well-being
(1) Each children’s services authority in England must make arrangements to promote cooperation between—
(a) the authority;
(b) each of the authority’s relevant partners; and
(c) such other persons or bodies as the authority consider appropriate, being persons or bodies of
any nature who exercise functions or are engaged in activities in relation to children in the
authority’s area.
(2) The arrangements are to be made with a view to improving the well-being of children in the
authority’s area so far as relating to—
(a) physical and mental health and emotional well-being;
(b) protection from harm and neglect;
(c) education, training and recreation;
(d) the contribution made by them to society;
(e) social and economic well-being.
(3) In making arrangements under this section a children’s services authority in England must
have regard to the importance of parents and other persons caring for children in improving the
well-being of children.
Section 11(2) of the 2004 Act imposes a duty to make arrangements for ensuring that when
exercising any function in a way which affects a child are discharged having regard to the need to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

Childcare Act 2006
The Childcare Act 2006 imposes general duties upon a local authority in relation to the wellbeing of young children. By section 1(1) an "English local authority must (a) improve the wellbeing of young children in their area and (b) reduce inequalities between young children in their
area in relation to the matters mentioned in sub-section (2)…"
By section 3, specific duties are imposed in relation to early childhood services. By section 3(2)
those are to "…make arrangements to secure that early childhood services in [a local authority's]
area are provided in an integrated manner which is calculated to – (a) facilitate access to those
services, and (b) maximise the benefit of those services to parents, prospective parents and young
children". Further subsections require local authorities to take reasonable steps to encourage

Agenda Item 9
Page 109

parents or prospective parents to take advantage of services. They must also involve parents and
prospective parents, early years providers and other persons engaged in activities which may
improve the well being of young children in the area in the making and implementation of
arrangements under s.3. When deciding what arrangements to make the local authority must
have regard to the quantity and quality of early childhood services available or that the authority
expect to be available in their area, where they are within the area, any information about the
views of young children that is available and any guidance given by the Secretary of State.
By section 5A it is provided that:
"(1) Arrangements made by an English local authority under section 3(2) must, so far as is
reasonably practicable, include arrangements for sufficient provision for children's centres to meet
local need.
(2) "Local need" is the need of parents, prospective parents and young children in the authority's
area."
There are further sections relating to the provision of children’s centres which should be followed.
By Section 5D it is provided that:
"(1) An English local authority must secure that such consultation as they think appropriate is
carried out (a) before making arrangements under section 3(2) for the provision of a children's centre;
(b) before any significant change is made in the services provided through a relevant children's
centre;
(c) before anything is done that would result in a relevant children's centre ceasing to be a
children's centre."
…
(3) For the purposes of this section a change in the manner in which, or the location at which,
services are provided is to be treated as a change in the services.
Section 5A of the 2006 Act is augmented by statutory guidance published by the Secretary of
State. It seeks to emphasise that local authorities should ensure that a network of children's
centres is accessible to all families with young children in their area; that children's centres and
their services are within reasonable reach of all families with young children in urban and rural
areas, taking into account distance and availability of transport; and that opening times and
availability of services meet the needs of families in their area.
Section 6 Duty to secure sufficient childcare for working parents

(1) An English local authority must secure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that the provision of
childcare (whether or not by them) is sufficient to meet the requirements of parents in their area
who require childcare in order to enable them—
(a) to take up, or remain in, work, or
(b) to undertake education or training which could reasonably be expected to assist them to obtain
work.
(2) In determining for the purposes of subsection (1) whether the provision of childcare is sufficient
to meet those requirements, a local authority—
(a) must have regard to the needs of parents in their area for—
(i) the provision of childcare in respect of which the child care element of working tax credit is
payable, and
(ii) the provision of childcare which is suitable for disabled children, and
(b) may have regard to any childcare which they expect to be available outside their area.

Agenda Item 9
Working together to safeguard children 2015 – HM Government

Page 110

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
Early help
Providing early help is more effective in promoting the welfare of children than reacting later. Early
help means providing support as soon as a problem emerges, at any point in a child’s life, from the
foundation years through to the teenage years. Early help can also prevent further problems
arising, for example, if it is provided as part of a support plan where a child has returned home to
their family from care.
Effective early help relies upon local agencies working together to:


identify children and families who would benefit from early help;



undertake an assessment of the need for early help; and



provide targeted early help services to address the assessed needs of a child and their family
which focuses on activity to significantly improve the outcomes for the child. Local authorities,
under section 10 of the Children Act 2004, have a responsibility to promote inter-agency
cooperation to improve the welfare of children

Identifying children and families who would benefit from early help
Local agencies should have in place effective ways to identify emerging problems and potential
unmet needs for individual children and families. This requires all professionals, including those in
universal services and those providing services to adults with children, to understand their role in
identifying emerging problems and to share information with other professionals to support early
identification and assessment.
Professionals should, in particular, be alert to the potential need for early help for a child who:








is disabled and has specific additional needs;
has special educational needs;
is a young carer;
is showing signs of engaging in anti-social or criminal behaviour;
is in a family circumstance presenting challenges for the child, such as substance abuse, adult
mental health problems and domestic violence;
has returned home to their family from care; and/or
is showing early signs of abuse and/or neglect.

Provision of effective early help services
The early help assessment carried out for an individual child and their family should be clear about
the action to be taken and services to be provided (including any relevant timescales for the
assessment) and aim to ensure that early help services are coordinated and not delivered in a
piecemeal way.
Local areas should have a range of effective, evidence-based services in place to address
assessed needs early. The early help on offer should draw upon the local assessment of need and
the latest evidence of the effectiveness of early help and early intervention programmes. In
addition to high quality support in universal services, specific local early help services will typically
include family and parenting programmes, assistance with health issues and help for problems
relating to drugs, alcohol and domestic violence. Services may also focus on improving family
functioning and building the family’s own capability to solve problems; this should be done within a
structured, evidence-based framework involving regular review to ensure that real progress is
being made. Some of these services may be delivered to parents but should always be evaluated
to demonstrate the impact they are having on the outcomes for the child.

Agenda Item 9
Page 111
EDUCATION FUNCTIONS OF LOCAL AUTHORITIES
The Education Act 1996 (as amended) outlines a number of specific duties and powers of the
local authority as follows:

13A Duty to promote high standards and fulfilment of potential
(1) A local authority in England must ensure that their relevant education functions and their
relevant training functions are (so far as they are capable of being so exercised) exercised by
the authority with a view to-(a) promoting high standards,
(b) ensuring fair access to opportunity for education and training, and
(c) promoting the fulfilment of learning potential by every person to whom this subsection
applies.
(2) Subsection (1) applies to the following-(a) persons under the age of 20;
(b) persons aged 20 or over and for whom an EHC plan is maintained.
…
(5)

In this section--

"education" and "training" have the same meanings as in section 15ZA;
"relevant education function", in relation to a local authority in England, means a function
relating to the provision of education for-(a) persons of compulsory school age (whether at school or otherwise);
(b) persons (whether at school or otherwise) who are over compulsory school age and to
whom subsection (1) applies;
(c) persons who are under compulsory school age and are registered as pupils at
schools maintained by the authority;
…
"relevant training function" means a function relating to the provision of training.
S.14 of the Education Act 1996 places a duty on the local authority to secure that sufficient
schools are available for the provision of appropriate primary and secondary education.
S.14(3A) requires that a local authority exercises its functions in respect of the provision of
primary and secondary schools with a view to:
“(a) securing diversity in the provision of schools, and
(b) increasing opportunities for parental choice.”
14A Duty of local education authority to consider parental representations
(1) Where a local authority in England receive any representation from a parent of a qualifying
child as to the exercise by the authority of their functions under section 14, the authority shall—
(a) consider the representation and what action (if any) to take in response to it, and
(b) within a reasonable time provide the parent with a statement setting out—
(i) any action which the authority propose to take in response to the representation, or
(ii) where the authority are of the opinion that no such action is necessary, their reasons for being
of that opinion.

Agenda Item 9
Page 112

Sections 15A and 18A of the Education Act 1996 (and Part 3 of the Children and Families Act
2014 – see below) requires local authorities to secure sufficient suitable education and training
provision for all young people in their area who are over compulsory school age but under 19 or
aged 19 to 25 and for whom an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan is maintained.
436A Duty to make arrangements to identify children not receiving education

(1) A local education authority must make arrangements to enable them to establish (so far as it is
possible to do so) the identities of children in their area who are of compulsory school age but—
(a) are not registered pupils at a school, and
(b) are not receiving suitable education otherwise than at a school.
(2) In exercising their functions under this section a local authority must have regard to any
guidance given from time to time by the Secretary of State.
(3) In this Chapter, “suitable education”, in relation to a child, means efficient full-time education
suitable to his age, ability and aptitude and to any special educational needs he may have.
507A LEAs in England: functions in respect of recreational and training facilities for
children under 13
(1) A local authority in England must secure that the facilities for primary and secondary education
provided for their area include adequate facilities for recreation and social and physical training for
children who have not attained the age of 13.
(2) For the purposes of subsection (1) a local authority may—
(a) establish, maintain and manage, or assist the establishment, maintenance and management
of—
(i) camps, holiday classes, playing fields, play centres, and
(ii) other places, including playgrounds, gymnasiums and swimming baths not appropriated to any
school or other educational institution,
at which facilities for recreation and social and physical training are available for persons receiving
primary or secondary education;
(b) organise games, expeditions and other activities for such persons; and
(c) defray, or contribute towards, the expenses of such games, expeditions and other activities.
(3) When making arrangements for the provision of facilities or the organisation of activities in the
exercise of their powers under subsection (2), a local authority must, in particular, have regard to
the expediency of co-operating with any voluntary societies or bodies whose objects include the
provision of facilities or the organisation of activities of a similar character.
507B Local Authorities
(1) A local authority in England must, so far as reasonably practicable, secure for qualifying young
persons in the authority’s area access to—
(a) sufficient educational leisure-time activities which are for the improvement of their well-being,
and sufficient facilities for such activities; and
(b) sufficient recreational leisure-time activities which are for the improvement of their well-being,
and sufficient facilities for such activities.
(2) “Qualifying young persons”, for the purposes of this section, are—
(a) persons who have attained the age of 13 but not the age of 20; and
(b) persons who have attained the age of 20 but not the age of 25 and have a learning difficulty or
disability (within the meaning of section 15ZA(6)(a) and (7)).

Agenda Item 9
Page 113

(3) For the purposes of subsection (1)(a)—
(a) “sufficient educational leisure-time activities” which are for the improvement of the well-being of
qualifying young persons in the authority's area must include sufficient educational leisure-time
activities which are for the improvement of their personal and social development, and
(b) “sufficient facilities for such activities” must include sufficient facilities for educational leisuretime activities which are for the improvement of the personal and social development of qualifying
young persons in the authority's area.
(4) References in the remaining provisions of this section to “positive leisure-time activities” are
references to any activities falling within paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection (1).
(5) For the purposes of subsection (1) a local authority may—
(a) provide facilities for positive leisure-time activities;
(b) assist others in the provision of such facilities;
(c) make arrangements for facilitating access for qualifying young persons to such facilities;
(d) organise positive leisure-time activities;
(e) assist others in the organisation of such activities;
(f) make arrangements for facilitating access for qualifying young persons to such activities;
(g) enter into agreements or make arrangements with any person in connection with anything
done or proposed to be done under any of paragraphs (a) to (f);
(h) take any other action which the authority think appropriate.
(6) For the purposes of subsection (5)—
(a) the provision mentioned in paragraph (a) may include establishing, maintaining and managing
places at which facilities for positive leisure-time activities are provided;
(b) the assistance mentioned in paragraphs (b) and (e) may include the provision of financial
assistance;
(c) the arrangements mentioned in paragraphs (c) and (f) may include the provision of transport, of
financial assistance or of information to any person.
(7) Before taking any action for the purposes of subsection (1) (“the proposed action”), a local
authority must—
(a) consider whether it is expedient for the proposed action to be taken by another person, and
(b) where the authority consider that it is so expedient, take all reasonable steps to enter into an
agreement or make arrangements with such a person for that purpose.
(8) For the purposes of subsection (7)(a) a local authority must consult such persons as the
authority think appropriate as to whether it is expedient for the proposed action to be taken by
another person.
(9) In exercising their functions under this section a local authority must—
(a) take steps to ascertain the views of qualifying young persons in the authority’s area about—
(i) positive leisure-time activities, and facilities for such activities, in the authority’s area;
(ii) the need for any additional such activities and facilities;
and
(iii) access to such activities and facilities; and
(b) secure that the views of qualifying young persons in the authority’s area are taken into account.
(10) A local authority in England must—
(a) publicise information about positive leisure-time activities, and facilities for such activities, in
the authority’s area, and
(b) keep the information publicised under paragraph (a) up to date.
(11) A local authority may charge in respect of anything provided by the authority under this
section where the provision is to a qualifying young person (whether or not in the authority’s area).
(12) In exercising their functions under this section a local authority must have regard to any
guidance given from time to time by the Secretary of State.
(13) In this section—
“recreation” includes physical training (and “recreational” is to be construed accordingly);
“sufficient”, in relation to activities or facilities, means sufficient having regard to quantity;
“well-being”, in relation to a person, means his well-being so far as relating to—
(a) physical and mental health and emotional well-being;
(b) protection from harm and neglect;

Agenda Item 9
(c) education, training and recreation;
(d) the contribution made by him to society;
(e) social and economic well-being.”

Page 114

508A Local authorities
(1) A local authority in England must—
(a) prepare for each academic year a document containing their strategy to promote the use of
sustainable modes of travel to meet the school travel needs of their area (“a sustainable modes of
travel strategy”),
(b) publish the strategy in such manner and by such time as may be prescribed, and
(c) promote the use of sustainable modes of travel to meet the school travel needs of their area.
(2) Before preparing a sustainable modes of travel strategy, an authority must in particular—
(a) assess the school travel needs of their area, and
(b) assess the facilities and services for sustainable modes of travel to, from and within their area.
(3) “Sustainable modes of travel” are modes of travel which the authority consider may improve
either or both of the following—
(a) the physical well-being of those who use them;
(b) the environmental well-being of the whole or a part of their area.
(4) The “school travel needs” of a local authority's area are—
(a) the needs of children and persons of sixth form age in the authority's area as regards travel
mentioned in subsection (5), and
(b) the needs of other children and persons of sixth form age as regards travel mentioned in
subsection (6).
(5) The needs of children and persons of sixth form age in the authority's area as regards travel
referred to in subsection (4)(a) are their needs as regards travel to and from—
(a) schools at which they receive or are to receive education or training,
(b) institutions within the further education sector, or 16 to 19 Academies, at which they receive or
are to receive education or training, or
(c) any other places where they receive or are to receive education by virtue of arrangements
made in pursuance of section 19(1).
(6) The needs of other children and persons of sixth form age as regards travel referred to in
subsection (4)(b) are their needs as regards travel to and from—
(a) schools at which they receive or are to receive education or training,
(b) institutions within the further education sector, or 16 to 19 Academies, at which they receive or
are to receive education or training, or
(c) any other places where they receive or are to receive education by virtue of arrangements
made in pursuance of section 19(1),
in so far as that travel relates to travel within the authority's area.
(7) The Secretary of State must issue, and may from time to time revise, guidance in relation to
the discharge by a local authority of their duties under this section.
…
(9) In discharging their duties under this section an authority must—
(a) consult such persons as they consider appropriate, and
(b) have regard to any guidance given from time to time by the Secretary of State under
subsection (7).
(10) References in this section to persons of sixth form age are to be construed in accordance with
subsection (1) of section 509AC.
(11) In this section, “academic year” has the same meaning as in section 509AC in the case of
local authorities in England.
The Education and Skills Act 2008 (as updated)
This Act requires local authorities to make available to all young people aged 13-19 and those
between 20-25 with special educational needs and disabilities, support that will encourage, enable
or assist them to participate in education or training under s.68 of the Act (ie a duty to make

Agenda Item 9
Page 115

available such services as considered appropriate to encourage, enable or assist the effective
participation of those persons in education or training).

The Act also places duties on local authorities to promote the effective participation in education
and training of 16 and 17 year olds in their area with a view to ensuring that those persons fulfil the
duty to participate in education or training (s.10 Education and Skills Act 2008) and to also identify
those 16 and 17 year olds who are not participating in education or training (s.12 Education and
Skills Act 2008).
Duties under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 include:
60 Performance standards and safety warning notice
(1) A maintained school is by virtue of this section eligible for intervention if—
(a) a relevant authority have given the governing body a warning notice in accordance with
subsection (2),
(b) the period for compliance specified in the notice (“the compliance period”) has expired,
(c) the governing body have failed to comply, or secure compliance, with the notice to the relevant
authority's satisfaction by the end of the compliance period, and
(d) the relevant authority have given reasonable notice in writing to the governing body that the
authority proposes to exercise the authority's powers under any one or more of sections 63 to 69
(whether or not the notice is combined with a notice under section 62(2A)(c) of SSFA 1998).
(2) A relevant authority may give a warning notice to the governing body of a maintained school
where the authority are satisfied—
(a) that the standards of performance of pupils at the school are unacceptably low, and are likely
to remain so unless the authority exercise their powers under this Part, or
(b) that there has been a serious breakdown in the way the school is managed or governed which
is prejudicing, or likely to prejudice, such standards of performance, or
(c) that the safety of pupils or staff of the school is threatened (whether by a breakdown of
discipline or otherwise).
(3) For the purposes of subsection (2)(a) the standards of performance of pupils at a school are
low if they are low by reference to any one or more of the following—
(a) the standards that the pupils might in all the circumstances reasonably be expected to attain,
(b) where relevant, the standards previously attained by them, or
(c) the standards attained by pupils at comparable schools.
(4) For the purposes of this section a “warning notice” is a notice in writing by the relevant
authority setting out—
(a) the matters on which the conclusion mentioned in subsection (2) is based,
(b) the action which they require the governing body to take in order to remedy those matters,
(c) the compliance period for the purposes of subsection (1)(c), and
(d) the action which the relevant authority are minded to take (under one or more of sections 63 to
69 or otherwise) if the governing body fail to take the required action.
(4A) If a local authority are notified that the Secretary of State has given a warning notice to the
governing body of a maintained school the local authority may not give a warning notice unless or
until the Secretary of State informs them that they may.
(4B) If the Secretary of State gives a warning notice to the governing body of a maintained school,
any earlier warning notice given to the maintained school by the local authority ceases to have
effect from that time.
…
(6) The relevant authority must, at the same time as giving the governing body the warning notice,
give a copy of the notice to each of the following persons—
(a) the Chief Inspector,
(b) the head teacher of the school,
(c) in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church school, the appropriate
diocesan authority, and

Agenda Item 9
Page 116

(d) in the case of a foundation or voluntary school, the person who appoints the foundation
governors.
(6A) If a local authority give a warning notice to the governing body of a maintained school they
must, at the same time, give a copy of it to the Secretary of State.
(6B) If the Secretary of State gives a warning notice to the governing body of a maintained school
the Secretary of State must, at the same time, give a copy of it to the local authority.
(10) In this section “relevant authority” means—
(a) the local authority, or
(b) the Secretary of State.
63 Power of local authority to require governing body to enter into arrangements

(1) If at any time a maintained school is eligible for intervention other than by virtue of section 60A,
then (subject to subsection (3)) the local authority may, with a view to improving the performance
of the school, give the governing body of the school a notice requiring the governing body—
(a) to enter into a contract or other arrangement with a specified person (who may be the
governing body of another school) for the provision to the governing body of specified services of
an advisory nature,
(b) to make specified arrangements authorised by section 26 of EA 2002 (collaboration between
schools) with the governing body of such other school as may be specified,
(c) to make specified arrangements authorised by regulations under section 166 of this Act
(collaboration arrangements: maintained schools and further education bodies) with a further
education body within the
meaning of that section, or
(d) to take specified steps for the purpose of creating or joining a federation, as defined by section
24(2) of EA 2002.
(2) Before exercising the power conferred by subsection (1), the local authority must consult—
(a) the governing body of the school,
(b) in the case of a foundation or voluntary school which is a Church of England school or a
Roman Catholic Church school, the appropriate diocesan authority, and
(c) in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school, the person or persons by whom the
foundation governors are appointed.
(3) Where the school is eligible for intervention by virtue of section 60 (school subject to
performance standards and safety warning), the power conferred by subsection (1) is only
exercisable within the period of two months following the end of the compliance period (as defined
by section 60(1)(b)).
(4) A notice under subsection (1)(a) may require the contract or other arrangement to contain
specified terms and conditions.
64 Power of local authority etc. to appoint additional governors
(1) If at any time a maintained school is eligible for intervention, then (subject to subsection (2))
the local authority may appoint such number of additional governors as they think fit.
Subsection (2) relates to when the power can be exercised.
There are further requirements relating to the exercise of intervention powers contained within the
Act.
Children and Families Act 2014
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN ENGLAND WITH SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS OR
DISABILITIES
19 Local authority functions: supporting and involving children and young people
In exercising a function under this Part in the case of a child or young person, a local authority in
England must have regard to the following matters in particular—

Agenda Item 9
Page 117
(a) the views, wishes and feelings of the child and his or her parent, or the young person;
(b) the importance of the child and his or her parent, or the young person, participating as fully as
possible in decisions relating to the exercise of the function concerned;
(c) the importance of the child and his or her parent, or the young person, being provided with the
information and support necessary to enable participation in those decisions;
(d) the need to support the child and his or her parent, or the young person, in order to facilitate
the development of the child or young person and to help him or her achieve the best possible
educational and other outcomes.
22 Identifying children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities
A local authority in England must exercise its functions with a view to securing that it identifies—
(a) all the children and young people in its area who have or may have special educational needs,
and
(b) all the children and young people in its area who have a disability
24 When a local authority is responsible for a child or young person
(1) A local authority in England is responsible for a child or young person if he or she is in the
authority’s area and has been—
(a) identified by the authority as someone who has or may have special educational needs, or
(b) brought to the authority’s attention by any person as someone who has or may have special
educational needs.
25 Promoting integration
(1) A local authority in England must exercise its functions under this Part with a view to ensuring
the integration of educational provision and training provision with health care provision and social
care provision, where it thinks that this would—
(a) promote the well-being of children or young people in its area who have special educational
needs or a disability, or
(b) improve the quality of special educational provision—
(i) made in its area for children or young people who have special educational needs, or
(ii) made outside its area for children or young people for whom it is responsible who have special
educational needs.
(2) The reference in subsection (1) to the well-being of children and young people is to their wellbeing so far as relating to—
(a) physical and mental health and emotional well-being;
(b) protection from abuse and neglect;
(c) control by them over their day-to-day lives;
(d) participation in education, training or recreation;
(e) social and economic well-being;
(f) domestic, family and personal relationships;
(g) the contribution made by them to society.
26 Joint commissioning arrangements
(1) A local authority in England and its partner commissioning bodies must make arrangements
(“joint commissioning arrangements”) about the education, health and care provision to be
secured for—
(a) children and young people for whom the authority is responsible who have special educational
needs, and

Agenda Item 9
Page 118

(b) children and young people in the authority’s area who have a disability.
(2) In this Part “education, health and care provision” means—
(a) special educational provision;
(b) health care provision;
(c) social care provision.
(3) Joint commissioning arrangements must include arrangements for considering and agreeing—
(a) the education, health and care provision reasonably required by—
(i) the learning difficulties and disabilities which result in the children and young people within
subsection (1)(a) having special educational needs, and
(ii) the disabilities of the children and young people within subsection (1)(b);
(b) what education, health and care provision is to be secured;
(c) by whom education, health and care provision is to be secured;
(d) what advice and information is to be provided about education, health and care provision;
(e) by whom, to whom and how such advice and information is to be provided;
(f) how complaints about education, health and care provision may be made and are to be dealt
with;
(g) procedures for ensuring that disputes between the parties to the joint commissioning
arrangements are resolved as quickly as possible.
(4) Joint commissioning arrangements about securing education, health and care provision must
in particular include arrangements for—
(a) securing EHC needs assessments;
(b) securing the education, health and care provision specified in EHC plans;
(c) agreeing personal budgets under section 49.
(5) Joint commissioning arrangements may also include other provision.
(6) The parties to joint commissioning arrangements must—
(a) have regard to them in the exercise of their functions, and
(b) keep them under review.
(7) Section 116B of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (duty to
have regard to assessment of relevant needs and joint health and wellbeing strategy) applies in
relation to functions exercisable under this section.
(8) A local authority's “partner commissioning bodies” are—
(a) the National Health Service Commissioning Board, to the extent that it is under a duty under
section 3B of the National Health Service Act 2006 to arrange for the provision of services or
facilities for—
(i) any children and young people for whom the authority is responsible who have special
educational needs, or
(ii) any children and young people in the authority's area who have a disability, and
(b) each clinical commissioning group that is under a duty under section 3 of that Act to arrange
for the provision of services or facilities for any children and young people within paragraph (a).
(9) Regulations may prescribe circumstances in which a clinical commissioning group that would
otherwise be a partner commissioning body of a local authority by virtue of subsection (8)(b) is to
be treated as not being a partner commissioning body of the authority.
27 Duty to keep education and care provision under review
(1) A local authority in England must keep under review—
(a) the educational provision, training provision and social care provision made in its area for
children and young people who have special educational needs or a disability, and
(b) the educational provision, training provision and social care provision made outside its area
for—
(i) children and young people for whom it is responsible who have special educational needs, and
(ii) children and young people in its area who have a disability.
(2) The authority must consider the extent to which the provision referred to in subsection (1)(a)
and (b) is sufficient to meet the educational needs, training needs and social care needs of the
children and young people concerned.

Agenda Item 9
Page 119

(3) In exercising its functions under this section, the authority must consult—
(a) children and young people in its area with special educational needs, and the parents of
children in its area with special educational needs;
(b) children and young people in its area who have a disability, and the parents of children in its
area who have a disability;
(c) the governing bodies of maintained schools and maintained nursery schools in its area;
(d) the proprietors of Academies in its area;
(e) the governing bodies, proprietors or principals of post-16 institutions in its area;
(f) the governing bodies of non-maintained special schools in its area;
(g) the advisory boards of children's centres in its area;
(h) the providers of relevant early years education in its area;
(i) the governing bodies, proprietors or principals of other schools and post-16 institutions in
England and Wales that the authority thinks are or are likely to be attended by—
(i) children or young people for whom it is responsible, or
(ii) children or young people in its area who have a disability;
(j) a youth offending team that the authority thinks has functions in relation to—
(i) children or young people for whom it is responsible, or
(ii) children or young people in its area who have a disability;
(k) such other persons as the authority thinks appropriate.
(4) Section 116B of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (duty to
have regard to assessment of relevant needs and joint health and wellbeing strategy) applies in
relation to functions exercisable under this section.
(5) “Children's centre” has the meaning given by section 5A(4) of the Childcare Act 2006.
28 Co-operating generally: local authority functions

(1) A local authority in England must co-operate with each of its local partners, and each local
partner must co-operate with the authority, in the exercise of the authority's functions under this
Part.
(2) Each of the following is a local partner of a local authority in England for this purpose—
(a) where the authority is a county council for an area for which there is also a district council, the
district council;
(b) the governing body of a maintained school or maintained nursery school that is maintained by
the authority or provides education or training for children or young people for whom the authority
is responsible;
(c) the proprietor of an Academy that is in the authority's area or provides education or training for
children or young people for whom the authority is responsible;
(d) the proprietor of a non-maintained special school that is in the authority's area or provides
education or training for children or young people for whom the authority is responsible;
(e) the governing body of an institution within the further education sector that is in the authority's
area, or is attended, or likely to be attended, by children or young people for whom the authority is
responsible;
(f) the management committee of a pupil referral unit that is in the authority's area, or is in England
and is or is likely to be attended by children or young people for whom the authority is responsible;
(g) the proprietor of an institution approved by the Secretary of State under section 41
(independent special schools and special post 16 institutions: approval) that is in the authority's
area, or is attended, or likely to be attended, by children or young people for whom the authority is
responsible;
(h) any other person (other than a school or post-16 institution) that makes special educational
provision for a child or young person for whom the authority is responsible;
(i) a youth offending team that the authority thinks has functions in relation to children or young
people for whom it is responsible;
(j) a person in charge of relevant youth accommodation—
(i) in which there are detained persons aged 18 or under for whom the authority was responsible
immediately before the beginning of their detention, or

Agenda Item 9
Page 120

(ii) that the authority thinks is accommodation in which such persons are likely to be detained;
(k) the National Health Service Commissioning Board;
(l) a clinical commissioning group—
(i) whose area coincides with, or falls wholly or partly within, the authority's area, or
(ii) which is under a duty under section 3 of the National Health Service Act 2006 to arrange for the
provision of services or facilities for any children and young people for whom the authority is
responsible;
(m) an NHS trust or NHS foundation trust which provides services in the authority's area, or which
exercises functions in relation to children or young people for whom the authority is responsible;
(n) a Local Health Board which exercises functions in relation to children or young people for
whom the authority is responsible.
(3) A local authority in England must make arrangements for ensuring co-operation between—
(a) the officers of the authority who exercise the authority's functions relating to education or
training,
(b) the officers of the authority who exercise the authority's social services functions for children or
young people with special educational needs, and
(c) the officers of the authority, so far as they are not officers within paragraph (a) or (b), who
exercise the authority's functions relating to provision which is within section 30(2)(e) (provision to
assist in preparing children and young people for adulthood and independent living).
(4) Regulations may prescribe circumstances in which a clinical commissioning group that would
otherwise be a local partner of a local authority by virtue of subsection (2)(l)(ii) is to be treated as
not being a local partner of the authority.
29 Co-operating generally: governing body functions
(1) This section applies where an appropriate authority for a school or post-16 institution
mentioned in subsection (2) has functions under this Part.
(2) The schools and post-16 institutions referred to in subsection (1) are—
(a) mainstream schools;
(b) maintained nursery schools;
(c) 16 to 19 Academies;
(d) institutions within the further education sector;
(e) pupil referral units;
(f) alternative provision Academies.
(3) The appropriate authority must co-operate with each responsible local authority, and each
responsible local authority must co-operate with the appropriate authority, in the exercise of those
functions.
(4) A responsible local authority, in relation to an appropriate authority for a school or post-16
institution mentioned in subsection (2), is a local authority in England that is responsible for any
child or young person who is a registered pupil or a student at the school or post-16 institution.
(5) The “appropriate authority” for a school or post-16 institution is—
(a) in the case of a maintained school, maintained nursery school, or institution within the further
education sector, the governing body;
(b) in the case of an Academy, the proprietor;
(c) in the case of a pupil referral unit, the management committee.
30 Local offer
(1) A local authority in England must publish information about—
(a) the provision within subsection (2) it expects to be available in its area at the time of publication
for children and young people who have special educational needs or a disability, and
(b) the provision within subsection (2) it expects to be available outside its area at that time for—
(i) children and young people for whom it is responsible, and
(ii) children and young people in its area who have a disability.

Agenda Item 9
Page 121

(2) The provision for children and young people referred to in subsection (1) is—
(a) education, health and care provision;
(b) other educational provision;
(c) other training provision;
(d) arrangements for travel to and from schools and post-16 institutions and places at which
relevant early years education is provided;
(e) provision to assist in preparing children and young people for adulthood and independent
living.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (2)(e), provision to assist in preparation for adulthood and
independent living includes provision relating to—
(a) finding employment;
(b) obtaining accommodation;
(c) participation in society.
(4) Information required to be published by an authority under this section is to be known as its
“local offer”.
(5) A local authority must keep its local offer under review and may from time to time revise it.
(6) A local authority must from time to time publish—
(a) comments about its local offer it has received from or on behalf of—
(i) children and young people with special educational needs, and the parents of children with
special educational needs, and
(ii) children and young people who have a disability, and the parents of children who have a
disability, and
(b) the authority's response to those comments (including details of any action the authority
intends to take).
(7) Comments published under subsection (6)(a) must be published in a form that does not enable
the person making them to be identified.
(8) Regulations may make provision about—
(a) the information to be included in an authority's local offer;
(b) how an authority's local offer is to be published;
(c) who is to be consulted by an authority in preparing and reviewing its local offer;
(d) how an authority is to involve—
(i) children and young people with special educational needs, and the parents of children with
special educational needs, and
(ii) children and young people who have a disability, and the parents of children who have a
disability,
in the preparation and review of its local offer;
(e) the publication of comments on the local offer, and the local authority's response, under
subsection (6) (including circumstances in which comments are not required to be published).
(9) The regulations may in particular require an authority's local offer to include—
(a) information about how to obtain an EHC needs assessment;
(b) information about other sources of information, advice and support for—
(i) children and young people with special educational needs and those who care for them, and
(ii) children and young people who have a disability and those who care for them;
(c) information about gaining access to provision additional to, or different from, the provision
mentioned in subsection (2);
(d) information about how to make a complaint about provision mentioned in subsection (2).

Agenda Item 9
Page 122
32 Advice and information
(1) A local authority in England must arrange for children and young people for whom it is
responsible, and the parents of children for whom it is responsible, to be provided with advice and
information about matters relating to the special educational needs of the children or young people
concerned.
(2) A local authority in England must arrange for children and young people in its area with a
disability, and the parents of children in its area with a disability, to be provided with advice and
information about matters relating to the disabilities of the children or young people concerned.
(3) The authority must take such steps as it thinks appropriate for making the services provided
under subsections (1) and (2) known to—
(a) the parents of children in its area;
(b) children in its area;
(c) young people in its area;
(d) the head teachers, proprietors and principals of schools and post-16 institutions in its area.
(4) The authority may also take such steps as it thinks appropriate for making the services
provided under subsections (1) and (2) known to such other persons as it thinks appropriate.
Powers and duties relating to the assessment, preparation and finalising an EHC plan and the
provision of services under an EHC plan are detailed in Part 3 of the Children and Families Act
2014 including sections 33 to 48.
Academies Act 2010
S5B provides that where a school is subject to an academy order the governing body and its
relevant local authority must work towards the school’s successful conversion into an academy by
taking all reasonable steps necessary.

Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 (‘the 1999 Act’)
Section 3(1) of the 1999 Act imposes a duty on a local authority to ‘make arrangements to
secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness’.
Section 3(2) requires a local authority to consult various people ‘for the purpose of’ deciding how
to fulfil the duty imposed by section 3(1). In deciding how to fulfil that duty, and in making
decisions about consultation, a local authority must have regard to guidance issued by Secretary
of State.
The statutory guidance is short. It is aimed specifically at, and ‘sets out clear expectations for’
councils which are ‘considering changing funding to local voluntary or community groups’.
Paragraph 7 of the guidance says that ‘Authorities should seek to avoid passing on
disproportionate reductions – by not passing on larger reductions to the voluntary and
community sector and small businesses as a whole than they take on’.

The Statutory Framework for Care Planning

Agenda Item 9
Page 123

as detailed in statutory guidance: The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations
Volume 2: care planning, placement and case review Issued by the Department of Education June
2015

Equality Act 2010 Duties

Agenda Item 9
Page 124
Any proposals which relate to a change to e-forms or a change to the processes/procedures
(including electronic) the need to ensure universal access to all service users remains and
appropriate impact assessments and actions should be taken to ensure the Equality Act 2010 is
complied with.
Charging for Services
There are various general powers to carry out and charge for discretionary services provided to
external bodies and to service users:
S.111 Local Government Act 1972 allows the Council to do anything “which is calculated to
facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of [its] functions” and S.1 Local
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 allows local authorities to trade with other public bodies
by agreement.
The Local Government Act 2003 allows the Council to charge for discretionary services unless
expressly prohibited from doing so (S.93) although it also limits the power to ensure that the
income from such charges does not exceed the cost of provision.
In addition, the Localism Act 2011 gives Local Authorities the power to do anything which an
individual would be able to do provided the Local Authority is not otherwise prohibited from taking
such action (the general power of competence).
The Localism Act also gives the power to charge for any services provided under the general
power of competence although the charges made should not exceed the cost of provision of those
services.
The basis of the power to provide and charge for a service should be determined so the
appropriate charges can be calculated correctly according to the relevant legislation.

Agenda Item 9
Page 125
Statutory Requirements - Community Services
Transport - The Transport Acts 1985 and 2008,
Section 57 Passenger Transport Areas, Authorities and Executives.
9A General functions of Passenger Transport Authorities and Executives.
(1) It shall be the duty of the Authority for any passenger transport area to formulate from time to
time general policies with respect to the descriptions of public passenger transport services
they consider it appropriate for the Executive for their area to secure for the purpose of meeting
any public transport requirements within their area which in the view of the Authority would not
be met apart from any action taken by the Executive for that purpose.
(2) The Authority shall seek and have regard to the advice of the Executive for their area in
formulating their policies under subsection (1) of this section.
(3) It shall be the duty of the Executive for any passenger transport area to secure the provision of
such public passenger transport services as they consider it appropriate to secure for meeting
any public transport requirements within their area in accordance with policies formulated by
the Authority for their area under subsection (1) of this section.
(4) The Executive shall have power to enter into an agreement providing for service subsidies for
the purpose of securing the provision of any service under subsection (3) of this section; but
their power to do so—
(a) shall be exercisable only where the service in question would not be provided without subsidy;
and
(b) is subject to sections 89 to 92 of the Transport Act 1985 (tendering for local services, etc.).
(5) Where it appears to the Authority for any passenger transport area that it would be appropriate
for the Executive for that area to take any measures for the purpose of or in connection with
promoting, so far as relates to that area—
(a) the availability of public passenger transport services other than subsidised services and the
operation of such services, in conjunction with each other and with any available subsidised
services, so as to meet any public transport requirements the Authority consider it appropriate to
meet; or
(b) the convenience of the public (including persons who are elderly or disabled) in using all
available public passenger transport services (whether subsidised or not);
the Authority may from time to time formulate general policies with respect to the description of
such measures to be taken by the Executive for that area, and the Executive shall take such
measures for the purpose or in the connection mentioned above as appear to them to be
appropriate for carrying out those policies.
(6) It shall be the duty—
(a) of the Authority for any passenger transport area, in formulating any such policies; and
(b) of the Executive for any passenger transport area, in carrying out any such policies; so to
conduct themselves as not to inhibit competition between persons providing or seeking to provide
public passenger transport services in their area.
(7) It shall be the duty both of the Authority and of the Executive for any passenger transport area,
in exercising or performing any of their functions under the preceding provisions of this section, to
have regard to the transport needs of members of the public who are elderly or disabled.

Agenda Item 9
Page 126
The Travel Concessions (Eligibility) Act 2002
The Council has a duty as a Travel Concession Authorities (TCA) under the Transport Act 2000
and the Travel Concessions (Eligibility) Act 2002 to issue statutory travel concession permits, on
request and without charge, to older people on public passenger transport (until 31 March 2010
this was defined as aged 60, but is now tied to the date at which a woman of the applicant’s age
would be eligible to receive a state pension) and disabled people. Originally applying to travel
within the Council’s area, from April 2008 this was extended to apply to travel throughout England.

School Transport
Section 508B of the Education Act 1996 requires local authorities to make such school travel
arrangements as they consider necessary for children within their area, for the purpose of
facilitating the attendance of persons (not of sixth form age) receiving education or training at an
institution. Such arrangements must be provided free of charge.
“Statutory walking distance” is two miles for children aged under eight, and three miles for children
aged eight and over. The measurement of the “statutory walking distance” is not necessarily the
shortest distance by road. It is measured by the shortest route along which a child, accompanied
as necessary, may walk with reasonable safety. As such, the route measured may include
footpaths, bridleways, and other pathways, as well as recognised roads.
Section 508C of the Act gives local authorities discretionary powers to make school travel
arrangements for other children not covered by section 508B. Such transport does not have to
be provided free of charge.
Examples of other bodies or persons making travel arrangements might include: a parent
consenting to use of their car in return for a mileage allowance; a school, or group of schools
reaching an agreement with a local authority to provide transport in minibuses owned by the
school; or a transport authority providing free passes for all children on public transport.
Subsection (4) of 508B and 508C of the Act list some of the travel and transport arrangements that
may be made. These might include: provision of a seat on a bus or minibus provided by the local
authority; provision of a seat in a taxi where more individualised arrangements are necessary; and
provision of a pass for a public service bus, or other means of public transport.
On condition that the relevant parental consent has been obtained by the local authority, a
number of allowances and other arrangements might be considered to meet the local authority
duty relating to travel arrangements. Examples include:




a mileage allowance paid to a parent driving their “eligible child” to school in lieu of the local
authority making arrangements for a taxi to transport the child;
a cycling allowance paid by the local authority where the parent agreed for their child to cycle
to and from school instead of catching a bus for, say a three mile journey; and
local authority provision of an escort to enable a child with SEN to walk a short distance to
school in reasonable safety, instead of making arrangements for a taxi to take them to and
from school.

Some children with SEN and/or a disability may, by reason of their SEN and/or disability, be
unable to walk even relatively short distances to school. Similarly, children with a mobility problem
caused, for example, by a temporary medical condition such as a broken leg, may also be unable
to walk to school.
Where such children attend a qualifying school, which is within “statutory walking distance”, and
no suitable arrangements have been made by the Local Authority for enabling them to become a
registered pupil at a qualifying school nearer to their home, they will be “eligible children”. This

Agenda Item 9
Page 127

means that local authorities must make suitable travel arrangements for children with SEN, a
disability, or mobility problem (including temporary medical conditions) if their SEN, disability, or
mobility problem means that they could not reasonably be expected to walk to the school (or other
place where they might be receiving education under section 19(1) of the Act.

Where children live within “statutory walking distance” of their nearest qualifying school (or other
place where education is provided under section 19(1)), local authorities will be under a duty to
make travel arrangements where the nature of the route is such that a child can not reasonably be
expected to walk (accompanied as necessary) in reasonable safety.
SEND Code of Practice 2015
Transport can be an important factor in the support for children and young people with SEN or
disabilities. The Local Offer must include information about arrangements for transport provision,
including for those up to age 25 with an EHC plan, and this should include local authorities’ policy
statements.
Local authorities must ensure that suitable travel arrangements are made where necessary to
facilitate an eligible child’s attendance at school.
Local authorities must publish a transport policy statement each year setting out the travel
arrangements they will make to support young people aged 16-19 and learners with learning
difficulties and/or disabilities (LDD) aged up to 25, to access further education. This should include
any arrangements for free or subsidised transport
Post 16
The Education Act 1996 and the Apprenticeship, Skills, Children and Learning Act (2009) a local
authority has a statutory responsibility to consider how it will assist learners to access the
appropriate post 16 provision. Through the Education and Skills Act 2008, from 2014 the age of
participation has been raised so that young people will be required to stay in education or training
until their 18th birthday.

Libraries
Section 7(1) of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 (“the 1964 Act”)
Section 7 of the 1964 Act imposes a statutory duty on library authorities to “provide a
comprehensive and efficient library service” to everyone who lives, works or attends full time
education in the library area. The duty is contained in Section 7(1) which provides as follows:“(1) It shall be the duty of every library authority to provide a comprehensive and
efficient library service for all persons desiring to make use thereof …
Provided that although a library authority shall have power to make facilities for the borrowing of
books and other materials available to any person it shall not by virtue of this subsection be under
a duty to make such facilities available to persons other than those whose residence or place of
work is within the library area of the authority or who are undergoing full time education within that
area”.
Section 7(2) provides further statutory instruction as to the factors which a library authority must
take into account in order to fulfil its duty under Section 7(1):
“(2) In fulfilling its duty under the preceding subsection, a library authority shall in
particular have regard to the desirability:

Agenda Item 9
(a) of securing, by the keeping of adequate stocks, by arrangements with other
library authorities, and by any other appropriate means, that facilities are
available for the borrowing of, or reference to, books and other printed matter,
and pictures, gramophone records, films and other materials, sufficient in
number, range and quality to meet the general requirements and any special
requirements both of adults and children; and

Page 128

(b) of encouraging both adults and children to make full use of the library service,
and of providing advice as to its use and of making available such bibliographical
and other information as may be required by persons using it; and
(c) of securing, in relation to any matter concerning the functions both of the library
authority as such and any other authority whose functions are exercisable within
the library area, that there is full co-operation between the persons engaged in
carrying out those functions”.
The expression “library service” is not defined nor are the concepts “comprehensive” and
“efficient”. Library facilities are referred to but not defined but they are clearly not the same as
library premises which are defined (in Section 8(7)).
Section 9(1) confers a power on a library authority to contribute towards the expenses of “any
other person” providing “library facilities for the public” and Section 20 empowers local authorities
to generate revenue by allowing library premises to be used for holding meetings, performances
and the like in return for payment.
Public Protection Various
Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing provide statutory public protection in
relation to a wide range of environmental and health issues – such as air quality, noise, health and
safety, protecting the food chain, alcohol, fair trading and consumer protection matters, animal
welfare and from businesses and rogue traders who unwittingly or deliberately breach acceptable
standards set down in legislation.

Community Safety:
Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Section 6 Formulation and implementation of strategies.
(1)The responsible authorities for a local government area shall, in accordance with the provisions
of section 5 above and this section, formulate and implement, for each relevant period,
(i) a strategy for the reduction of crime and disorder in the area

Waste
The Environmental Protection Act 1990 details a number of obligations as regards waste collection
and control. Where an occupier of premises in the area requests the collection of dry recyclable
waste or food waste, subject to some conditions such as excluding domestic premises, such
waste should be collected (s.45(c) Environmental Protection Act 1990)
‘relevant land’ in relation to the duty to keep land and highways clear of litter is land which is not
excluded land and is open to the air and is land (but not a highway) which is under the direct

Agenda Item 9
Page 129

control of a litter authority to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access with or
without payment.

The Council as owner of land may have duties under the Occupiers Liability Acts 1957 and 1984
(as amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000) in relation to the upkeep and
management of its land and also in relation to the removal of any waste or litter which may cause
injury to visitors or trespassers.
Waste collection – Waste collection authorities are obliged to arrange collection of household
waste under section 45 of the Environmental Protection Act.
Street cleansing - CBC is a principle litter authority who has responsibility for keeping land and
highways clean and free of litter as far as is practicable as specified in sections 86 and 89 of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990.
Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC) – The Environmental Protection Act 1990 section
51 require all waste disposal authorities to provide at least one location where residents can
dispose of their household waste.
Food waste – There is no obligation to collect food waste separately, but it contributes towards
the national 50% recycling rate by 2020 and reduction in biodegradable waste sent to landfill as
required of each member state under the Landfill Directive 2008.
Grounds maintenance – The Highways Act 1980 places an obligation on the local Highway
authority to protect the highway to allow the public to enjoy it (section 130).
Highways
The Highways Act 1980
Section 41 imposes a duty on the authority who are for the time being the highway authority for a
highway maintainable at the public expense to maintain the highway.
S.35 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 allows the council to make a charge for the parking
spaces provided.

Best Value
Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999
Section 3(1) of the 1999 Act imposes a duty on a local authority to ‘make arrangements to
secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness’.
Section 3(2) requires a local authority to consult various people ‘for the purpose of’ deciding how
to fulfil the duty imposed by section 3(1). In deciding how to fulfil that duty, and in making
decisions about consultation, a local authority must have regard to guidance issued by Secretary
of State.
The statutory guidance is short. It is aimed specifically at, and ‘sets out clear expectations for’
councils which are ‘considering changing funding to local voluntary or community groups’.
Paragraph 7 of the guidance says that ‘Authorities should seek to avoid passing on
disproportionate reductions – by not passing on larger reductions to the voluntary and
community sector and small businesses as a whole than they take on’.

Agenda Item 9
Page 130
Charging and trading:
There are various general powers to carry out and charge for discretionary services provided to
external bodies and to service users:
S.111 Local Government Act 1972 allows the Council to do anything “which is calculated to
facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of [its] functions” and S.1 Local
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 allows local authorities to trade with other public bodies
by agreement by establishing a shared service or joint arrangements.
The Local Government Act 2003 allows the Council to charge for discretionary services unless
expressly prohibited from doing so (S.93) although it also limits the power to ensure that the
income from such charges does not exceed the cost of provision.
In addition, the Localism Act 2011 gives Local Authorities the power to do anything which an
individual would be able to do provided the Local Authority is not otherwise prohibited from taking
such action (the general power of competence).
The Localism Act also gives the power to charge for any services provided under the general
power of competence although the charges made should not exceed the cost of provision of those
services.
The basis of the power to provide and charge for a service should be determined so the
appropriate charges can be calculated correctly according to the relevant legislation.
A specific power to charge for a particular service will generally detail the methods and calculation
of the charge and further legal advice should be sought for specific charges to be made.
Under s.95 Local Government Act 2003 the Council has power to trade (on a commercial basis) in
function related activities through a company in which it has an interest.

Agenda Item 9
Page 131
Statutory Requirements – Resources
Local Government Act 1972
Section 151of the Local Government Act requires local authorities to make arrangements for the
proper administration of their financial affairs and secure that one of their officers has responsibility
for the administration of those affairs”.
Local Government Finance Act 1988
Section 113 requires the responsible officer under Section 151 of the 1972 Act to be a member of
a specified accountancy body.
Section 114 requires a report to all the Authority’s members to be made by that officer, in
consultation with the Council’s Monitoring Officer, if there is, or is likely to be unlawful expenditure
or an unbalanced budget.
Section 114(7) requires authorities in England and Wales to provide their CFO (CFO) with ‘such
staff, accommodation and other resources as are in his opinion sufficient to allow his duties under
this section (ie s114) to be performed’.
Local Government Finance Act 1992
Section 1—(l) As regards the financial year beginning in 1993 and subsequent financial years,
each billing authority shall, in accordance with this Part, levy and collect a tax, to be called council
tax, which shall be payable in respect of dwellings situated in its area.
Sections 32 and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require billing and precepting
authorities in England and Wales to have regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting
estimated future expenditure when calculating the budget requirement.
Local Government Act 2003
Emphasises the importance of sound and effective financial management. In relation to capital
financing there is a statutory requirement for each local authority to set and arrange their affairs to
remain within prudential limits for borrowing and capital investment.
General Governance Requirements - Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting
(CIPFA)


Establish a medium term business and financial planning process to deliver the authority’s
strategic objectives, including:
– a medium term financial strategy to ensure sustainable finances;
– a robust annual budget process that ensures financial balance; and
– a monitoring process that enables this to be delivered.






Ensure that these are subject to regular review to confirm the continuing relevance of
assumptions used.
Ensure that professional advice on matters that have financial implications is available and
recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately.
Ensuring that budget calculations are robust and reserves adequate, in line with CIPFA’s
guidance.
Ensure that those making decisions are provided with information that is fit for purpose –
relevant, timely and giving clear explanations of financial issues and their implications.

Agenda Item 9








Page 132

Ensure that timely, accurate and impartial financial advice and information is provided to assist
in decision making and to ensure that the authority meets its policy and service objectives and
provides effective stewardship of public money and value for money in its use.
Ensure that the authority maintains a prudential financial framework; keeps its commitments in
balance with available resources; monitors income and expenditure levels to ensure that this
balance is maintained and takes corrective action when necessary.
Ensure that advice is provided on the levels of reserves and balances in line with good practice
guidance
Ensure compliance with CIPFA’s Code on a Prudential Framework for Local Authority Capital
Finance and CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code.
Ensure that appropriate management accounting systems, functions and controls are in place
so that finances are kept under review on a regular basis. These systems, functions and
controls should apply consistently to all activities including partnerships arrangements,
outsourcing or where the authority is acting in an enabling role.
Ensure the provision of clear, well presented, timely, complete and accurate information and
reports to budget managers and senior officers on the budgetary and financial performance of
the authority.

Social Security Administration Act 1992
An Act to consolidate certain enactments relating to the administration of social security and
related matters.
Social Security Administration (Fraud) Act 1997
An Act to amend the law relating to social security offences and to make other amendments of the
law relating to the administration of social security.
The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 made
under section 13 and 105 of the Local Government Act 2000 before the Localism Act 2011
inserted the new Part 1A, remain in force until revoked pursuant to the Interpretation Act
1978.
The Localism Act includes a ‘general power of competence’ It gives councils more freedom to
work together with others in new ways to drive down costs.
The Tribunals Courts and Enforcement Act 2007
The Tribunals Courts and Enforcement Act 2007 and regulations aim to introduce a new legislative
regime that is simple to understand and which is applied consistently across all debt types. The
Act introduces the term “Enforcement Agent” (EA), which is in effect the new term for Certificated
Bailiffs. Only a certificated EA may take control of goods. There is a new certification procedure,
which, whilst similar to the previous regime, includes new requirements for training & competency
and the application process has been modernised. A certificate will be required for all forms of
enforcement action. A new, revised complaints process will be introduced as part of the reforms.
An Enforcement Agent is an individual authorised under s46 of the Tribunals Courts and
Enforcement Act 2007, who acts on behalf of Local Authorities or Magistrates’ Courts enforcing
unpaid council tax and non-domestic rate liability orders, warrants for unpaid penalty charge
notices and warrants for unpaid Court fines.
Coroners and Justice Act 2009
The relevant authority for a coroner has to balance the level of staffing need, as advised by the
Coroner, with both the efficiency and outcomes of the service.

Agenda Item 9
Page 133

The Council’s functions include the provision of officers and staff as are needed by the coroners to
carry out their functions. The Council must also provide or secure the provision of appropriate
accommodation taking into account the views of the Senior Coroner for the area.
S.24 Coroners and Justice Act 2009
(1) The relevant authority for a coroner area—
(a) must secure the provision of whatever officers and other staff are needed by the coroners for
that area to carry out their functions;
(b) must provide, or secure the provision of, accommodation that is appropriate to the needs of
those coroners in carrying out their functions;
(c) must maintain, or secure the maintenance of, accommodation provided under paragraph (b).
…
(4) In deciding how to discharge its duties under subsection (1)(b) and (c), the relevant authority
for a coroner area must take into account the views of the senior coroner for that area.
Statutory Instrument 2008 No 3248 The Local Authorities (England) (Charges for Property
Searches) Regulations 2008;
Charges for access to property records
5.—(1) This regulation applies where a local authority grants access to property records to a
person (including to another local authority).
(2) The authority may impose a charge on that person for granting such access if it makes or
proposes to make an internal recharge (analogous to a charge) for internal transactions.
(3) The charges and recharges made under this regulation must be calculated in accordance with
regulations 6 and 7.
Calculation of charges for access to property records
6.—(1) This regulation and regulation 7 make provision for the charges and internal recharges
made under regulation 5(2) to be no more than the costs to the local authority of granting access
to property records.
(2) Subject to paragraph (3), each charge or recharge (the “unit charge”) for access to property
records made during a financial year must be calculated by—
(a) dividing a reasonable estimate of the likely total costs to the local authority in granting
access to property records (and performing internal transactions) during the financial
year; by
(b) a reasonable estimate of the number of requests for access to property records likely to be
received (from another person or different departments of the authority) over that same
financial year.
(3) A local authority must take all reasonable steps to ensure that over the course of any period
of three consecutive financial years, the total income (including notional income from internal
transactions) from such charges and recharges does not exceed the total costs of granting access
to property records.
(4) Where under paragraph (2), a local authority makes an overestimate or underestimate of the
unit charge for a financial year, it must take this into account in determining the unit charge for the
following financial year.
(5) Each unit charge made during a financial year must be the same amount and must be applied
on equal terms, regardless of whether it is made in relation to granting access to property records

Agenda Item 9
Page 134

or internal transactions (although multiple unit charges may be made in respect of multiple
requests for access or multiple transactions).
Interpretation of costs under regulation 6(1)

7. (1) In regulation 6(1), “costs” means any costs to the local authority (including related
salary costs and the costs of the creation and maintenance of records) reasonably incurred in
connection with complying with a request for access to property records.
(2) In regulation 6(1), “costs” does not include—
(a) such costs as the local authority incurs in granting access to free statutory information; or
(b) such costs to the authority as are directly referable to the maintenance of free statutory
information.
CRE-1617-13
There are various general powers to carry out and charge for discretionary services provided to
external bodies and to service users:
S.111 Local Government Act 1972 allows the Council to do anything “which is calculated to
facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of [its] functions” and S.1 Local
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 allows local authorities to trade with other public bodies
by agreement.
The Local Government Act 2003 allows the Council to charge for discretionary services unless
expressly prohibited from doing so (S.93) although it also limits the power to ensure that the
income from such charges does not exceed the cost of provision.
In addition, the Localism Act 2011 gives Local Authorities the power to do anything which an
individual would be able to do provided the Local Authority is not otherwise prohibited from taking
such action (the general power of competence).
The Localism Act also gives the power to charge for any services provided under the general
power of competence although the charges made should not exceed the cost of provision of those
services. Whether the basis of the power to provide the services is under a specific or a general
power and the appropriate charges to be made must also be considered.
Internal Recovery Agents
The Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007 and the Certification of Enforcement Agents
Regulations 2014 provide a procedure for the certification of an Enforcement Agent in relation to
the enforcement of debts under a Court Judgement. There are various general powers to carry
out and charge for discretionary services provided to external bodies and to service users:
Any service which is for a commercial purpose can only be done via a company which can be set
up under the general power of competence. Procurement and employment issues would then
need to be considered as would governance arrangements.
General
Where any proposals which relate to a change to e-forms or electronic processes/procedures the
need to ensure universal access to all service users remains and appropriate impact assessments
and actions should be taken to ensure the Equality Act 2010 is complied with.

Agenda Item 9
Page 135
Statutory Requirements – Public Health
Advice in relation to planning, consultation, decision making and proposed implementation
for individual proposals should be obtained once the specifics of a proposal have been
decided upon.

Health and Social Care Act 2012 and National Health Service Act 2006
The Act amended the National Health Service Act 2006 and thereby conferred duties on local
authorities to improve public health. Local authorities have a duty to take such steps as they
consider appropriate for improving the health of the people in their areas. Local authorities also
inherited responsibility for a range of public health services previously provided by the NHS
including most sexual health services and services to address drug or alcohol misuse. Section 2B
of the Act lists some of the steps to improve public health that local authorities and the Secretary
of State are able to take, including:





carrying out research into health improvement, providing information and advice (for example
giving information to the public about healthy eating and exercise);
providing facilities for the prevention or treatment of illness (such as smoking cessation clinics);
providing financial incentives to encourage individuals to adopt healthier lifestyles (for instance
by giving rewards to people for stopping smoking during pregnancy); and,
providing assistance to help individuals minimise risks to health arising from their
accommodation or environment (for example a local authority may wish to improve poor
housing where this impacts on health).

Local authorities are also given powers to make grants or lend money to organisations or
individuals in order to improve public health; it is for the local authority to determine the
appropriate terms of such grants or loans (S.2B(4)).
Regulations made under Section 6C of the NHS Act 2006 require local authorities to take
particular steps in exercise of their public health functions, or aspects of the Secretary of State’s
public health functions.
Part 2 of the Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local
Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/351) makes provision for the steps to
be taken by local authorities in exercising their public health functions. In particular:


Regulation 3 requires local authorities to provide for the weighing and measuring of certain
children in their area (including age and school type).

Regulations 4 and 5 relate to the duties of local authorities to provide or make arrangements to
provide for health checks for eligible people (depending upon age and health status). The
regulations specify the type of information to be recorded. Local authorities must also provide
information about dementia to older people.


Regulation 6 requires local authorities to provide, or make arrangements to secure the
provision of open access sexual health services in their area (including in relation to
contraceptive services and preventing the spread of sexually transmitted infections, the
treating, testing and caring for people with such infections and notifying sexual partners of
people with such infections). HIV treatment and care, abortion, vasectomy and sterilisation
services will continue to be commissioned by the NHS.



Regulation 7 creates a duty on local authorities to provide or make arrangements to secure
the provision of a public health advice service, in relation to their powers and duties to
commission health services, to any Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in their area. The

Agenda Item 9
Page 136

matters covered by the advice service is to be kept under review and should be agreed
between local authorities and CCGs


Regulation 8 imposes a duty on local authorities to provide information and advice to certain
persons and bodies within their area in order to promote the preparation of, or participation in,
health protection arrangements against threats to the health of the local population, including
infectious disease, environmental hazards and extreme weather events.

Duty to have regard to guidance: Public Health Outcomes Framework
Local authorities must have regard to guidance from the Secretary of State when exercising their
public health functions; in particular this requires local authorities to have regard to the Department
of Health’s Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF). A public health outcomes framework for
England sets out the Government’s overarching vision for public health, the desired outcomes and
the indicators that will be used to measure improvements to and protection of health. Improving
outcomes and supporting transparency, provides a summary technical specifications of public
health indicators.
Section 237 of the 2012 Act also requires local authorities to comply with National Institute for
Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommendations to fund treatments under their public health
functions as set out in the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (Constitution and
Functions) and the Health and Social Care Information Centre (Functions) Regulations 2013.
Responsibility for sexual health services
Local authorities commission:


comprehensive sexual health services including most contraceptive services and all
prescribing costs, but excluding GP additionally-provided contraception



sexually transmitted infections (STI) testing and treatment, chlamydia screening and HIV
testing



specialist services, including young people’s sexual health, teenage pregnancy services,
outreach, HIV prevention, sexual health promotion, services in schools, college and
pharmacies

One of the aims of transferring public health responsibilities to local authorities was to better
integrate health and social care services and other activities that affect health such as housing and
maintenance of public spaces.
A public health grant has been provided to:





improve significantly the health and wellbeing of local populations
carry out health protection functions delegated from the Secretary of State
reduce health inequalities across the life course, including within hard to reach groups
ensure the provision of population healthcare advice

Guidance to support the commissioning of the Healthy Child Programme 0-19: Health
Visiting and School Nursing services Public Health England
The guidance is designed to support local authorities in commissioning ‘public health services for
children and young people’ and in particular delivering the Healthy Child Programme 0-5 (Health
Visitors) and 5-19 (School Nurses). The Healthy Child Programme aims to bring together health,
education and other key partners to deliver an effective programme for prevention and support.
The Programme (0-19) aims to:



help parents develop and sustain a strong bond with children
encourage care that keeps children healthy and safe

Agenda Item 9





Page 137

protect children from serious disease, through screening and immunisation
reduce childhood obesity by promoting healthy eating and physical activity
identify health issues early, so support can be provided in a timely manner
ensure children are prepared for / supported in all child care, early years and education
settings and especially supported to be ‘ready for to learn at two and ready for school by five

The core public health offer for all children includes:








child health surveillance (including infant physical examination) and development reviews
child health protection, immunisation and screening
information, advice and support for children, young people and families
early intervention and targeted support for families with additional needs
health promotion and prevention by the multi-disciplinary team
defined support in early years and education settings for children with additional and complex
health needs
additional or targeted public health nursing support as identified in the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment, e.g. support for looked after children, young carers, or children of military families

Charges for Local Authority Functions may be made and recovered under Regulations 9 of the
Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local Healthwatch
Representatives) Regulations 2013 in relation to providing information and advice, facilities or
services to promote healthy living, providing training for persons working or seeking to work in the
field of health improvement and making available the services of any person of any facilities
provided the steps do not relate to the improvement of an individuals health.
Charging for services
Where there are no existing powers to charge for services or functions, there are various general
powers to carry out and charge for discretionary services provided to external bodies and to
service users:
S.111 Local Government Act 1972 allows the Council to do anything “which is calculated to
facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of [its] functions” and S.1 Local
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 allows local authorities to trade with other public bodies
by agreement.
The Local Government Act 2003 allows the Council to charge for discretionary services unless
expressly prohibited from doing so (S.93) although it also limits the power to ensure that the
income from such charges does not exceed the cost of provision.
In addition, the Localism Act 2011 gives Local Authorities the power to do anything which an
individual would be able to do provided the Local Authority is not otherwise prohibited from taking
such action (the general power of competence).
The Localism Act also gives the power to charge for any services provided under the general
power of competence although the charges made should not exceed the cost of provision of those
services.
The basis of the power to provide and charge for a service should be determined so the
appropriate charges can be calculated correctly according to the relevant legislation.
Equality Act 2010 duties
Before proceeding with the implementation of any proposals which relate to a change to e-forms
or a change to the processes/procedures (including electronic) need to ensure universal access to
all service users remains and appropriate impact assessments and actions should be taken to
ensure the Equality Act 2010 is complied with.

Agenda Item 9
Page 138
Statutory Requirements –Regeneration
SC151
S.206 Planning Act 2008 gives a local planning authority the power to charge a Community
Infrastructure Levy. Before such charges can be implemented further provisions of the Planning
Act setting out the process for calculation of the rates and criteria for charging, publication of a
charging schedule and approval of the schedule by members by reference to the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 which must be complied with.
The Planning Act 2008 was amended by the Localism Act 2011 to include within the Community
Infrastructure Levy includes the additional costs, besides infrastructure costs, that development
places on an area and the money raised can be used to fund the improvement, replacement,
operation or maintenance of infrastructure as well as its provision. The Act specifies how planning
decisions can be legally enforced and allows planning authorities to decline to process planning
applications which include any region affected by a planning enforcement notice.
RG401
The Council is required to produce a Local Plan under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 which sets out it development plan for its area.
RG404
The Building (Local Authority) Charges Regulations 2010
Provides the power to recover charges for carrying out certain functions relating to Building
Regulations. The chargeable functions, calculating the charge, payment are all detailed in the
Regulations. An Authority should only charge the cost of providing the services and should not
charge for the first hour of advice. The s.151 officer is to issue a statement every year detailing
the charges made
S.3 Authorisation to fix and recover charges by way of a scheme
(1) A local authority are authorised by means of a scheme made under these Regulations (a
“charging scheme”) to—
(a) fix such charges as they may determine, from time to time and in accordance with these
Regulations, for or in connection with the performance of their functions relating to building
regulations; and
(b) recover those charges, to the extent provided for by these Regulations, from relevant persons.
(2) The authorisation given by paragraph (1) is subject to the exception in regulation 4 [relates to
building work solely required for disabled persons].
S.5 Principles of charging scheme: chargeable functions and advice
(1) A local authority are authorised, by means of a charging scheme, to make a charge for or in
connection with each of the following functions carried out by them—
(a) the passing or rejection of plans of proposed building work which have been deposited with the
local authority, in accordance with section 16 of the Act (a “plan charge”);
(b) the inspection of building work for which plans have been deposited in accordance with the
Principal Regulations and with section 16 of the Act (an “inspection charge”);
(c) the consideration of a building notice which has been given to the local authority in accordance
with the Principal Regulations (a “building notice charge”);
(d) the consideration of building work reverting to local authority control under the Approved
Inspectors Regulations (a “reversion charge”); and
(e) the consideration of an application under regulation [18] of the Principal Regulations and the
inspection of any building work to which that application relates (a “regularisation charge”).
(2) A local authority are authorised by means of a charging scheme, to make a charge in relation
to a request for advice as regards any particular case (in these Regulations called “chargeable
advice”) where such a charge is made in anticipation of the future exercise of their chargeable

Agenda Item 9
Page 139

functions in relation to that case; but no charge may be made for the first hour of time spent by an
officer of the authority in providing chargeable advice.

S.6 Principles of charging scheme: overriding objective in determining charges
(1) In determining the amount of the charges to be made within a charging scheme, a local
authority shall have regard to the overriding objective in paragraph (3).
(2) At the end of the financial year in which a local authority first make a charging scheme, and of
each subsequent financial year, the authority shall conduct a review of the level of charges set
under their charging scheme in accordance with regulation 7, for the purpose of achieving the
overriding objective.
(3) The overriding objective is that the authority must ensure that, taking one financial year with
another, the income derived by the authority from performing chargeable functions and providing
chargeable advice (“chargeable income”) as nearly as possible equates to the costs incurred by
the authority in performing chargeable functions and providing chargeable advice (“chargeable
costs”).
(4) Immediately following the review mentioned in paragraph (2) a local authority shall prepare a
statement which sets out, as regards the financial year to which it relates—
(a) the chargeable costs;
(b) the chargeable income; and
(c) the amount of any surplus or deficit.
(5) The statement prepared in accordance with paragraph (4) shall be published not more than six
months after the end of the financial year to which the statement relates.
(6) The statement to be published under this regulation must be approved by the person having
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the local authority under—
(a) section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972; or
…
(7) Paragraph (8) applies where—
(a) an authority first makes a charging scheme under these Regulations, and
(b) that scheme first takes effect at any time other than at the beginning of a financial year.
(8) Where this paragraph applies, in determining the charges under their charging scheme, an
authority shall have regard to any estimated surplus or deficit arising for that part of the financial
year for which an existing scheme made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations
1998 continues to have effect.
(9) A financial year is the period of 12 months beginning with 1st April.
Charging for services
There are various general powers to carry out and charge for discretionary services provided to
external bodies and to service users:
S.111 Local Government Act 1972 allows the Council to do anything “which is calculated to
facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of [its] functions” and S.1 Local
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 allows local authorities to trade with other public bodies
by agreement.
The Local Government Act 2003 allows the Council to charge for discretionary services unless
expressly prohibited from doing so (S.93) although it also limits the power to ensure that the
income from such charges does not exceed the cost of provision.
In addition, the Localism Act 2011 gives Local Authorities the power to do anything which an
individual would be able to do provided the Local Authority is not otherwise prohibited from taking
such action (the general power of competence). The Localism Act also gives the power to charge
for any services provided under the general power of competence although the charges made
should not exceed the cost of provision of those services.

Agenda Item 9
The basis of the power to provide and charge for a service should be determined so the
appropriate charges can be calculated correctly according to the relevant legislation.

Page 140

Equality Act 2010 duties
Before proceeding with the implementation of any proposals which relate to a change to e-forms
or a change to the processes/procedures (including electronic) need to ensure universal access to
all service users remains and appropriate impact assessments and actions should be taken to
ensure the Equality Act 2010 is complied with.

Agenda Item 9
Page 141
A ppend ix G
Robu stness of E stim ates and A d equ ac y of Reserves
(Inc orporating the Reserves P olic y)
B ac kgrou nd
1)

Since coming into being on 1 April 2009 Central Bedfordshire has made
annual improvements to the corporate budget process. This has enabled
a greater insight into trends over time as the amount of robust historical
information continues to grows.

2)

Past experience, combined with an assessment of future risks and
opportunities, provides a sound basis for determining the robustness of
estimates and appropriate levels of reserves for existing services.

3)

However, the Budget for 2018/19 and current MTFP is set against a
rapidly changing environment for local government. There is still
uncertainty over changes to the New Homes Bonus system, the
Retained Business Rates (NNDR) system and also the way in which
education is funded will be subject to continued change over the MTFP
period. Financial and economic uncertainty surrounding BREXIT further
compounds this.

4)

This means that there is a greater degree of financial uncertainty for the
Council than has been the case for a number of years, and consequently
a greater degree of estimation in the Budget and MTFP numbers. Whilst
currently relatively well placed to accommodate these changes, the
Council will nevertheless have to maintain adequate reserves to respond
to unforeseen impacts.

Robu stness of E stim ates
O verallA pproac h
5)

The 2018/19 Budget setting process formally commenced with the
approval of the process and Budget Strategy at the Executive meeting in
August 2017. The Strategy assessed the assumptions in the existing
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), approved by Council in February
2017, in light of the continued challenging economic situation and the
Government’s commitment to reduce overall public spending.

6)

The 2018/19 Budget process was based on a refinement of the process
undertaken for 2016/17 and 2017/18. This included a series of reviews at
Directorate level at an early stage during the process.

7)

Also as part of the MTFP process for 2018/19 – 2021/22 in developing
the strategy for efficiencies over the next four years, the Council

Agenda Item 9
Page 142
continued with a thematic approach and also a focus on key specific
issues. These are covered in detail in the main Budget report.
8)

These reviews involved each Director making a presentation to the
Corporate Management Team at which they:
 split

the budget into activities and explained the basis for the total
budget for each activity;
 identified pressures and efficiencies, both existing in the previous
MTFP and new items and;
 outlined potential options for further savings;
9)

As a result, the budget process allowed for full consideration of where
savings could be made. Relevant Portfolio Holders were involved in each
of the Directorate reviews to provide direction on political priorities.

10) The baseline position for the budget reviews was the 2017/18 agreed
budget.
11) This process allowed for savings proposals to be developed across the
late summer and early autumn. During January 2018 the Corporate
Resources Overview & Scrutiny committee will review the Draft Revenue
Budget, including savings proposals and pressures, the Draft Capital
Programme and the Draft Landlord Services Business Plan (Housing
Revenue Account).
12) The latest position is being presented to the Executive, together with the
Draft Budget and the most up to date information on funding available at
that time, on the 9th January 2018. Public consultation will commence
with the residents of Central Bedfordshire on the 4th January 2018. Staff
have also had the opportunity to input into the savings proposals as they
have been assessed within Directorates.
13) The Chancellor of the Exchequer delivered the Autumn Budget on the
22 November 2017 with the subsequent announcement of the Finance
Settlement expected on or around the 19th December 2017.
14)

Although in line with the timetable of last year, these late
announcements mean there is little time in which to assess and
incorporate changes to assumptions following the Settlement.

15) The implications arising from last years Settlement and the November
2017 Autumn Budget are covered in detail in the Budget report.

B u d getA ssu m ptions
16) The headline assumptions within the Budget cover the levels of funding
received and inflationary pressures, as well as the consideration of
Directorate pressures and efficiencies outlined above. All of this has

Agenda Item 9
Page 143
been considered in the context of the national economic conditions, and
those specifically relating to Central Bedfordshire.
Funding sources
17) The main funding sources are Council Tax , Retained Business Rates
(NNDR), specific grants and Revenue Support Grant (RSG).
18) Last years Settlement provided figures for the next four years with an
offer to councils of a four year settlement should they wish to take
advantage of that. CBC successfully applied, so the MTFP currently
assumes that those figures remain valid. We await the Financial
settlement in December 2017 to reconfirm that. It is expected that this
applies to the RSG element only. This will give some certainty over the
medium term, but RSG is due cease for in its entirety CBC in 2019/20.
19) Last year DCLG consulted on a number of proposed changes to the way
in which New Homes Bonus (NHB) is administered and awarded. The
outcome of this consultation was that the current six year payment
mechanism would reduce to five years for 2017/18 and then to four years
thereafter. In addition there were other changes including the
introduction of a 0.4% housing growth threshold to exclude organic
growth from the calculation in order to only reward those Councils that
pursued a growth agenda.
20) In line with currently announced intentions, Central Bedfordshire is
expecting to continue to benefit significantly from the New Homes Bonus
for the next two years.
21) However, in light of this uncertainty, the MTFP takes the prudent
approach of capping the level of grant assumed to be received at the
2014/15 level (£6.95M). Where any additional amounts are received,
these will be held in a reserve that will be used to fund costs incurred as
a result of growth and to mitigate budget pressures. The MTFP assumes
the loss of NHB funding over the final three years of the MTFP.
22) Historically, Central Bedfordshire Council had frozen Council Tax,
however, the Financial Settlement of two years ago was based on an
assumption by Government that all upper tier local authorities would
increase Council Tax by 2% as an adult social care precept (ringfenced)
and a further 1.75% general Council Tax increase to make up for the
reduction to RSG. This assumption continues with Government giving
local authorities the options to raise an adult social care precept of 6%
over three years (to be spread 2% each year, or 3% for two years).
23) The Council elected for 3% for two years and so 2019/20 is the second
year of this precept.
24) The Council Tax Freeze Grants from Central Government provided for
previous years has now been rolled into the RSG baseline and so is lost

Agenda Item 9
Page 144
as RSG is removed. The same treatment has been applied to the Care
Act funding of £1.2M
.
25) Central Bedfordshire has, since 2013/14, been able to keep a portion of
National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) income under the Business Rates
retention scheme. The MTFP takes a prudent approach to recognising
NNDR growth over and above the Government’s baseline estimate,
based on modelling of planning data and anticipated business
expansion.
26) The financial estimates are complicated by a series of grants received
from Government to compensate for nationally imposed restrictions and
discounts (reliefs). Prudent assumptions relating to the value of these
grants in future years have been made.
27) The Council’s plans for NNDR are backed up by detailed working based
on known development activity. However, the Business Rates
Revaluation due in 2017 and also the NNDR consultation add significant
risks to this funding source.
28) All of the above potential volatility surrounding funding adds uncertainty
to financial estimates and makes long term planning more difficult. An
appendix to the Final Budget report in February 2018 will set out the
funding anticipated to be received from various sources, showing year on
year movements to each source.

Inflation
29) The key assumptions are set out in the main body of the report and
cover pay award and non pay inflation.
30) The outlook for the economy is still uncertain, however, Government
have removed the general pay restraint for the Public Sector. A 2% pay
award for 2018/19 and 2019/20. This has been reflected in the MTFP.
31) Two years ago the Government introduced a National Living Wage from
April 2016 with the aim to achieve a minimum hourly rate of £9 by 2020.
The Autumn Budget in November 2017 increased the rate for 2018/19 by
£0.33 to £7.83. This will put further pressure on Council costs.
32) Following the practice adopted in previous years, a general percentage
uplift on non-pay items has not been allocated for 2018/19. Instead,
specific inflation was provided only on a case-by-case basis where
contractual conditions or similar factors necessitated an uplift. This
ensures that inflation provisions are better targeted to the right areas.
Specific contract inflation is allocated in line with the latest Office of
Budget Responsibility forecast in force at the time the MTFP is drafted
(3.0% for 2018).

Agenda Item 9
Page 145
33) The November 2017 Quarterly Inflation Report issued by the Bank of
England advised that inflation is at 3% (September 2017) and projected
to rise above 3% in Q4 2017.
34) The Bank does not expect inflation to return to its 2% target until 2021.
35) The Bank’s prediction for economic growth as measured by Gross
Domestic product (GDP) in 2018 is 1.75% compared to 0.4% in Q3 2017
(note the Autumn Budget cites growth of 1.4% for 2018 and 1.3% for
2019).
36) The Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee voted by 7-2 on the 1st
November 2017 to increase interest rates from 0.25% to 0.5% but
advised that any future increases in interest rates would be at a gradual
pace and to a limited extent.
37) The Council’s treasury management advisers, Arlingclose Ltd, also
expects interest rates to remain low for the foreseeable future.

Service Expenditure
38) The robustness of estimates for each of the Directorates has been
considered during the budget setting process, with an assessment of the
general robustness of service budgets as well as the impact of
pressures, growth and efficiencies.
39) The Base Budget build provides assurance that budget and activity are
aligned and that budgets are at the correct level for 1 April 2018. A core
part of the budget strategy has been to ensure that additional resources
are allocated to those areas experiencing continuing pressures. These
are detailed in the body of the report.
40) There is an Efficiencies Implementation Group in place, chaired by the
Director of Resources (and s151 Officer), which will oversee the delivery
of all efficiencies; ensuring plans are in place to secure the required
savings. This is a continuation of previous years’ practice which has
successfully overseen the delivery of significant savings. Nevertheless,
continued delivery of further savings year on year, including £13.8M of
savings in 2018/19, is a significant challenge.
41) This successful track record demonstrates a sound corporate approach
to the delivery of budgeted savings and gives a measure of confidence
that the 2018/19 Budget is realistic and achievable. Nevertheless each
year it becomes harder to deliver savings whilst maintaining service
levels and there will be significant challenges to be faced in the years
ahead.

Agenda Item 9
Page 146
42) The Revenue budget for 2018/19 also includes a contingency of £2.6M
which will help to mitigate any unforeseen pressures, or risks that might
materialise.

Risk Assessment
43) The above assessment of the robustness of estimates has identified a
number of risks in the budget.
44) The Efficiencies Implementation Group chaired by the Director of
Resources (and s151 Officer), risk assesses all planned efficiencies using
a Red/Amber/Green status at the beginning of each year and tracks their
achievement throughout the year. In the event of any shortfall against and
efficiency, a compensatory saving is sought.
45) Risks and opportunities are also tracked monthly as part of budget
monitoring and migrating action taken where necessary.

Agenda Item 9
Page 147

General Fund Balances and Reserves Analysis
B ac kgrou nd
1.1 The s151Officer has a statutory duty under Section 25 of the Local
Government Finance Act 2003 to comment annually on the adequacy
of the Council’s General Fund (GF) Reserves. This is reported as part
of the annual budget papers to Executive and Full Council and the
analysis within this document supports the s151 Officer’s opinion.
1.2

The purpose of General Fund reserves are to act as:
 A working balance to help cushion the impact of volatility in net
expenditure or income across financial years*.
 To smooth the flow of funds e.g. when faced with funding cuts a
GF Reserve enables the Council to draw down on reserves
whilst a permanent efficiency saving is implemented.
 A contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or
emergencies;
 A means of building up funds to meet known or predicted
requirements. Funds can also be set aside in the form of specific
earmarked reserves, which are accounted for separately but
legally form part of the General Fund balance.
* This ability of reserves to react to volatility in income or expenditure is
different from the availability of physical cash. The Council can maintain
low liquidity balances, as set out in its Treasury Management Strategy,
as it has sufficient and immediate access to debt finance.

1.3

When considering whether the level of General Fund reserves is both
adequate and necessary, the s151 Officer considers the strategic,
operational and financial risks facing the Council and balances this
against utilising the maximum resources available to the Council to
achieve its objectives and ensuring that current resources are used to
the benefit of the current tax payer.

1.4

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
released a Local Authority Accounting Panel (LAAP) Bulletin 99 (July
2014) outlining key areas to consider when assessing the adequacy of
reserves including:
 The robustness of the financial planning process (including
treatment of inflation and interest rates, estimates of locally
raised income and timing of capital receipts)
 How the Council manages demand led service pressures
 The treatment of planned savings / productivity gains
 The financial risks inherent in any major capital project,
outsourcing arrangements or significant new funding changes
 The strength of the financial monitoring and reporting processes
 Cash flow management and the need for short term borrowing

Agenda Item 9
Page 148
 The availability of reserves, Government grants and other funds
to deal with major contingencies
 The general financial climate to which the Council is subject and
its previous record in budget and financial management.
1.5

In November 2013 the Audit Commission stated that:
“Reserves are an essential part of councils’ strategic, financial and risk
management. Councils hold reserves either as a contingency fund in
the event of unforeseen circumstances, such as unexpected demand
for services or a shortfall in income, or to smooth the impact of planned
spending requirements over time, for example, setting aside funds for
staff redundancies or to invest in large-scale capital projects. Our 2012
report on councils’ decision making on reserves encouraged councils
to:
 examine routinely how much they hold in reserves, and the
purposes for which reserves are held; and
 ensure their decisions on reserves are clearly explained to local
taxpayers to promote accountability.”

1.6

The analysis in Table 1 examines the Council’s balances against the
criteria outlined in LAAP Bulletin 99 and is based on the Council’s
procedures and structures. However, the assessment necessarily
includes an element of subjectivity and, in acknowledgement of this,
incorporates a range of possible balances. The calculated range for
recommended general fund balances remains at £11.5M to £25M. The
upper end of the range includes the maximum unallocated balances the
Council could justify holding, and if balances were at this level, the s151
Officer may recommend that plans were developed to use balances to
enhance the Council’s expenditure plans in the current year.

1.7

The expected GF reserve closing balance for 2017/18 is £15.6M which
is 4% of gross income and within the recommended range. Additionally
it is expected that c£42M will be set aside as General Fund earmarked
reserves for specific identified purposes (October 2017 forecast).
Appropriate use of these reserves is included within the budget
estimates presented, although in some cases the use may span more
than one year. As an emergency measure these earmarked reserves
could provide additional resilience, and therefore assist as a mitigation
of risk to the Council.

1.8

Monitoring of both general and earmarked reserves takes place every
month, to ensure these are correctly identified and are being used
appropriately. The creation of new earmarked reserves, and transfers
to and from reserves, are subject to approval by Executive as part of
the final budget outturn position for the year. The reserves position is
therefore transparent to all Members.

Agenda Item 9
Page 149
Table 1 A ssessm entof Requ ired GeneralFu nd Reserve B alanc es

A rea of Risk
The general financial
climate to which the
Council is subject

D etails
Local Government will see sustained reductions in
Central Government Funding beyond 2018/19.

M inim u m
M axim u m
£2M £4M

As part of the Financial Settlement for 2017/18,
councils were made an offer of a four year settlement
subject to certain conditions. CBC applied for this offer
which was accepted. We await the Financial
Settlement in December 2017 to reconfirm the figures
but it is likely that this will only apply to the RSG
element of the settlement.
The MTFP has been updated against a background of
significant challenges. On the 23rd June 2016, the
United Kingdom (UK) voted to leave the European
Union (EU). Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union
was invoked in March 2017.
Having triggered Article 50, the exit process is
expected to last for up to two years although the
political and economic ramifications will probably be felt
for many years.
Locally, Central Bedfordshire Council has included
identified Central Government funding reductions within
its Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).
In addition, there are financial risks to the Council as a
result of decision taken by schools to change their age
range from a three tier system to a two tier system.
This could result in the Council having to pick up
significant redundancy costs and deficits from schools
that close as a result.
The overall financial
standing of the
authority

From commencing with reserves of £5.1M on 31 March
2010, Central Bedfordshire Council has steadily
increased reserves to £15.6M as at 31 March 2017,
which is 4% of gross income. This reflects continuous
improvement in the financial strength of the Council.
Additionally the Council is expected at 31 March 2018
to have c£42M in General Fund earmarked reserves
set aside for specific purposes. A balanced budget has
been set for 2018/19.

£0M

£1M

Estimates of level of
locally raised income

In 2013/14 the administration of Council Tax Support
Scheme was localised with a 10% reduction in funding
and National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) moved to a
retention system, where Councils keep an element of
business rates raised.

£1M

£3M

Retention of an element of Business Rates by Councils

Agenda Item 9
Page 150
means the organisation would benefit from higher
Rates income than expected, but also suffer the
consequences if Business Rates income was to
reduce. The Government has introduced a safety net
payment to prevent excessive losses and a levy on
gains and Central Bedfordshire Council would be
funded for NNDR losses above £2.3M in a financial
year and would have to pay 24% of their share of any
gains above their baseline funding as a levy back to
Central Government.
The new NNDR retention system requires Councils to
determine a provision for NNDR appeals in future
years, where individuals may successfully challenge
their NNDR rating. Councils have had to set this
provision which directly affects NNDR income and
necessarily involves an element of subjectivity. There is
a risk that NNDR could be further impacted by the
Rebasing of Rateable Value in 2017.

Both NNDR and Council Tax income forecasts are
based on the estimation of property bandings and
rateable properties by valuation professionals in each
respective area.

The treatment of
planned efficiency
savings/productivity
gains

The Council has set a balanced budget for 2018/19
which includes £13.8M of efficiencies. A further
£32.1M of efficiencies are required over the
subsequent 3 years to achieve the Medium Term
Financial Plan (MTFP).

£1M

£2M

£2M

£3M

The Council has a successful track record of achieving
efficiency savings. Efficiencies are monitored in the
Council by the Efficiencies Implementation Group (EIG)
chaired by the Director of Resources (s151 Officer).
The treatment of
inflation and interest
rates

2% pay inflation and 3.0% non pay for specific contract
is include in the MTFP for 2018/19.
The November 2017 Quarterly Inflation Report issued
by the Bank of England advised that inflation is
projected to rise above the 3% within Q4 2017
Low interest rates have been in place for a number of
years, with the Bank of England base rate at 0.25%, for
a record period, however, the base rate was increased
to 0.5% on the 1st November 2017. Any further
increases are expected to be gradual.
As at 31 March 2017 the Council’s total borrowing was
£347.8M. Of this amount, £262.0M was with the Public
Works Loan Board (PWLB), £72.3M was Short-Term
Temporary Debt from other local authorities and

Agenda Item 9
Page 151
£13.5M was market debt from banks.
To manage interest rate risk, the profile of debt is spilt
so that overall the Council has 62.4% fixed rate PWLB
debt, 12.9% variable rate PWLB debt, 20.8% shortterm temporary debt, and 3.9% fixed rate market
(LOBO) debt.
An increase in interest rates would therefore have a
direct and immediate cost on variable borrowing.
Where amounts which have been internally borrowed
are required to be spent, external borrowing may be
required at that time to fund these and this would be at
a cost to the organisation at that time depending on the
rate of interest.
The Council has a significant Capital Programme which
forecasts £123M of borrowing over the next 4 years. At
present the MTFP has calculated revenue implications
on current interest rates and debt taken out on a short
term basis. If interest rates were to increase, the
revenue implications of this debt would increase when
borrowing or refinancing the debt in future years.
The financial risk
inherent in any
major outsourcing /
insourcing
arrangements

The Council has a number of high value contracts with
external providers. The largest of these are contracts
for: waste management, highways, passenger
transport, social care for residential and nursing care
provision, temporary accommodation, agency staff and
grounds maintenance.

£1M

£2M

£1M

£2M

Some of these suppliers are reliant on private finance
linked to asset values for their viability. In the current
financial climate this poses an increased risk of service
failure to the Council.
The Council has also engaged with a supplier to run its
leisure centres, in a contract which creates a residual
risk to be managed by the Council.
The Council is now also a co-owner in LGSS Law and
as such is subject to a share of gains and losses
resulting.
The treatment of
demand led
pressures

There are significant social and economic drivers of
change within Central Bedfordshire across the medium
term and beyond, particularly Central Bedfordshire’s
population has increased at a faster rate than nationally
at 19.4% since the 2001 census and a further 7.2%
increase is forecast between 2016 and 2021.
Population growth will be highest in the 85 + age group,
22% growth by 2021. Significant growth is also
anticipated in the 65 + age group of 13%.

Agenda Item 9
Page 152

The Council has a robust Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) process embedded across the organisation.
Through this process, reasonable assumptions about
demand and funding pressures have been made and a
prudent view of volatile areas has been taken. All
known pressures across the Council are included as
funded items in the MTFP, with additional funding in
future years linked to forecast demand. The budget
contingency is largely to take account of potential
demand led pressures on key expenditure and income
streams.
The financial risks
inherent in any
major capital
developments

The Capital Programme includes expenditure over the
next 4 years of £314M with substantial investment in
schools places £48M, Dunstable Leisure Centre £14M,
Information technology £10M, integrated Care & Health
Hubs £28M.

£0.5M

£1.5M

A further £26M of expenditure is on the capital reserve
list, to be included in the main programme if the project
can be accommodated within the Council’s financing
constraints. There is also expected to be significant
investment through the Housing Revenue Account.
Increased capital activity and development will result in
a corresponding increase in financial risk.
Estimates of the
level and timing of
capital receipts

Capital Receipts are forecast to be £36.0M over the
next four years, based on a schedule of land and
properties that have been identified for disposal and
form an important source of financing for the capital
programme. If disposals are lower than projected then
alternative options to achieve disposals or
compensatory improvements to asset utilisation will be
considered.

£2M

£3M

The availability of
reserves,
Government grants
and other funds to
deal with major
contingencies and
the adequacy of
provisions

In the event of a major emergency it is possible that
aside from general reserves, Central Government may
provide funding to support the Council via the Belwin
scheme. However Councils will only be able to access
this funding if they have already spent 0.2% of their
budget on repairs and thus may incur direct costs as a
result.

£0M

£0.5M

The Council’s
capacity to manage
in year budget
pressures, and its
strategy for
managing
both demand and
service delivery in

There is a well-developed monthly budget monitoring
process in place, ensuring adverse variations are
identified promptly by service managers. The monthly
challenge and review process ensures the early
identification and resolution of issues. Additionally the
2018/19 budget includes a £2.6M contingency to
potentially support any in year issues.

£0M

£1M

Agenda Item 9
Page 153
the longer term
Miscellaneous

There are a number of risks that face the Council which £1M
have a low likelihood of occurring but would have a
high impact if the risk was actualised. This includes
risks of substantial flooding, disease outbreak or a
serious service failure for example in Children’s’
Services or Adult Social Care. There is also the risk of
widespread ICT failure.
The Council has strong
internal mechanisms for identifying, monitoring and
reporting risks on a regular basis.

£2M

Recent changes in legislation have brought about new
community rights and alternative methods of delivering
services traditionally provided by the Council. This has
led to more and different supply chain partnerships
being entered into, sharing risks across private, public
and voluntary organisations.
The Council may also face from time to time potential
legal actions. Funds in excess of budgetary provision
may be required to defend the Council against such
actions.

Total

£ 1 1 . 5M

Table 2 Use of E arm arked Reserves 2 0 18 /19 –
The following use of earmarked reserves is contained in the MTFP. All use of
reserves have been reversed back out during the Plan. Their use is to enable
the time for efficiencies activity to be developed, particular for Special
Education Needs Transport. The reversing back out is in line with the
approach of not having a plan that relies on the use of reserves as a source of
longer term funding.

£ 2 5M

Agenda Item 9
Page 154

Table 2
D irec torate

D etailof pressu re

2 01 8 /1 9
£ '00 0

2 01 9/2 0
£ '00 0

20 20 /21
£ '0 00

20 2 1/22
£ '0 00

Children's Services

School Improvement Team

(321)

Children's Services

Locaility Working

(100)

100

Community Services

Highways / Environment: Staffing

(245)

245

Community Services

Educational Transport

(1,200)

1,200

-

Community Services

Highways / Environment:
Emergency Services

(150)

150

-

Community Services

Highways / Environment: Steet
Lighting

(150)

150

-

Regeneration

Without this additional resource it
is not possible for enforcement
activity to match the level of
service sought by members.

(200)

-

200

SCHH

Release of SCHH Reserves

(711)

(1,109)

1,532

288

-

7 36

2, 0 53

28 8

-

TotalUse of Reserves

(3, 07 7 )

321

Total
£ '00 0
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Agenda Item 9
Page 155
Appendix H
The future priorities and resourcing strategies for each Directorate are
outlined below:

Children’s Services
1 . The S ervice is c om m itted to ens u ring thathappy c hild ren live in C entral
B ed ford s hire. H appy c hild ren are c onfid ent, s afe, healthy and ac hieve great
ou tc om es in theired u c ation.
2 . The S ervice also works c los ely with partners to ens u re thatallc hild ren are
wells u pported .
3. The S ervice has em barked on an am bitiou s program m e of trans form ation to
ens u re thatd em and fors ervices is m anaged effec tively and thats u pportis
available when a need is id entified , red u c ing the req u irem entfors tatu tory
s ervices and provid ing good s u pportto vu lnerable c hild ren and theirfam ilies .

Regeneration & Business Support

4. The c ore pu rpos e ofthe D irec torate is to enable growth to c reate a plac e of
nationaland internationals ignificanc e, where people c hoos e to live, workand
visit, and a loc ation where c om panies c hoos e to inves t.
5. In ord erto ac hieve thes e goals the D irec torate will:
 E nable and d rive q u ality s u s tainable d evelopm entand growth in
C entralB ed ford s hire.
 S tim u late the regeneration and renewalofou rm arkettowns .
 D elivergrowth infras tru c tu re (em ploym ents kills, ec onom ic, d igitaland
environm ental).
Social Care, Health & Housing
6. The D irec torate approac h is to m ove inves tm entfrom ins titu tionalto pers onal
s olu tions . M od ernisation c ontinu es ac ros s A d u ltS oc ialC are and H ou s ing
S ervices , to preventc risis, keeppeople s afe and offeran im proved c u s tom er
experienc e, enabling people to live ind epend ently forlonger.
7 . The D irec torate is res pond ing to d em ographic pres s u res , c ons trained hou s ing
s u pply, inc reas ing d em and (inc lu d ing c om plexity ofneed e. g. d em entia)and
m ajorlegislative and otherc hange program m es s u c h as the B etterC are Fu nd
(A pril2 0 1 5)and the C are A c t2 0 1 4 (phas e one A pril2 0 1 5)and otherwelfare
reform c hanges .

Agenda Item 9
Page 156

8 . In ad d res s ing thes e pres s u res and am bitions , the D irec torate will
 Firs tand forem os t–protec tvu lnerable people, keepthem s afe and
res pond to c rises inc lu d ing hom eles s nes s , abu s e and neglec t.
 A s s istres id ents (inc lu d ing c arers )who req u ire c are and s u pport,
irres pec tive oftheirfinanc ialm eans .
 D eliverthe rightac c om m od ation in the rightplac es , to enable people
to live ind epend ently.
 Inc reas e its foc u s on prevention, inform ation and ad vice (inc lu d ing
res id ents having the opportu nity to s elfs erve).
 C ontinu e the jou rney toward s the integration ofhealth and s oc ialc are,
s o thatres id ents c an ac c es s as m u c h ofthe helpand s u pportthey
m ay need as pos s ible, c los erto where they live, and red u c ing the
need forpeople to res ortto hos pitals.
 C u s tom erS ervices willc ontinu e to res pond to res id ents ’ c ontac ts via
phone, web, m ail, and fac e to fac e, and aim s to extend the range of
s ervices thatc an be ac c es s ed by c u s tom ers on line.

Community Services
9. The S ervice aim s to d eliverexc ellentu nivers als ervices which are
fu nd am entalto the C ou nc il’s vision ofm aking C entralB ed ford s hire a great
plac e to live and work.
1 0 . A s d em and fors ervices inc reas es and res ou rc es rem ain c ons trained ,
C om m u nity S ervices will:
 D rive efficienc ies from proc u rem entand s u pplierengagem ent.
 Inves tin s ervices in ord erto red u c e ru nning c os ts and c reate
opportu nities to generate inc om e.
 S trengthen c om m erc ialisation, particu larly d eveloping the experienc e
and s kills ofs taff.
 S etc learand trans parentpolicies forwhats ervices the C ou nc ilwill
provid e
 M ake the bes tu s e ofthe C ou nc il’s property as s ets .

Agenda Item 9
Page 157
 E ns u re thatem ployees ofthe C ou nc ilare able to d o theirbes tworkby
c reating an environm entthats u pports flexible, m obile and paperles s
working.
 P rovid e Inform ation Tec hnology s u pportto allD irec torates within the
C ou nc ilinc lu d ing lead ing on d igitisation which is a key them e ac ros s
allofthe D irec torate P lans .

Resources
1 1 . The Res ou rc es D irec torate provid es s pec ialists u pportto the whole ofthe
C ou nc ilthrou gh a range ofd ifferentexpertise and s ervices . The
D irec torate provid es the C ou nc ilwith Financ e, L egal, H R and Governanc e
s ervices , the latterinc lu d ing D em oc ratic and C om m ittee S ervices and
C oroner’s and Registration s u pport.
1 2 . In ad d res s ing the res ou rc e c hallenges forthe c om ing period , the D irec torate
will:
 C ontinu e to provid e financ ialand H R s u pportand bu d getary ad vice to
the C ou nc il, with inc reas ing foc u s on financ ialm od elling and planning
ofthe m ajorc hanges the C ou nc ilis introd u c ing.
 C ontinu e to review internalproc es s es and proc ed u res to ens u re that
they are fitforpu rpos e and ad d valu e, inc lu d ing how financ ial
trans ac tions are m anaged ac ros s the C ou nc il.
 P rovid e financ ialand c om m erc ialad vice to D irec torates to as s istthem
in d elivering theirefficienc y plans .
 Fu rtherd evelopthe d igitisation ofits c u s tom erfac ing s ervices , s u c h as
e-c laim benefitapplication form s to im prove efficienc y and c u s tom er
experienc e and prom oting c u s tom ers elfs ervice, forexam ple on-line
s etting u pofd irec td ebitpaym ents .
 E ns u re thatits s hared legals ervice, via L GS S L aw ltd , c ontinu es to
offerexc ellents ervice and red u c ed c os ts to the C ou nc il.
 D evelopthe m ain S A P Financ e and H R s ys tem s to d eliverm axim u m
efficienc y ofworking and provid e betters u pportto allD irec torates .
 D evelopand em bed a new approac h to workforc e planning and
d evelopm entthatens u res the C ou nc ilhas the rightm ix ofs kills and
aptitu d es to d eliverthe am bitions ofthe C ou nc il.

Agenda Item 9
Page 158
 E m bed a fram eworkthatprom otes a c u ltu re and environm entenabling
ou rem ployees to d o their’ bes twork’.
 E ns u re s u pportprovid ed to M em bers is efficientand enc ou rages the
m ove toward s paperles s working whilsts u pporting M em bers in their
role as c om m u nity lead ers .
 C ontinu e to d elivera high levelofc u s tom ers atisfac tion via the
C oroner’s and Registration s ervices , as s isting c u s tom ers to s elfs erve
whereverpos s ible.

Chief Executive’s Team
1 3. The C hiefE xec u tives Team c om prises the C om m u nications team s . It
provid es s u pportto allD irec torates within the C ou nc ilinc lu d ing lead ing on
Knowled ge and Ins ight, c ons u ltations , Freed om ofInform ation, internaland
externalc om m u nications . .

Public Health
1 4. The P u blic H ealth s ervice s u pports res id ents to m ake the rightlifes tyle
c hoices fortheirhealth by eitherd irec tly c om m iss ioning s ervices , influ enc ing
and ad vising on c om m iss ioning d ec isions ofpartners orthrou gh d irec tly
provid ing s ervices . Itis evid enc e bas ed in its approac h. Itu nd ers tand s
popu lation need s and c los ely m onitors its health to im prove ou tc om es .
To d eliverits goals the S ervice will:
 Inc reas e c ros s -d irec torate working to inc reas e prod u c tivity.
 W orkc los ely with the B ed ford s hire C linicalC om m iss ioning Grou pto
id entify and m eetthe need s ofthe popu lation and im prove
c ons istenc y.
 C ontinu e to em bed prevention and early intervention.
 C om m iss ion and m onitors ervices foreffec tivenes s and efficienc y.

Agenda Item 10
Page 159

Central Bedfordshire Council
EXECUTIVE

9 January 2018

Draft Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22
Report of Cllr Richard Wenham, Deputy Leader & Executive Member for
Corporate Resources
(richard.wenham@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Advising Officer: Charles Warboys, Director of Resources and Section 151
Officer
(charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

This report relates to a non-Key Decision

The purpose of this report is to seek Executive approval for a Capital
Programme for the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) period 2018/19 to
2021/22 to facilitate effective financial management and planning. It excludes
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) which is subject to a separate report.

RECOMMENDATION
The Executive is asked to:
1. approve the draft Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2021/22 for
consultation with the Corporate Resources Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and other interested parties.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations
1.

The Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee will
consider the budget proposals at its January 2018 meeting and
comments will be included in the final Budget report to be presented to
Council at its February 2018 meeting.

Background
2.

The Council’s Capital Programme has been reviewed during the current
financial year and there have been a number of changes to profiles,
reductions and additions.

Agenda Item 10
Page 160
3.

The Capital Programme continues to be dominated by a few large
schemes including the requirement to provide New School Places,
M1/A421 Junction 13 – Milton Keynes Magna Park dualling, M1/A6
Phase 1 and 2, Highways Structural Maintenance Block, Dunstable
Leisure Centre and Library, IT Digitisation, Purchase of Waste Fleets and
Integrated health and care hubs in Biggleswade and Dunstable.

4.

A driving principle underlying the Capital Programme has been to
minimise the revenue impact in future years arising from interest
payments and the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) or alternatively, to
identify future revenue resources to facilitate borrowing for capital
purposes in a sustainable and prudent manner.

Capital Budget Strategy
5.

From the Council’s five-year plan there are a number of broad outcomes
which capital investment plays a role in delivering:








Improved town centres and facilities
Great quality, appropriate and affordable housing
Great infrastructure including transport and broadband
Improved roads and pavements, parks and leisure
Educational success
Allowing people to live independently or in suitable specialist
accommodation
Operational efficiency.

6.

In order to deliver those outcomes and in common with the General Fund
Revenue MTFP, the Capital Programme was built up thematically as
follows:

7.

Theme 1 - Replacing and renewing operational assets:
Buildings, roads, IT systems and streetlights etc. have a finite life and the
Council needs to have a programme to maintain, improve and replace
assets used for operational delivery.
The Council also needs to ensure that the Capital Programme is checked
for relevance, statutory compliance, value for money and opportunities to
deliver efficiencies at the point of renewal but also recognise that there
will be a base level of need to keep services running.

8.

Theme 2 - Investing to save:
Capital investment can be the key that unlocks new income streams and
capital receipts or helps manage demand:
Managing demand, through the Managing the Needs of Older People
(MANOP) programme for instance, is key to the Council’s strategic
thinking to contain costs and offer better outcomes.

Agenda Item 10
Page 161

Upfront investment in some assets can either trigger improved income
generation opportunities, as in CCTV I thought this was now out? or
enhance the value of assets prior to sale, as in work to prepare for
disposal of sites .
9.

Theme 3 - Capturing the benefits of growth for all:
Growth brings opportunities to deliver new capital infrastructure
alongside additional revenue through Council Tax, NNDR and the New
Homes Bonus. Growth is often the trigger to access Government funding
for key infrastructure.
The Council needs to ensure it is capturing the full benefits of being a
Council that supports growth, and critically that these are benefits for
both new and existing communities.
This is key to Central Bedfordshire’s investment plans for school places,
transport and new leisure facilities.

10. Theme 4 - Protecting and enhancing Central Bedfordshire:
As custodians of the public realm and significant landowners, the Council
has a role to play in ensuring the environment which makes Central
Bedfordshire such an attractive place to live, work and invest is
protected.
An increasing population creates additional pressure on urban and rural
open spaces and this requires continued capital investment to maintain,
such as bridges on public footpaths.
11. Theme 5 - Responding to new opportunities:
As an effective and resilient authority the Council is in a position to
respond to change proactively and to investigate and take opportunities.
Examples include the provision and delivery of Health and Care hubs;
working with health providers to create a more seamless service. This
will be put into practice in Dunstable and Biggleswade.
New opportunities to make the most of our assets, whether it is a rural
exception site for key worker housing or building our own care homes
also warrant investigation.
12. The Capital Budget proposed in this report reduces revenue liabilities
against those previously identified in the MTFP for 2018/19 to 2020/21
by £5.7M (2021/22 was not included in last years MTFP).

Agenda Item 10
Page 162
The reduction is due to revised assumptions in respect of the amount
and timing of fixed interest rate borrowing, amendments to the draft
Capital Programme and changes to the methodology for calculating
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), as approved by Council in February
2017. Risks of revenue budget pressures remain, largely those
associated with the realisation of capital receipts (delays would increase
the overall borrowing requirement), and the timing of movements in
interest rates (if increases occur earlier than assumed then interest
liabilities will be greater than estimated). Any capital overspends or
shortfalls in capital receipts which cannot be mitigated would result in a
revenue pressure as additional borrowing would be necessary.
13. A summary of the proposed Capital Programme has been included in
Appendix A and Appendix B which shows a breakdown by individual
schemes. Particular attention is drawn to schemes that require the use of
the Council’s own resources, i.e. capital receipts or unsupported
borrowing, as some of these schemes create future revenue liabilities as
well as revenue efficiencies.
14. Capital receipts projections for the 2018/19 to 2021/22 period have been
reviewed. These represent a key source of funding for the Capital
Programme over the MTFP period without which the affordability and
sustainability of the Capital Programme could be at risk.
15. The Better Care Fund is a single pooled budget to support health and
social care services to work more closely together in a local area. Central
Government has provided significantly increased Disabled Facilities
Capital Grant (DFG) since April 2016; the total grant has to be included
in the Better Care Fund. The use of the Grant, as set out in BCF national
planning guidance, has to be agreed with key partners including housing.
Its use can extend beyond traditional disability adaptations to homes to
wider social care capital projects which support health and social care
integration. The amount of DFG required to support traditional
adaptations is shown as financing the rolling programme. A separate
capital scheme has been established for the remaining amount.
16. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Programme is included as
part of a separate report to the Executive and is therefore excluded from
this report.
Summary of draft Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22
17. Capital investment is required to ensure the delivery of the Council’s
priorities but the programme needs to be both affordable and
sustainable. Capital expenditure that is not financed through existing
capital resources (e.g., grants, developer contributions and capital
receipts) will reduce revenue resources available for other services over
the longer term by incurring additional capital financing costs as well as
providing revenue efficiencies.

Agenda Item 10
Page 163
18. Table 1 below shows a summary of the draft Capital Programme
reflecting revisions in year and a planning assumption of varied slippage
in programme spend across the years. Expenditure and income in each
year has been adjusted by an overall estimate of slippage in the Capital
Programme for the purposes of calculating the revenue implications.
Based on current monitoring of the 2017/18 Capital Programme an
overall slippage to 2018/19 of 30% has been assumed followed by 20%
to 2019/20 and 15% per annum thereafter. The assumed slippage profile
reflects the fact that a number of high value schemes are expected to
complete in 2018/19 and the proposed programmes for later years are
reducing in overall value. A reconciliation to the MTFP, excluding
slippage, is provided in Appendix C. The detailed draft programme is
presented in Appendices A and B.
19. Table 1 – 2018/19 to 2021/22 Draft Medium Term Financial Plan
Capital Programme (assuming annual programme slippage)

20. By including an overall slippage assumption for the capital schemes
there is recognition that dependencies within the Capital Programme
exist (for example on third parties, including external funders) and often,
as a result, capital schemes are deferred from one year to the next as
delivery is delayed
Financing of the Capital Programme
21. The revenue financing costs of the proposed Capital Programme,
including what has been previously built into the previous MTFP are:
22. Table 2 – 2018/19 to 2021/22 Annual Revenue Implications of
proposed Capital Programme compared to Previous MTFP

Previous MTFP
Additional Charge /
(Reduction) to original
MTFP
Revised MTFP
Year on Year Increase in
the revenue consequences
of the proposed programme

2018/19
£’000
15,370

2019/20
£’000
16,580

2020/21
£’000
17,680

2021/22
£’000
-

(5,243)

(5,305)

(5,697)

13,935

10,127

11,275

11,983

13,935

1,148

708

1,952

Agenda Item 10
Page 164

23.

See paragraph 12 for an explanation of the reduction in MRP.

24.

Estimated revenue costs are lower than the previous base budget for
2018/19 to 2020/21 reflecting updated assumptions in respect of the
timing of interest rate movements and amendments to the draft Capital
Programme and changes to the methodology for calculating Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP).
Interest Rates

25.

Since inception, the Council, (excluding HRA refinancing) has borrowed
internally from its own cash balances to fund the Capital Programme, as
opposed to taking on debt from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), a
Government lending facility, or financial markets. Cash balances derive
from the Council’s reserves, grants received in advance and amounts
due to creditors. As at 31st March 2017, the Council had borrowed
£159.3M from its own balances to fund capital expenditure. Where
required by the actual cash flow position, the Council obtains short term
borrowing from other public authorities.

26.

Revenue implications of the Capital Programme have been calculated on
the assumption that any borrowing, required by actual cash flows, will be
obtained on a short term basis taking advantage of current low interest
rates. Council borrowing has traditionally been obtained from the PWLB
for longer periods. However in the current market, public authorities are
lending to each other at rates below the PWLB rate for short term periods
and the inclusion of these rates coupled with revised assumptions in
respect of future increases in UK base rates has lowered the projected
revenue implications of the Capital Programme over the previous MTFP
2017/18 to 2020/21 period.

27.

The rate of interest assumed is important in determining revenue
implications of borrowing arising from the Capital Programme.
Importantly, the assumed borrowing costs over the period of the MTFP
are particularly sensitive to any unexpected increases in interest rates.
Table 3 below demonstrates the impact on the MTFP of interest rates
above those assumed in the Plan.

28.

Table 3 – 2018/19 to 2021/22 Additional costs over the MTFP period
of an unexpected increase in the Interest Rate

1% point higher
2% points higher

2018/19
£’000
940
1,880

2019/20
£’000
1,520
3,040

2020/21
£’000
1,580
3,160

2021/22
£’000
1,710
3,420

Agenda Item 10
Page 165
28.

There is a risk that interest rates may be higher than current rates when
it comes to refinancing debt taken out on a short term basis. This would
lead to higher revenue implications arising from the draft Capital
Programme over the longer term, within and beyond the current MTFP
period.

29.

The Council’s treasury management advisers, Arlingclose Ltd, do not
expect the Bank of England to raise its Base Rate from its current level of
0.50% over the next three years.

30.

The Council’s MTFP assumes variable interest rate forecasts as follows:

Rate %

2018/19
0.75%

2019/20
0.75%

2020/21
0.75%

2021/22
0.88%

This forecast includes a 0.25% prudent allowance for uncertainty above
the assumptions provided by Arlingclose Ltd.
31.

Taking into account the assumptions on borrowing over the MTFP
period, and the mix of fixed and variable rate borrowing, the weighted
average interest rates for the MTFP is reduced over the plan period as
new borrowing at low, short term variable rates, becomes a larger
proportion of the overall debt as follows:

Weighted average
interest rate on
borrowing %

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2.94%

2.51%

2.42%

2.41%

The Council reviews and approves annually its Treasury Management
Strategy and monitors financial markets on an on-going basis. It is
possible that, based on market conditions, the Council may choose to
borrow at a fixed rate of interest to reduce exposure to variable debt.
However, medium term fixed interest rates are higher than variable rates
and any decision to fix debt in the short term would adversely impact
revenue implications within the MTFP period.
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
32.

Regulations 27 and 28 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and
Accounting) Regulations 2008 require local authorities to set aside a
prudent amount annually from revenue towards the Council’s Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR).

33.

DCLG guidance outlines different options that local authorities can use to
calculate a prudent provision. The method used by the Council for the
MTFP period is to spread MRP over 10 years, 30 years or 50 years
depending on the approximate useful economic life of the asset upon
which expenditure is being incurred.

Agenda Item 10
Page 166
34.

The DCLG is currently consulting with local authorities on proposed
changes to its existing guidance for calculating MRP, expected to be
implemented in full for the 2018/19 financial year but that is not yet
certain. The consultation makes it clear that an overpayment of MRP
cannot be calculated retrospectively. Importantly, where a local authority
has changed the methodology that it uses to calculate prudent provision
and generated what the current guidance calls an ‘overpayment’ it can
continue to incorporate that overpayment into future calculations of
prudent provision. This means that this proposed change would not have
an impact on the Council’s existing methodology for calculating MRP.

37. Another proposed change is to include a maximum useful economic life
of 50 years for freehold land and 40 years for other assets. This would
have the effect of increasing the Council’s annual MRP charge in respect
of capital expenditure incurred on new buildings which are currently
charged MRP over 50 years, as MRP would need to be charged over a
shorter 40 year period.
Example Asset Category
Land and buildings
Highways, roads, bridges
IT systems/equipment, fleet

MRP Life (years)
50
30
10

The MRP is spread over the useful economic life on an annuity basis.
Capital Receipts
38.

The medium term forecast includes substantial new capital receipts. The
generation and timing of new capital receipts is critical to the Capital
Programme over the medium term and represent a specific risk as to its
sustainability and affordability.

39.

The Council has historically not achieved approved estimates for capital
receipts within the MTFP but 2017/18 has seen a substantial over
achievement.

40.

Any shortfalls in capital receipts over the MTFP period will lead to
increased revenue costs from the Capital Programme where the
borrowing requirement increases as a result of any shortfall in receipts,
unless capital projects are themselves delayed or re-phased.

Agenda Item 10
Page 167
41.

Table 4 – Capital Receipts movement between previous MTFP and
current MTFP

Previous MTFP
Capital Receipts
Revised MTFP
Capital Receipts
Total Change
Increase/(Decrease)
in Capital Receipts

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

Total
£’000

10,000

10,000

8,000

-

28,000

10,000

10,000

8,000

8,000

36,000

-

-

-

8,000

8,000

Reserve List
42.

Appendix B includes a list of reserve schemes, which the Council may
progress if the revenue impacts can be accommodated within the
revenue budget.

43.

Approval of Reserve List schemes which require Council resources may
be required by the Executive. This will depend on the level of spend. This
will entail the production of outline and detailed business cases and
confirmation from the Director of Resources and the Deputy Leader and
Executive Member for Corporate Resources that the schemes can be
incorporated without exceeding the revenue budget for the financial year.

44.

The total capital costs of schemes on the Reserve List are set out in
Table 5.

45.

Table 5 – Net Capital Cost of Total Reserve List Schemes 2018/19 to
2021/22
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Net Capital Cost
of Reserve List
Schemes

46.

8,662

12,920

3,502

210

25,294

Major Capital Schemes
New School Places - £48M gross (£0M net) expenditure over the
MTFP period

47.

The New Schools Places programme provides the capital investment to
deliver new school places required by population growth in areas of
limited surplus capacity within our schools. The Council’s School
Organisation Plan is the evidence base that supports the commissioning
of these new school places over a rolling five year period.

Agenda Item 10
Page 168

The programme is funded by a combination of sources including
Department for Education basic need grant, developer contributions and
Council borrowings and capital receipts.
M1/A421 Junction 13 - Milton Keynes Magna Park - £18M gross (£3M
net) expenditure over the MTFP period
48.

The Council is improving the A421 between Junction 13 of the M1 and
Magna Park in Milton Keynes. This involves dualling the remaining
section of single carriageway road in order to remove this bottleneck in
an important east –west route. This scheme will be largely funded
through Department of Transport grants with the remaining cost met by
Central Bedfordshire Council and Milton Keynes Council according to a
cost sharing agreement which has been adopted by both Councils.
M1/A6 Phase 1 and 2 - £55M gross (-£3m net) expenditure over the
MTFP period

49. The proposed M1-A6 Link is a new 4.4km long dual 2-lane carriageway
link between the M1 in the west (at the newly opened M1 Junction 11a)
and the A6 in the east, to effectively form a northern bypass for Luton
and open up land for the potential development of up to 4,000 dwellings,
up to 60 hectares of employment land, and provision of a new subregional rail freight interchange. It is anticipated that this scheme will be
largely funded through developer contributions and Department of
Transport grant.
Highways Structural Maintenance - £24M gross (£8M net)
expenditure over the MTFP period
50. This is the expenditure on highway resurfacing works, rebuilding, surface
dressing and reconstruction. The Council receives a Government grant
to cover the majority these costs and the level of this grant is dependant
on using an asset management approach to maintenance.
Dunstable Leisure Centre and Library - £14M gross (£11M net)
expenditure over the MTFP period
51.

The current Dunstable Leisure Centre and Library buildings reached the
end of their lives and became increasingly expensive and difficult to
maintain. The Council is taking the opportunity to invest in a new building
that combines these services, provides a leisure and library offer that is
fit for the future and acts as a catalyst for future investment in the centre
of Dunstable. This work will trigger the release and redevelopment of
further sites in Dunstable which will, in turn, add further to the creation of
a more vibrant town centre. There are annual efficiencies of c£0.6M pa
by the end of the MTFP resulting from this investment.

Agenda Item 10
Page 169
IT Digitisation - £10M gross (£10M net) expenditure over the MTFP
period
52. The Digitisation Capital Programme for FY18-19 and following years is
designed to accelerate change in four significant Council improvement
areas while maintaining sufficient additional capacity to support general
development needs.
•

Upgrade and modernisation of the Adults Social Care System:
Modernisation of the social care offering, improved mobile
working, reduced administration and enhanced management
information to better focus service delivery.

•

Replacement of the Acolaid/iDox planning, registration and
administration system serving 30 some work teams in the
Council, with a clear focus on improved efficiency, better
delivery of service to the community, mobile and on line working.

•

SAP Financial upgrade and modernization to improve
management information, streamline work flows, and create
internal efficiencies.
•

Elimination/reduction of paper archives and paper workflows in
the Council in terms of reduced paper storage and the
introduction of electronic processes.

The planned five year approach that would have seen mostly flat
investment levels during the MTFP was enhanced by bringing much of
the investment forward into 2018-19 and 2019-20 to accelerate the rate
of change and to create related efficiencies and service improvements
earlier. c£2M of efficiencies have been built into the Revenue MTFP.
Purchase of Waste Fleet - £8M gross (£8M net) expenditure over the
MTFP period
53.

An £8M provision has been made in the capital MTFP for the purchase
of fleet for waste collection and street cleansing services. This is an
estimate based on current fleet requirements and costings. This
investment will deliver significant efficiencies of £1.1M pa to the
Council’s General Fund revenue.
Integrated Health & Care Hubs Biggleswade & Dunstable - £28m
gross (£28M net) expenditure over the MTFP period

54. Integrated health and care hubs in Central Bedfordshire will be a focal
point for joining up health, social care and other council services for the
delivery of care closer to people. Health and Care services will be more
accessible to people in their localities, in predominantly rural areas and
will meet the requirements for delivering health and care services to an
expanding and ageing population.

Agenda Item 10
Page 170
The Integrated Health and Care Hubs will be the main centres for
providing proactive and preventative care, out of hospital services and
care packages for people who are vulnerable or have complex care
needs. £1.5M of efficiencies have been built into the Revenue MTFP.
55. New Homes Bonus will be used to help fund the Integrated Health &
Care Hubs to the extent that the reserves are available.
Reason for Decision
56. To approve the Council’s Capital Programme for the MTFP period
2018/19 to 2021/22 to facilitate effective financial management and
planning.
Council Priorities
57. As a key part of the Council’s overall financial plan the Capital
Programme supports the delivery of all the organisation’s priorities.
Corporate Implications
Legal Implications
58. The Capital Programme forms part of the Council’s budget as defined in
the Constitution. It includes funding that is required to enable the
authority to discharge its statutory obligations and failure to approve the
Capital Programme may therefore have implications on the Council’s
ability to comply with these obligations.
59. The Local Government Act 2003 (as amended) emphasises the
importance of sound and effective financial management. In relation to
capital financing, there is a statutory requirement for each local authority
to set and arrange their affairs to remain within prudential limits for
borrowing and capital investment. There is a statutory duty on the Chief
Finance Officer to report to the Council, at the time the Budget is
considered and the council tax set, on the robustness of the budget
estimates and the adequacy of financial reserves. This is contained in
Appendix G of the Revenue Budget report.
Financial Implications
60. As a component of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
the financial implications of the proposed changes to the Capital
Programme are set out within the body of the report.
Risk Management
61. The financial implications of the proposed changes to the Capital
Programme are set out within the body of the report.

Agenda Item 10
Page 171
Equalities Implications
62. Where appropriate, Equalities Impact Assessments will be carried out for
individual proposals.

Conclusion and next steps
63. A period of public consultation will commence from January 2018. A
more detailed explanation of the Council’s approach to the budget
consultation is contained in the Revenue Budget paper also on this
agenda.
64. The Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee will
consider the budget proposals at its January 2018 meeting and
comments will be included in the final Budget report to be presented to
Council at its February 2019 meeting.
Appendices
Appendix A – Summary of changes against previous MTFP
Appendix B – Full Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22 and Reserve List
Appendix C – Reconciliation of Capital MTFP to MTFP with slippage included
Background papers
None.

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A - Capital Programme Summary of Changes
Existing 2017/18 MTFP
2018/19 Capital Budget
Directorate

Children's Services

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
16,061
(15,021)

2020/21 Capital Budget

2019/20 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000
1,040

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
42,026
(24,872)

Net
Expenditure
£'000
17,154

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
14,106
(13,566)

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000
540

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding £'000

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
72,193
(53,459)

Net
Expenditure
£'000
18,734

0

0

0

Community Services

56,165

(18,689)

37,476

21,215

(9,842)

11,373

18,180

(8,577)

9,603

0

0

0

95,560

(37,108)

58,452

Regeneration

13,142

(12,519)

623

32,183

(30,944)

1,239

16,181

(16,355)

(174)

0

0

0

61,506

(59,818)

1,688

SCHH

5,450

(778)

4,672

2,472

(778)

1,694

2,422

(778)

1,644

0

0

0

10,344

(2,334)

8,010

Total

90,818

(47,007)

43,811

97,896

(66,436)

31,460

50,889

(39,276)

11,613

0

0

0

239,603

(152,719)

86,884

Revised 2018/19 MTFP
2018/19 Capital Budget
Directorate

Children's Services
Community Services

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
8,125
(7,024)

2020/21 Capital Budget

2019/20 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000
1,101

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
13,589
(11,489)

Net
Expenditure
£'000
2,100

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
15,909
(15,309)

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000
600

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
26,409
(25,809)

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Net
Expenditure
£'000
600

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
64,032
(59,631)

Net
Expenditure
£'000
4,401

69,004

(16,392)

52,612

47,570

(15,539)

32,031

30,510

(5,439)

25,071

22,066

(5,439)

16,627

169,150

(42,809)

126,341

Regeneration

2,553

(3,582)

(1,029)

4,845

(1,928)

2,917

43,591

(41,401)

2,190

16,050

(16,750)

(700)

67,039

(63,661)

3,378

SCHH

6,154

(1,780)

4,374

2,562

(798)

1,764

2,512

(808)

1,704

2,512

(808)

1,704

13,740

(4,194)

9,546

Total

85,836

(28,778)

57,058

68,566

(29,754)

38,812

92,522

(62,957)

29,565

67,037

(48,806)

18,231

313,961

(170,295)

143,666

Change
2018/19 Capital Budget
Directorate

Children's Services
Community Services

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
(7,936)
7,997

2020/21 Capital Budget

2019/20 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000
61

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
(28,437)
13,383

Net
Expenditure
£'000
(15,054)

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
1,803
(1,743)

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000
60

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
26,409
(25,809)

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Net
Expenditure
£'000
600

Gross
External
Expenditure
Funding £'000
£'000
(8,161)
(6,172)

Net
Expenditure
£'000
(14,333)

12,839

2,297

15,136

26,355

(5,697)

20,658

12,330

3,138

15,468

22,066

(5,439)

16,627

73,590

(5,701)

67,889

(10,589)

8,937

(1,652)

(27,338)

29,016

1,678

27,410

(25,046)

2,364

16,050

(16,750)

(700)

5,533

(3,843)

1,690

SCHH

704

(1,002)

(298)

90

(20)

70

90

(30)

60

2,512

(808)

1,704

3,396

(1,860)

1,536

Total

(4,982)

18,229

13,247

(29,330)

36,682

7,352

41,633

(23,681)

17,952

67,037

(48,806)

18,231

74,358

(17,576)

56,782

Regeneration

Agenda Item 10

Page 173

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B - Capital Programme Summary by Category
2018/19 Capital Budget
Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2020/21 Capital Budget

2019/20 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

(17,889)

15,232

20,500

External
Funding
£'000

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

(7,889)

12,611

20,265

External
Funding
£'000

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000

(7,889)

12,376

120,621

(52,206)

68,415

A

Replacing and renewing operational assets

46,735

(18,539)

28,196

33,121

B

Investing to save through managing demand or
generating income

19,985

(2,828)

17,157

11,292

(1,328)

9,964

45,542

(41,588)

3,954

19,513

(17,558)

1,955

96,332

(63,302)

33,030

C

Capturing the benefits of growth

10,936

(6,066)

4,870

10,362

(10,250)

112

15,080

(13,480)

1,600

23,359

(23,359)

0

59,737

(53,155)

6,582

D

Protecting and enhancing Central Bedfordshire

4,430

(1,345)

3,085

1,541

(287)

1,254

650

0

650

650

0

650

7,271

(1,632)

5,639

E

Responding to new opportunities

Total

3,750

0

3,750

12,250

0

12,250

10,750

0

10,750

3,250

0

3,250

30,000

0

30,000

85,836

(28,778)

57,058

68,566

(29,754)

38,812

92,522

(62,957)

29,565

67,037

(48,806)

18,231

313,961

(170,295)

143,666

Agenda Item 10

Page 175

Appendix B - Capital Programme
2018/19 Capital Budget
Directorate

Category New/Existing

Scheme Title

Existing - Changed
Existing - Unchanged

Temporary Accommodation
Schools Capital Maintenance

Children's Services

A

Existing - Unchanged

Schools Devolved Formula Capital

Children's Services
Children's Services
Children's Services
Children's Services

B
B
C
D

New
New
Existing - Changed
Existing - Unchanged

Children's Services

E

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

A

Existing - Changed

Community Services

A

Existing - Changed

Community Services
Community Services

A
A

Existing - Changed
Existing - Changed

Community Services

A

Existing - Changed

SEND
SEND
New School Places
Schools Access Initiative
Children's Home and Assessment
Centre
A421-M1 Junction 13- Milton Keynes
Magna Park
CBC Built Asset Improvement
Programme
Farm Compliance
Fleet replacement
Highways Street Lighting maintenance

Community Services

A

Existing - Changed

Community Services

A

Existing - Changed

Community Services

A

Existing - Changed

Community Services

A

Existing - Changed

Community Services

A

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

A

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services
Community Services
Community Services

A
A
A

Existing - Unchanged
Existing - Unchanged
Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

A

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

A

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

A

New

Community Services

A

New

Community Services

A

New

Community Services

A

New

Community Services
Community Services
Community Services

A
A
A

New
New
New

Community Services

A

New

Community Services
Community Services

A
A

New
New

Community Services

B

Existing - Changed

Community Services

B

Existing - Changed

Community Services

B

Existing - Unchanged

IT Infrastructure Rolling Programme
IT Strategic Investment Rolling
Programme
Library and Leisure Centre renewal
in Dunstable
Waste & Recycling Containers Provision of Replacement bins &
containers.
Co-ordinated replacement of street
furniture as a result of vehicle
damage
Highways Bridge Assessment and
Maintenance
Highways Flooding & Drainage
Highways Integrated Schemes
Highways Planned Maintenance
Highways Structural Maintenance
Block
Leisure Centre Stock Condition/Asset
Management Plan
A5 residual works
Additional Stock condition TLC,
HRLC, Saxon, Creasey Park
Biggleswade Skate Park
Replacement
Flitwick Leisure Centre - convert dry
changing to studio and improve wet
side showering
Gritter fleet replacement
Micro asphalt programme
Play site refurbishment
Saxon LC - Replacement of Gym
Equipment
Schools compliance work
Surface Dressing Programme
Crematorium (now including
Mortuary)
IT Digitisation/Transformation
(incl SAP Schemes, SWIFT, IDOX)
CCTV

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
400
400
(2,000)
0
2,000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
400
400
(2,000)
0
2,000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
400
400
(2,000)
0
2,000

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
400
1,600
(2,000)
0
8,000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000
0
1,600
(8,000)
0

450

(450)

0

450

(450)

0

450

(450)

0

450

(450)

0

1,800

(1,800)

0

540
1
4,034
200

(540)
0
(4,034)
0

0
1
0
200

530
0
8,509
200

(530)
0
(8,509)
0

0
0
0
200

530
0
12,329
200

(530)
0
(12,329)
0

0
0
0
200

0
0
23,359
200

0
0
(23,359)
0

0
0
0
200

1,600
1
48,231
800

(1,600)
0
(48,231)
0

0
1
0
800

500

0

500

1,500

0

1,500

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,000

0

2,000

7,057

(7,000)

57

10,851

(8,000)

2,851

0

0

0

0

0

0

17,908

(15,000)

2,908

2,000

0

2,000

2,000

0

2,000

1,750

0

1,750

1,500

0

1,500

7,250

0

7,250

300
600

0
0

300
600

150
300

0
0

150
300

100
0

0
0

100
0

100
0

0
0

100
0

650
900

0
0

650
900

1,500

0

1,500

1,500

0

1,500

1,500

0

1,500

1,500

0

1,500

6,000

0

6,000

500

0

500

500

0

500

500

0

500

500

0

500

2,000

0

2,000

1,000

0

1,000

1,000

0

1,000

1,000

0

1,000

1,000

0

1,000

4,000

0

4,000

14,063

(1,000)

13,063

135

(2,000)

(1,865)

0

0

0

0

0

0

14,198

(3,000)

11,198

340

(15)

325

360

(15)

345

375

(15)

360

390

(15)

375

1,465

(60)

1,405

150

0

150

150

0

150

150

0

150

150

0

150

600

0

600

600

0

600

600

0

600

600

0

600

600

0

600

2,400

0

2,400

400
1,365
1,540

0
(1,365)
0

400
0
1,540

400
1,365
1,540

0
(1,365)
0

400
0
1,540

400
1,365
1,540

0
(1,365)
0

400
0
1,540

400
1,365
1,540

0
(1,365)

400
0
1,540

1,600
5,460
6,160

0
(5,460)
0

1,600
0
6,160

6,020

(4,109)

1,911

6,020

(3,959)

2,061

6,020

(3,959)

2,061

6,020

(3,959)

2,061

24,080

(15,986)

8,094

200

0

200

200

0

200

150

0

150

150

0

150

700

0

700

2,000

(2,000)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,000

(2,000)

0

300

(300)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

300

(300)

0

200

(200)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

200

(200)

0

150

0

150

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

150

0

150

500
100

0
0
(100)

0
500
0

1,300
500
100

0
0
(100)

1,300
500
0

0
500
100

0
0
(100)

0
500
0

0
500
100

0
0
(100)

0
500
0

1,300
2,000
400

0
0
(400)

1,300
2,000
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

300

0

300

300

0

300

1,000
2,000

0
0

1,000
2,000

1,000
0

0
0

1,000
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

2,000
2,000

0
0

2,000
2,000

1,000

0

1,000

2,000

0

2,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,000

0

3,000

4,766

0

4,766

2,500

0

2,500

1,500

0

1,500

1,500

0

1,500

10,266

0

10,266

200

0

200

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

200

0

200

Agenda Item 10

A
A

External
Funding
£'000

2021/22 Capital Budget

Page 176

Children's Services
Children's Services

Gross
Expenditure
£'000
400
2,000

2020/21 Capital Budget

2019/20 Capital Budget

Appendix B - Capital Programme
2018/19 Capital Budget
Directorate

Category New/Existing

Scheme Title

Community Services
Community Services
Community Services

B
B
B

Existing - Unchanged
Existing - Unchanged
Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

B

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

B

New

Community Services
Community Services
Community Services
Community Services
Community Services

B
B
B
C
D

New
New
New
Existing - Changed
Existing - Changed

Energy Efficiency Programme
Enhancement for disposals
New Carparks
Stratton 5 new Industrial Units for
Revenue
Corporate Accommodation plan
works to Priory House
Purchase of Waste Fleet
Stratton 4
Street Lighting - efficiency
Woodside Link
Sundon

Community Services

D

Existing - Unchanged

Houghton Hall Urban Country Park

Community Services

D

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

D

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services

D

Existing - Unchanged

Community Services
Community Services
Community Services

D
D
D

New
New
New

Community Services

E

New (was Reserve List)

Community Services

E

New (was Reserve List)

Regeneration
Regeneration
Regeneration
Regeneration
Regeneration
SCHH
SCHH
SCHH
SCHH

D
D
A
B
C
B
B
B
B

Existing - Unchanged
New
Existing - Changed
Existing - Changed
Existing - Changed
Existing - Changed
Existing - Changed
Existing - Unchanged
New

SCHH

C

Existing - Unchanged

SCHH

D

New

Total

match funding for HRA schemes to
alleviate parking problems
Outdoor Access and Countryside
Works
Rights of Way Network - Structural
Renewal and Improvement Works
CAROL safety carmove
Footway programme
Park Map
Integrated Health and Care Hub Biggleswade
Integrated Health and Care Hub Dunstable
Strategic Infrastructure Scheme
Flitwick redevelopment
East West Rail
M1/A6
Broadband
Disabled Facilities Grants Scheme
Empty Homes
Renewal Assistance
Gypsy & Traveller Land
MANOP Non HRA Extra Care
Schemes
BCF Capital Grant

Gross
Expenditure
£'000
0
750
650

External
Funding
£'000

2020/21 Capital Budget

2019/20 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
0
0
0
750
750
0
650
0

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
0
0
0
750
750
0
0
0

External
Funding
£'000

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
0
1
0
750
750
0
0
0

External
Funding
£'000

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000
0
1
1
0
750
3,000
0
0
650

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000
0
1
0
3,000
0
650

2,700

0

2,700

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,700

0

2,700

500

0

500

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

500

0

500

7,600
186
764
100

0
0
0
0
(100)

7,600
186
0
764
0

0
0
1,000
0
97

0
0
0
0
(97)

0
0
1,000
0
0

0
0
0
1,010
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
1,010
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

7,600
186
1,000
1,774
197

0
0
0
0
(197)

7,600
186
1,000
1,774
0

3

(3)

0

2

(3)

(1)

0

0

0

0

0

0

5

(6)

(1)

50

0

50

50

0

50

50

0

50

50

0

50

200

0

200

245

0

245

245

0

245

245

0

245

245

0

245

980

0

980

155

0

155

155

0

155

155

0

155

155

0

155

620

0

620

0
2,000
200

0
0
(200)

0
2,000
0

50
0
0

0
0
0

50
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

50
2,000
200

0
0
(200)

50
2,000
0

3,250

0

3,250

7,500

0

7,500

3,250

0

3,250

0

0

0

14,000

0

14,000

0

0

0

3,250

0

3,250

7,500

0

7,500

3,250

0

3,250

14,000

0

14,000

85
400
0
(1,520)
3,588
1,912
300
300
100

0
(50)
0
(1,500)
(2,032)
(668)
(20)
(100)
0

85
350
0
(3,020)
1,556
1,244
280
200
100

0
742
300
2,000
1,803
1,912
300
300
0

0
(187)
0
0
(1,741)
(668)
(30)
(100)
0

0
555
300
2,000
62
1,244
270
200
0

0
0
1,600
40,250
1,741
1,912
300
300
0

0
0
0
(40,250)
(1,151)
(668)
(40)
(100)
0

0
0
1,600
0
590
1,244
260
200
0

0
0
1,300
14,750
0
1,912
300
300
0

0
0
0
(16,750)
0
(668)
(40)
(100)
0

0
0
1,300
(2,000)
0
1,244
260
200
0

85
1,142
3,200
55,480
7,132
7,648
1,200
1,200
100

0
(237)
0
(58,500)
(4,924)
(2,672)
(130)
(400)
0

85
905
3,200
(3,020)
2,208
4,976
1,070
800
100

2,550

0

2,550

50

0

50

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,600

0

2,600

992

(992)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

992

(992)

0

85,836

(28,778)

57,058

68,566

(29,754)

38,812

92,522

(62,957)

29,565

67,037

(48,806)

18,231

313,961

(170,295)

143,666

Agenda Item 10

Page 177

Appendix B - Capital Programme Reserve List
2018/19 Capital Budget
External
Funding
£'000

2020/21 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Scheme Title

Community Services

New Camera Sites

300

0

300

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

300

0

300

Community Services

The Grove Theatre - Digital Cinema Upgrade + Lighting
and Flitwick Library digital cinema

100

0

100

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

100

0

100

Community Services

Century House & Library Biggleswade (Formally known
as Biggleswade Regen Project)

1,000

0

1,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,000

0

1,000

Community Services

IT Digitisation/Transformation
(incl SAP Schemes, SWIFT, IDOX)

2,000

0

2,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,000

0

2,000

Regeneration

Dunstable High Street

3,500

0

3,500

2,500

0

2,500

192

0

192

0

0

0

6,192

0

6,192

Regeneration

Commercial Centre - Market Square Biggleswade

1,300

0

1,300

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,300

0

1,300

Regeneration

Market Towns 2/ HSIS

260

0

260

1,550

(330)

1,220

3,440

(330)

3,110

10

0

10

5,260

(660)

4,600

SCHH

Gypsy & Traveller

0

0

0

9,000

0

9,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

9,000

0

9,000

SCHH

Integrated Health and Care Hub - West Mid Beds

1

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

SCHH

Integrated Health and Care Hub - leighton Buzzard

1

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

SCHH

Empty Homes

200

0

200

200

0

200

200

0

200

200

0

200

800

0

800

8,662

0

8,662

13,250

(330)

12,920

3,832

(330)

3,502

210

0

210

25,954

(660)

25,294

Total

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

2019/20 Capital Budget

Directorate

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Agenda Item 10

Page 178

Appendix C - Reconciliation of MTFP to slippage inclusive MTFP used for calculating Revenue implications

2017/18
£000
Gross Expenditure as per Appendix B
Less estimated slippage to next year
Add slippage from previous year
Gross Expenditure for Revenue implications
Funded by:
Gross Income as per Appendix B
Less estimated slippage to next year
Add slippage from previous year
Gross Income for Revenue implications

2021/22
£000

110,735

85,836
(17,167)
33,221
101,889

68,566
(10,285)
17,167
75,448

92,522
(13,878)
10,285
88,929

67,037
(10,056)
13,878
70,860

(51,371)

(28,778)
5,756
(15,411)
(38,434)

(29,754)
4,463
(5,756)
(31,047)

(62,957)
9,444
(4,463)
(57,977)

(48,806)
7,321
(9,444)
(50,929)

(10,000)
(53,456)
(101,889)

(10,000)
(34,402)
(75,448)

(8,000)
(22,952)
(88,929)

(8,000)
(11,931)
(70,860)

20.00%

15.00%

15.00%

15.00%

Capital Receipts
Borrowing

Total Funding
Slippage assumptions

MTFP and forecast slippage 2017-2021
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
£000
£000
£000

30.00%

Agenda Item 10

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Page 181
Central Bedfordshire Council
EXECUTIVE

Tuesday, 9 January 2018

Draft Budget for the Housing Revenue Account (Landlord
Business Plan)
Report of Cllr Richard Wenham, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for
Corporate Resources (richard.wenham@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk); and Cllr
Carole Hegley, Executive Member for Social Care and Housing
(carole.hegley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Advising Officers: Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing
(julie.ogley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk), Charles Warboys, Director of
Resources (charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
This report relates to a non-Key Decision

Purpose of this report
1. The report sets out the Draft Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Landlord
Business Plan Budget for 2018/19. It sets out proposals that respond to
legislative changes; make best use of the investment potential; mitigate
pressures in the General Fund (GF) and align to the debt strategy in the
context of long term Business Planning.
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Executive is asked to approve the Draft HRA budget proposals for
2018/19, as set out in the report, as the basis for consultation with
Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, tenants and
the public.
Executive Summary
2.

The Council’s Housing Revenue Account remains in a strong financial
position, as we approach the end of the sixth financial year since the
introduction of Self Financing. Reserves of circa £27M are predicted for
the 2017/18 financial year end. Having completed a large scale, award
winning, mixed use Independent Living development at Priory View
there is confidence and ambition to deliver further new build schemes
which, directly and through chains of moves, meet local housing need.
As well as helping to regenerate communities and promote economic
growth, the HRA is helping to reduce cost in the General Fund by
acquiring and building properties that will address both demands for
transitional accommodation and demographic changes.

Agenda Item 11
Page 182
3.

The HRA continues to operate against a backdrop of uncertainty and
potential challenges to the Business Plan. Government legislation
requires a further 2 years of social rent reductions: however it has
recently been announced that following that period rents will rise by the
Consumer Prices Index (CPI) + 1%. Revenue efficiencies in 2018/19
of £1.681M have been identified to mitigate the effect of reduced
income. Reserves are being maintained to address the potential
requirement to pay a void levy, due to be applied by Government from
2018/19, but the amount required is still unknown, pending further
clarification from Government.

4.

Taking a strategic and balanced approach to long term investment,
there is a commitment to repay the Self Financing debt of £165M. It is
proposed to repay £2.1M over the 5 years between 2017/18 and
2021/22, with the entire debt being repaid within the 30 year Business
Plan period. This is a rescheduling of the previous debt repayment
profile, but will enable an additional £11.2M of acquisitions to occur,
which will help to address the spiralling demand for transitional
accommodation. In total circa £19M over the MTFP is proposed for
property acquisition.

5.

As in previous years, the other significant investment focus is on
delivering Independent Living solutions, to address demographic
pressures and enable efficiencies to GF Social Care budgets.
Houghton Regis Central, estimated at a build cost of £35M, is the main
programme within the HRA Investment Plan. The plan also allows for
the regeneration of the Crescent Court Sheltered scheme, in
Toddington, and for a number of smaller new build and refurbishment
projects.

Budget Objectives
6.

The primary objectives of the 2018/19 Budget have been:
i.

Reflect the financial implications of the previously announced rent
reduction and make provision through Reserve balances for the
impact of a prospective void sale levy by Government;

ii.

Review long term assumptions concerning inflation on rental
income and revenue expenditures, setting these in the Business
Plan at the estimated CPI+1% from year 3 for rental income, and
year 5 for revenue expenditures. Debt interest rates have been
assumed at 3.5% from year 6 (based on the latest longer term
forecasts);

iii.

Taking into account the items above, produce a sustainable
Business Plan which enables the Housing Service to achieve the
objectives within the Housing Asset Management Strategy
(HAMS), maintaining investment in the existing stock, yet
expanding the new build programme and promoting regeneration;

Agenda Item 11
Page 183

iv.

Maintain a realistic level of expenditure on management services
including tenancy support to vulnerable people within our
community;

v.

Maintain HRA Balances at £2.0M, with a further contingency of
£0.2M in the Major Repairs Reserve (MRR), this additional
contingency being immediately available to address one off
emergencies such as the provision of temporary accommodation
and repairs required in the event of fire or other major incident;

vi.

A continuing commitment to a value for money approach;
underpinned by strong performance, delivering reduced unit costs,
increased income and enhanced business efficiency; mainly
through technologically enabled services and business process
review.

7.

The Budget is based upon a range of economic, financial, operational
and external assumptions that are presented separately in Appendix D.

Background
8.

The HRA Budget balances priorities to maintain the existing assets
with opportunities for new investment. A similar balance is sought
between the Council’s strategic priorities, as well as tenant aspirations
for improvement. In developing a draft HRA Budget, the strategy is to
align tenant requirements with the Council’s strategic priorities.

9.

The HRA Budget for 2018/19 sits within the context of the thirty year
Business Plan and so strikes a balance between current and future
expenditure and income. The Business Plan includes annual budgets
for the HRA Capital and Revenue programmes, incorporating
management and maintenance costs and sums set aside for capital
investment, both in the existing stock and new build. The Capital
programme is financed from revenue contributions, Reserves, and
capital receipts retained after housing pooling. An explanation of the
pooling system is given under External Assumptions in Appendix D.

10.

The brought forward balance of unapplied Capital Receipts was
£6.474M as at 1 April 2017. The brought forward balances for other
HRA reserves was £23.771M as at 1 April 2017, split between
contingencies of £2.2M, an Independent Living Development Reserve
of £14.898M and a Strategic Reserve of £6.673M.

11.

By not repaying principal debt in the first 5 years following the selffinancing settlement (2012), the Council has been able to use annual
surpluses to build substantial reserves, which leave it in a better
position to address challenges posed by the recent legislative changes.

Agenda Item 11
Page 184
12.

The Council has also been able to embark upon a major investment
strategy, supported by the use of Right to Buy (RtB) receipts that
addresses the aspirations of existing tenants whilst expanding our offer
to residents across the whole of Central Bedfordshire. This strategy is
tied to an exacting timeline, given that RtB receipts are subject to an
agreement with Government to replace homes sold through the Right
to Buy with new homes. It is important that the Council maintains
momentum to deliver and acquire new homes as part of the approach
to create system resilience across Central Bedfordshire.

Self Financing Loan Portfolio and Debt Strategy
13.

Table 1 below shows the constituent loans and interest rates
applicable in 2017/18:

Loan Type

Fixed

20.000 2024

2.70

Annual
interest
payment £M
0.540

Fixed

20.000 2026

2.92

0.584

Fixed

20.000 2028

3.08

0.616

Fixed

20.000 2030

3.21

0.642

Fixed

20.000 2032

3.30

0.660

Fixed

20.000 2034

3.37

0.674

Variable

44.995 2022

0.46 (variable)

0.206

2.38 (average)

3.922

TOTAL

Amount £M

164.995

Maturity
Date

Rate %

14.

All loans have been taken on a maturity (interest only) basis. This
approach enables money to be released, for investment purposes, in
the early years of the Plan, without the need for principal debt
repayments. The Council has saved a significant sum in the current
financial year by taking 27% of its debt portfolio on a variable basis, as
that rate has been confirmed at an average of 0.46% for the year. This
is considerably lower than any of the fixed rate debt.

15.

The current expectation in financial markets is for rates to remain very
low in the short to medium term (1 to 4 years), and for longer term debt
(30 years) to be available for the Council to borrow at an average rate
of 3.5%. However, interest rates are difficult to predict. Due to the size
of the variable proportion of the debt, relatively minor increases in rates
could have a significant impact, for example a 1% increase in the
variable interest rate would incur an additional £0.450M cost per year.

Agenda Item 11
Page 185
16.

It is worth considering the risk of interest rate increases when the
Council comes to refinance some or all of the £120M of fixed rate debt
that matures from 2024 onwards. It is unlikely that the Council will
achieve the preferential interest rates available at the time of the Self
Financing settlement. The Business Plan anticipates a gradual
increase in the average interest rate so that by 2023/24 the average
rate is 3.5%, and that this rate continues throughout the rest of the 30
year period.

17.

As a means to reinforce the longer term viability of the HRA Business
Plan, it is proposed to commence principal debt repayment in 2017/18,
with an intention to make annual repayments such that by 2022 £2.1M
of the self financing debt is repaid. This is a considerable reduction on
last year’s assumptions on debt repayment, where it was forecast that
£13.395M would be repaid by 2022. In an era of sustained low interest
rates there is no imperative to repay significant amounts of debt in the
short to medium term, particularly where there are competing demands
for the use of these funds: in this case the acquisition of properties that
will enable a reduction in expenditure in the GF. Even with the reprofiling of debt repayment, the current prediction is for full debt
repayment after 26 years, which is the year 2043/44 and in line with
last year’s forecast.

18.

In order to avoid early redemption penalties, debt repayments in the
period to 2022 will be made from the variable rate portion (£44.995M).

Housing Investment Plan
19.

The HRA Business Plan allows the Council to have flexibility as to
whether it repays debt in the early years of the plan or chooses to
invest its surpluses, in the existing stock or new build. The debt
strategy proposed above is designed to enable full debt repayment
within the 30 year horizon of the Plan, taking into account prudent
estimations of interest rates; inflation on expenditure and income; Right
to Buy (RtB) sales; sales of shared ownership and outright sales; whilst
also delivering annual surpluses for continued investment.

20.

The HRA is forecast to have sufficient funds available to undertake
approximately £71M of additional investment, over and above that
required to maintain the stock in good condition (circa £36M), in the
next 6 years. A substantial portion of this expenditure is likely to be
funded by receipts from sales and/or investment by the HCA – Homes
and Communities Agency. The Investment Plan is a 6 year budget
projection for the HRA Capital programme The Tenant Investment
Panel (TIP) has been consulted on the Plan, to ensure they are
supportive of the proposed split of funding between stock protection
and future investment.

Agenda Item 11
Page 186
21.

Whilst recent stock condition surveys give assurance that our portfolio
of Council housing is generally in good condition, there are areas
where the stock would benefit from modernisation, or improvement.
The Sheltered Housing Review, undertaken in partnership with tenants,
has revealed that several sheltered schemes require additional
investment and therefore, a total of £1.663M has been provisionally
allocated within the Investment Plan over 6 years.

22.

There are opportunities to improve car parking on many estates and to
enhance the estates including communal green spaces surrounding
blocks. £1.617M of expenditure is earmarked against these projects
over the 6 year period. The window replacement programme targets
flats or houses where the current double glazed units are reaching the
end of their useful life. The properties will be improved by replacing
these units with modern windows that provide a greater degree of
thermal and noise insulation. £1.32M has been set aside for this
programme over 6 years.

23.

Other significant areas of spend within the Stock Protection programme
are Kitchen and Bathroom replacement (£5.917M), Central Heating
installations (£4.716M), Aids and Adaptations to properties to help
sustain tenancies (£2.681M), and an Energy Conservation programme
(£2.586M) which will significantly improve thermal insulation at many
of the Council’s least thermally efficient homes. In total £24.94M is set
aside for Stock Protection over 4 years, rising to £36.394M over the 6
year Investment Plan period.

24.

Major construction work at the Croft Green Development in Dunstable
was planned to commence in the summer of 2017. The original plan
was to demolish an existing block of 9 units (8 of which were bedsits)
and replace it with a new block of circa 25 apartments. The contract
sum received from the contractor was significantly higher than
anticipated and means that the project in its current form is not
financially viable. In the circumstances it is proposed instead to
undertake a remodelling of the accommodation at Croft Green, which
would take place during 2018/19, at an estimated cost of £0.5M.

25.

The Sheltered Housing Review identified several schemes that require
modernisation. Proposals for redevelopment of the Crescent Court site
in Toddington were approved last year, with appraisal and design work
undertaken throughout 2017/18. Initial design work suggests that a
modern, well designed facility with excellent communal space and
facilities could increase capacity from the current 21 to circa 45 units.
Latest estimates point to a total cost of circa £9.5M.

26.

The HCA have approved a bid for grant funding of £1.35M towards the
scheme. It is proposed to further assist the financing of the scheme by
offering 24 apartments for shared ownership, with 21 homes for
affordable rent.

Agenda Item 11
Page 187
Recent marketing of the 31 shared units at Priory View suggests there
is a great demand for shared ownership, with an average purchase
percentage of circa 65%. This approach enables a proportion of the
build cost at Crescent Court, potentially £4.4M, to be recycled quickly
enabling continued investment in future years.
27.

Whilst Crescent Court remains as a project line in the Investment Plan,
potentially the provision of new, older people’s accommodation in
Toddington could be delivered on alternative sites. Whilst this is
reviewed, and to enable expenditure on acquisitions to be brought
forward, there is no budgeted spend on the scheme during 2018/19.

28.

To support the pressure around transitional accommodation and the
usage of B&B accommodation, the Council has agreed to invest £3.7M
in purchasing transitional accommodation over the last 2 years. To the
end of October 2017 14 purchases have been completed, one of which
is to be developed to provide multiple units. It is anticipated that the
conversion and extension of this property, to transform it from a 5
bedroom house to a 13 bedroom block, will cost £0.535M. This
investment will be funded from the stock remodelling budget.

29.

In addition to these purchases, the site of the former Greenacre Care
Home in Dunstable was transferred into the HRA in March 2017. Work
is currently under way to convert the existing facility into 42 bedrooms
that will provide transitional accommodation. Some of the cost of
conversion will be incurred in 2018/19, estimated at £0.27M. Other
projected stock remodelling works on the Council stock amount to
£0.33M over 4 years, rising to £0.607M over 6 years.

30.

Over the 4 years of the MTFP the proposed investment in schemes
relating to existing HRA stock, over and above that defined as Stock
Protection, amounts to £9.451M, and over 6 years it totals £9.728M.
The Plan seeks to balance improvements and regeneration of existing
stock with other Council objectives, in particular enhancing Central
Bedfordshire by providing new homes, especially homes that will help
to protect and improve the lives of more vulnerable people in the
community and respond to the challenges posed by demographic
changes and increasing homelessness pressures, which translate into
demand for transitional accommodation on an emergency basis.

31.

The Priory View Independent Living development in Dunstable, which
opened in April 2016, demonstrates the potential for HRA investment to
extend the Council’s portfolio of housing, mitigate the effect of Right to
Buy (RtB) sales on the Business Plan, and address the under provision
of Independent Living accommodation for older people, which is both a
local and national issue as a result of demographic change.

Agenda Item 11
Page 188
32.

Planning approval has been received for the new Independent Living
scheme at Houghton Regis, and the HCA have approved a bid for
grant funding of £4.26M towards the scheme. The Business Plan has
been modelled on the basis of a significant proportion (71, or 42%) of
the apartments being made available for shared ownership. For the
first time in the history of the Council’s HRA it is proposed to build 26
units (16%) for outright sale. The remaining 71 units (42%) are to be
let at an affordable rent. The scheme will also comprise at least 6 retail
units, two re-ablement suites, a community hub and an improved
heritage offer, aligned to the Houghton Hall Park project.

33.

The latest cost analysis suggests a total scheme cost of £35.333M
(£31.073M net after HCA funding). It is currently forecast that initial
design, appraisal and planning costs for the project will be £0.566M by
the end of 2017/18, with £3.855M of slippage proposed. It is therefore
proposed that £30.912M of expenditure is set aside over the MTFP.

34.

On the basis of a projected £35.333M total scheme cost, the financing
of the project is potentially: £4.26M of HCA funding, £20.415M sales
receipts and £10.658M financed by the HRA over the long term. These
are prudent sales value assumptions and could be improved,
depending on house price inflation. A key learning point from Priory
View is to maintain quality, to properly allow for Whole Life Building
Costs, as well as to achieve the optimum sales and rental values.

35.

The advantage of this approach is that a large proportion of the initial
cost of the scheme can be recycled (enabling continued investment in
future years), with current estimates (which will vary depending upon
actual valuations and percentages purchased at the time) suggesting
circa £20M of the net cost of £31M could be recycled in this way.
These sales receipts are at the heart of the Housing Investment Plan
approach, forming an intrinsic part of the Business Plan over the 30
year period. Without them the Council would not be able to pursue all
of the programmes referred to in this report. The approach to HRA
investment is strategic, balanced and makes best use of resources.

36.

A further scheme at the Brook (formerly referred to as Windsor Drive),
in Houghton Regis, envisages the development of a 20 unit, 3 storey
supported bedsit accommodation scheme that can be used for a
variety of client groups, for example single homeless entitled to
emergency transitional accommodation, and let on an affordable rent
basis. The estimated budget requirement is £2.074M, partially funded
(£0.622M) by the use of retained one for one RtB receipts.

37.

There is an additional scheme proposed at Potton Road,
Wrestlingworth, for 8 units (a mixture of shared ownership and
affordable rent). This scheme is a rural exception site, so is only
eligible for development as the housing proposed is affordable and
required by members of the local community.

Agenda Item 11
Page 189
The land is currently owned by Assets but it is proposed that it is
transferred to the HRA at a cost of £0.096M. The project cost of
£1.292M can be part funded by RtB receipts and commuted section
106 monies.
38.

During 2016/17 and 2017/18 the Council has spent £3.7M on the
purchase of 14 properties across the Council area. Purchasing
properties in this way has several advantages. The purchase can be
part funded (30%) by the use of RtB receipts retained for one for one
replacement (see Appendix D). After any necessary conversion the
properties can very quickly be used to supply accommodation for
vulnerable clients presenting as homeless, thereby saving General
Fund expenditure on costly transitional accommodation where only a
proportion of the rent would be paid for by Housing Benefit.
Purchasing properties in this way also offsets some of the reduction in
the Council’s housing stock occurring as a result of RtB.

39.

Unmet housing need and homelessness are increasing in Central
Bedfordshire, caused mainly by affordability problems and limited
supply of rented housing at or below Local Housing Allowance (LHA)
limits. The situation arises from what Government has called a ‘broken
housing market’. The Government has also broadened the scope of
who shall be eligible from April 2018 for local authority assistance
through the Homelessness Reduction Act. The size of potential new
demand is difficult to predict, but it is likely to be substantial.

40.

Pressures in neighbouring authorities have been evident for some
years, but those same pressures are now appearing in Central
Bedfordshire. Approximately 50% of the current Transitional
Accommodation (TA) demand is from a volatile population of people
who do not have a long-standing local connection to Central
Bedfordshire. They are generally in low paid, uncertain employment, in
and out of relationships and generally young and unsettled.

41.

The TA demand is likely to increase from circa 200 households being
housed (which had increased from circa 90 in 2016) to 669 households
in 2020, on any given date. The annual flow rate throughout the year is
due to increase from circa 339 households currently, to 1,134
households per annum (in 2020). These figures assume current supply
and other factors are held constant in managing this demand.

42.

A strategy is being formulated, that will address this situation by
increasing affordable housing delivery via section 106 agreements,
achieving greater delivery on our own land assets, and maximising our
nomination rights. Some of these measures will take time to deliver
results, but there is an opportunity for the HRA to make a significant
impact in the short term. This can be achieved by diverting resources
away from principal debt repayment to the acquisition of properties that
can be converted to provide a large number of hostel/HMO (house in
multiple occupation) properties.

Agenda Item 11
Page 190

43.

It is proposed that by re-profiling debt repayments an additional £11.2M
of funding is made available for the acquisition of properties that will
initially address the TA demand. This would enable a total of
£18.955M to be budgeted in the HRA Capital programme over the 4
years of the MTFP, with a large proportion (£9.965M) front loaded to
accelerate delivery. As an adjunct to this policy, at its meeting in
December 2017 Executive have approved the virement of £3.725M, of
funding previously allocated to the Croft Green project, to the
Acquisitions budget in 2017/18.

44.

If these proposals are agreed it would enable expenditure of £13.69M
on acquisitions by March 2019, and £22.68M over the MTFP period. It
is cautiously estimated that this would deliver 300 tenancies, but this
could be substantially higher if the Council is able to secure office
blocks or larger buildings that could be converted to multiple unit sites.

45.

During the last 2 years acquisitions have been pursued, and it has
become evident that the larger buildings are rarely available in the
Central Bedfordshire area, but they do exist in greater numbers in
adjoining Local Authority areas. Whilst preference will continue to be
given to purchasing sites within Central Bedfordshire it is proposed
that, to enable the maximum number of tenancies from the budget
available, where such opportunities emerge in close proximity to our
boundaries these should be considered.

46.

The transfer of the Greenacre site into the HRA has demonstrated that
this is one of the most cost effective mechanisms for delivering a large
concentration of units in a relatively short period of time. The next
Council Care Home to become available will be the Birches in
Shefford, which could be converted into circa 32 bedsits following the
same model as Greenacre. It is anticipated that this will be vacated in
February 2018. It is proposed that it is transferred into the HRA at a
cost of circa £2M (the final figure to be based on a formal valuation).

47.

Since the increase in RtB discounts in 2012 it has been assumed that
sales will be broadly in line with the amount of new build properties and
acquisitions, keeping the stock at around its current level (circa 5,200
properties). With the injection of capital proposed above, and the
increase in stock (circa 300 tenancies) in a short time frame, it is
anticipated that by 2022 the stock could be sustained at 5,500
properties/tenancies. As a result, sufficient additional net rent will be
generated to enable the Council to match one for one receipts over the
entire Business Plan period (assuming RtB sales remain at current
levels), with circa £4M per annum set aside for new build/acquisitions.

Agenda Item 11
Page 191
48.

There is a continuing, albeit modest, provision related to other site
developments and renewal schemes, totalling £0.252M over 4 years
and £2.508M over a 6 year period. An element of this budget is
assigned to redevelopment of the garage blocks. Prior to the rent
reduction announced in July 2015 a far greater budget provision had
been made for redevelopment of these sites. Whilst there is the
potential to convert many sites into residential dwellings there are a
number of additional challenges involved. Many garages were sold so
would need to be bought back, access is often restricted, and existing
services (e.g. water/sewerage) under the sites require diversion.

49.

In the context of the urgent need for a significant amount of transitional
accommodation, it is not proposed to assign large budgets to garage
site development over the MTFP period. However schemes will be
analysed with a view to bringing forward those that are most viable, or
deliver the greatest community benefit, to a design and planning stage,
with an open minded approach to delivery which could involve onward
sale. Other renewal schemes that could be funded over the 6 year
period include the remodelling of stock that no longer meets the needs
of prospective tenants, such as bedsits, or improvements to HRA
shops with flats above them.

50.

Over the MTFP period, the amount proposed to fund new build,
acquisitions and regeneration is £51.4M, and £61.1M over the 6 year
Investment Plan period, inclusive of Houghton Regis Central. When
combined with proposals for spend on stock protection and new
funding for existing stock, the programme totals £85.7M over 4 years
and £107.2M over 6 years. At a time of significant housing pressures,
where housing supply is constrained, this level of investment will
enhance and increase the housing stock, whilst being aligned to and
supporting the achievement of all of the Council’s strategic priorities.

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan & Reserves
51.

Table 2 below shows a summary of the Plan for the period of the
Council’s MTFP.

£M
Income
Spending on Revenue
Direct Revenue
Financing*
Debt costs (interest)
Debt repayment (principal)
Efficiency Savings
Contribution to ILDR**
Contribution to SR***
Net Balance

2018/19
(28.7)
16.4
3.1

2019/20
(29.5)
16.8
2.2

2020/21
(30.9)
17.2
1.8

2021/22
(32.1)
17.3
1.9

4.1
0.2
(1.7)
1.2
5.4
0.0

4.1
0.3
(0.6)
0.4
6.3
0.0

4.0
0.5
(0.4)
5.8
2.0
0.0

4.1
1.0
(0.2)
1.5
6.5
0.0

Agenda Item 11
Page 192
*
**
***

Financing of Capital programme by Revenue
Independent Living Development Reserve
Strategic Reserve

52.

Table 3 below shows a summary of the balances forecast to be
available in Reserves as at 1 April 2018, together with transfers to and
from Reserves over the period of the MTFP.

£M
Independent Living
Development
Balance b/fwd
Contributions to Reserve
Allocations from Reserve
Balance c/fwd
Strategic
Balance b/fwd
Contributions to Reserve
Allocations from Reserve
Balance c/fwd
Major Repairs
Balance c/fwd
HRA Balances
Balance c/fwd
TOTAL c/fwd

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

18.6
1.2
(0.8)
19.0

19.0
0.4
(16.0)
3.4

3.4
5.8
(9.2)
0.0

0.0
1.5
(1.5)
0.0

6.0
5.4
(10.9)
0.5

0.5
6.3
(5.1)
1.7

1.7
2.0
(3.2)
0.5

0.5
6.5
(3.7)
3.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

2.0
21.7

2.0
7.3

2.0
2.7

2.0
5.5

HRA Debt
53.

The HRA Business turnover, or annual rent debit (before void loss),
was £31.845M in 2016/17 (£30.575M in 2015/16). Total current and
former tenant arrears were £0.950M at the year end (£0.910M in
2015/16), with current arrears at £0.437M or 1.37% of the annual rent
debit (£0.428M or 1.4% at March 2016). The figure of 1.37% is a
0.43% positive variance against a target of 1.8%. Former tenant
arrears (FTA) were £0.513M, or 1.61% of the annual rent debit, against
a target of 1.5% (£0.482M or 1.58% at March 2016).

54.

A significant proportion of the current tenant arrears (£0.288M or 66%)
was less than 8 weeks old, and generally relates to minor timing issues
between rents becoming due and payments being made. With the
background of welfare reform, the Housing Operations Team have
implemented a pro-active approach to managing the impact on rent
arrears, known as Tenancy Sustainment.

Agenda Item 11
Page 193
This includes early intervention; ‘Right-sizing’ where appropriate;
enabling moves to happen; increased contact with our residents;
supporting tenants in making the right decisions regarding payment of
rent; and strong enforcement action when all other options have been
exhausted.
55.

Relationships with other Registered Providers of social housing have
enabled us to benchmark, research good practice, and ensure genuine
unrecoverable debts are presented for write off quarterly. This ensures
the FTA officer is concentrating their time on cases with the highest
probability of recovery. Since 2015 recovery of FTA debt has taken on
a completely different approach from previous years as research has
shown that the probability of recovery can actually increase with the
age of the debt. For example, if a family is evicted from one of our
properties it can take between 3 to 12 months for the family to resettle,
enabling a trace to be made and thus the debt can be pursued.

56.

Debt recovery plans may be put in place and take several years to
settle. An affordable payment plan reviewed on a regular basis
increases the probability of full recovery. Where contact is maintained,
debt can be recovered up to 6 years after becoming an FTA, however
where a period of 2 to 3 years has elapsed and no contact or trace has
been possible the debt will be put forward for write off. The current
approach to FTA debt has seen recoveries increasing to £0.130M,
compared to previous annual recoveries not exceeding £0.020M.

57.

The service is confident with the current approach and anticipates
further improvements in recovery rates. This performance is strong
compared with other Registered Providers (Housing Associations and
stock retained Authorities) and reflects the Service’s work to strengthen
the payment culture, enforcing the responsibility of our tenants to
prioritise the payment of their rent.

58.

Importantly, arrears will only become a cost to the HRA when they are
written off, or when additional provision is made to allow for the
possibility of bad debts being written off. The provision has been
increased steadily since 2013/14 to allow for the potential threats
posed by Welfare Reform, increasing from £0.380M at year end
2012/13 to £0.575M at year end 2016/17. However, the efficiency
savings related to the Tenancy Sustainment approach and strong
performance generally, has resulted in this provision being only
partially utilised during the last 4 years, with £0.064M written off in
2013/14, £0.051M in 2014/15, £0.015M in 2015/16, and £0.051M in
2016/17. As result, the contribution to the provision in 2016/17 was
only £0.086M, a saving on the budget of £0.119M of £0.033M.

Agenda Item 11
Page 194
Business Efficiency and System Resilience
59.

As well as financial uncertainties relating to interest rates, inflation on
rents and expenditures, and the financial implications of Government
legislation, there are risks to the Business Plan posed by potential
problems with labour supply and supply chains within the Construction
and Repairs/Maintenance sector. The Housing Service is reliant upon
construction/maintenance contractors for repairs and capital works,
and with such an ambitious new build programme the prevailing market
conditions for these skills is a key element to achieving those aims.

60.

A significant component (£0.235M over 3 years) of the efficiency
programme identified for the HRA relates to the Repairs service, with a
view to creating a new Repairs Delivery model by bringing together
several contracts in late 2018, whilst considering a range of delivery
options. A ‘self serve’ customer interface is being implemented, using
First Touch apps aligned to ‘end to end’ system integration between
contractor and Council systems. A further £0.1M of efficiencies relate
to savings achieved from digitalisation and First Touch technology.
The success of these projects will be reliant upon strong collaboration
and partnership working with colleagues in corporate ICT.

61.

By late 2018, the aim is to create a Repairs Delivery model that is
better able to respond to the problems within the labour market, so as
to retain a sustainable, skilled workforce, in terms of maintenance and
repair type operations. The project is in two stages. Initially, there is the
creation of a lean, fit for purpose, mainly self service customer interface
across all repairs operations; this is aligned to the creation of a
sustainable model to deliver high quality repairs and servicing. This will
be developed through an Options Appraisal process, to include the
potential for a Joint Venture model, offering the Council greater control.
The aim is to improve the sustainability of the workforce, whilst
partnering with Repairs contractors to benefit from their expertise.

62.

Complementing this approach is the continued investment in learning
and development, to support successful and sustained recruitment
across the Service. The Housing Service benefits from strength in
depth, particularly at Team Leader and Manager level, with managers
who are bringing through new, well trained talent. There is succession
planning and a commitment to provide employment opportunities for
those aged 18-24 (through the apprentice programme), increasingly
across a range of skills levels. The Workforce Plan for the HRA
includes an ambitious apprenticeship programme, with an increase
from 7 to 18 apprentices envisaged over the MTFP.

63.

The strategic approach is to create ‘System Resilience’, which will
enable the Council to avoid the high level of costs relating to
transitional accommodation that is being seen in other local authority
areas.

Agenda Item 11
Page 195
As part of the approach, the Housing Service has created an Intensive
Property Management Team (within the HRA) that will manage all of
the properties and rooms that are used for TA on a ‘hotel-style’ basis,
in part to maximise income; but more importantly, to avoid cost at the
level seen in neighbouring local authorities.
64.

Over time, it is envisaged that this provision will increase to circa 500
units (homes, single rooms, shared accommodation). These units will
function flexibly, as both TA and accommodation based supported
housing, the main aim being to avoid cost to the system. Whilst
management and maintenance costs are higher for this type of
accommodation, the greater concentration of tenancies will also
generate additional income for the HRA, through rents and service
charges. Should TA demand recede these units could be converted
into general needs tenancies, either for families or single adults.

65.

At the point of first contact with customers, whether our own tenants or
customers presenting in housing need or homeless, the approach is
‘prevention’ led, whether through tenancy sustainment; or actions that
extend the client’s existing housing arrangement. This includes greater
use of modern media methods (such as YouTube videos); and a focus
on the outcome in each case, avoiding distraction, with a philosophy
that “…every penny, every minute and every action counts…”.

66.

Whilst an increasing number of tenant transactions will be handled
remotely (for example via the Council’s website) there is also the
recognition that there is a benefit to an increased physical presence on
our estates. Estate and Tenancy Support officers are being
encouraged to be more visible, and spend more of their time in tenants’
properties, particularly with more vulnerable clients who need
additional assistance. The improvements to technology (i-pads and the
“First Touch” system) mean that tenants can be assisted with
budgeting, repairs can be requested, and personal information updated
whilst in the property, without the need to return to the office.

67.

This mind-set will help to eliminate waste by achieving the right result,
on a first time basis. This is being achieved through a comprehensive
modernisation approach that includes review and re-engineering of
business processes to eliminate waste and ensure the housing system
is ‘fit for purpose’. A sustained approach to efficiency and reinvestment, in particular to create ‘system resilience’, is imperative.
£0.193M of efficiencies over the MTFP relate to business process
review and management rationalisation.

68.

Efficiency in this context is not simply about doing more for less, but
about the effective management of our stock and our staff resources;
which unlike many Registered Landlords, includes significant
investment in Tenancy Support and accommodation based support
models.

Agenda Item 11
Page 196
For example, the Housing Service has created a ‘Children’s Offer’
using a first property for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children,
aged under 18 years, which includes support and is a progression
model towards permanent settled accommodation.
69.

By providing this service to the Children’s Services Directorate we
maximise the potential income for the HRA (in converting a single
tenancy into 3 tenancies with management support), but also deliver
savings to Children’s Services, who would otherwise have to source
the accommodation externally. Efficiency targets of £0.2M exist for this
type of activity within the HRA.

70.

Housing are constantly looking at options to assist with TA pressure in
the Council’s GF. This could include management of properties for
other landlords, using the expertise that exists within the Housing
Operations teams in the HRA. There is potential for such a scheme in
Caddington, owned by the Caddington and Slip End Trust (CASE),
where housing would charge a management fee, generating income for
the GF whilst providing much needed accommodation to address TA.

71.

In order to maximise the best use of our properties, there is a strategy
to incentivise “Rightsizing” that encourages tenants who are under
occupying properties to vacate larger homes and move to properties
that will be easier to manage for them and more appropriate for their
needs. This strategy helps to reduce arrears (caused for example by
the spare room subsidy), and therefore reduces the risk of lost rental
income. This has been reflected in the efficiencies, with £0.090M
allocated to savings from tenancy sustainment. A further benefit is that
this approach frees up accommodation for those on the Housing
Register. Priory View is a good example of this scenario where
residents have freed up either Council or non Council properties. This
approach is vital during a period in which supply is constrained and
where demand for accommodation has outstripped supply.

72.

The Independent Living model is therefore much more than just
schemes like Priory View, or Houghton Regis Central, although these
projects will provide solutions to help address the demographic
pressure and a growing older population. The flexible model of circa
500 units (homes and rooms) will provide supported housing to a range
of vulnerable client groups. In addition, the progression model through
the system will in time become the default approach. This will be aided
through the Council’s Tenancy Strategy, which introduced Introductory
and Fixed Term Tenancies in 2013 where previously the Council had
offered open ended, secure, tenancies.

Agenda Item 11
Page 197
73.

Over the MTFP, there is a £1.8M income target related to rental and
service charge income from the circa 300 tenancies created by the
proposed acquisitions budget. A proportion of this income will be offset
by additional resources required to manage and maintain these
specialised tenancies. Management is more intensive than for
conventional HRA tenancies. Also, there is a commitment to
developing staff internally in the Workforce Plan, with a particular
emphasis on the entry level (apprenticeship scheme).

74.

There are risks and uncertainties in the economic environment. The
strategy being proposed, choosing expansion rather than contraction,
does involve an additional dimension to core activities that will require
new skill sets and pose its own challenges. The approach will take time
to develop. However, taking this direction will see cost in the GF being
avoided and reduced as the HRA expands and enhances its asset
base, whilst at the same time expanding and developing the skills of
staff who will deliver a wider range of accommodation options and also
new services. There are risks, however these risks are being managed.

Rent reduction and Service Charges
75.

Rental and service charge income are the main funding sources for the
HRA. The Business Plan has been adapted to accommodate the 1%
reduction in rent for the first 2 years of the MTFP, in accordance with
legislation. In October 2017 The Government announced that from
2020 rents would rise by CPI + 1% for a five year period. For the
purposes of the Business Plan it has been assumed that this approach
will continue until the end of the Business Plan period. However longer
term rent policy is unknown, so to mitigate the risk it has also been
assumed that inflation on management, maintenance and capital
investment costs will also be at CPI + 1%, for the same period.

76.

The current policy interrupts the journey towards all tenants paying a
rent for their home that is determined by a ‘formula’. This approach to
rent setting had already been diluted for 2015/16 as all rents increased
by CPI+1%, regardless of whether a tenant was on the formula or the
lower, transitional rent. However re-lets continue to be made at
formula rent, with approximately 40% of tenants now paying a rent
determined by the ‘formula’. Whilst this figure is increasing every year,
if the movement to formula rent only occurs at change of tenancy then
it will take many years before all tenancies are at the formula rent.

77.

Approximately 37% of all the Council’s tenancies are funded entirely by
Housing Benefit. This group will gain no benefit from the rent reduction.
Whilst other tenants will benefit, this will lead to a widening of the gap
between Council and Private Rented Sector (PRS) rents, where supply
has not kept pace with demand and rent increases of 21% have
occurred in the Central Bedfordshire area in the 3 years prior to
2017/18.

Agenda Item 11
Page 198
Council rents are falling below 50% of private sector rents (depending
on property size), but by 2020 it is likely that the gap between private
sector and Council rents will have increased further. This will make it
increasingly difficult for Council tenants who may aspire to move out of
social housing and into the PRS.
78.

It is proposed that rents are set in line with Government statute, a
reduction of 1% for Central Bedfordshire Council tenants, for 2018/19.
The proposed rent reduction will result in an average decrease per
week of £1.08 from the 2017/18 average weekly rent of £108.38 to
£107.30. At a time of significant investment in the Housing stock,
amounting to £86M over the MTFP, the current level of rent and the
proposed reduction represent excellent value for money for tenants.

79.

The Housing Service undertook a full review of charging during 2013,
to determine whether the level of service charges for communal
services recouped the actual cost of providing those services. The
review found that in total there was a shortfall of £0.149M annually
between what was charged and the cost. From 2014/15 the Council
started to close this gap, limited to a maximum increase of £1.10 per
week for each tenant’s total communal service charges.

80.

This protection is limited to existing tenants. The true cost is charged
for all new tenancies, including those who are already Council tenants
but are transferring to another Council property. This approach
succeeded in reducing the shortfall to £0.055M, as at the beginning of
the financial year 2016/17. However, as the base data for actual costs
related to 2012/13 another full review was undertaken last year to
assess the current gap, based on the actual cost for the year 2015/16.

81.

The revised actual cost data was used to calculate the current
difference between what the Council is paying and the tenant is being
charged, so that service charges were adjusted in 2017/18. However,
the policy of limiting the maximum increase to £1.10 per week
continued. As a result the gap between the cost to the Council and the
amount recouped has dropped to circa £0.026M, which represents a
considerable improvement from the position in 2013/14. It is proposed
to continue this approach for 2018/19, so that the gap closes further.

The Void Levy, changes to LHA, funding for Supported Housing and the
HRA Debt Cap
82.

Government has announced the extension of RtB to Housing
Association tenants. This involves offering qualifying Housing
Associations tenants a discount, which may be funded via the sale of
high value void properties by stock retained Authorities.

Agenda Item 11
Page 199
The legislation does not force Authorities to sell their high value voids,
but does make provision for Government to calculate “…the market
value of the authority’s interest in any high value housing that is likely
to become vacant during the year…” and collect this payment less
allowable costs, the nature of which will be set out once a
determination is made.
83.

During 2016/17 and 2017/18 a limited pilot of the scheme has taken
place. Government have funded the cost of Housing Association
discounts during this period. Government have announced that piloting
of the scheme will continue in 2018/19, but have not confirmed if
Councils will be required to make a payment in relation to the sale of
high value voids (a “Void Levy”) in 2018/19.

84.

This policy still represents a significant long term risk as it is unknown
how many Housing Association tenants will execute the RtB each year,
and therefore the sum that will be required from each stock retained
authority. At this point, the formula that will be used to make future
determinations is unknown, so the amounts that may be due from
Central Bedfordshire are also unknown. As with any estimation of
future activity, the actual void rate and financial value of voids will differ
from the calculation made by Government.

85.

The Council will need to consider its strategy in relation to this
legislation. Even if sufficient high value voids materialise, to enable
sales income to cover the amounts that will be due, it may not
necessarily be the best option to sell some or all of the properties
concerned, as they may provide a better longer term return to the
Business Plan than the value of the capital receipt. Given this uncertain
context, the Business Plan has been constructed to ensure that
sufficient funds are available in Reserves to offset the risk that income
from void sales will not equal or exceed the amount determined by
Government as due from Central Bedfordshire Council.

86.

In the Autumn Statement of November 2015 the Chancellor announced
that Local Housing Allowance (LHA) caps would apply to social
housing from April 2018, for tenancies that commenced after April
2016. The effect would be to limit housing benefit payments to LHA
rates for Council tenancies. Whilst the vast majority of Council rents
are well below LHA levels, newly built properties are generally charged
an affordable rent which would generally exceed the LHA rate. In
October 2017 the Prime Minister announced that the LHA cap will not
be applied to the social housing sector, so any risk to future rental
income streams from this policy has disappeared.

Agenda Item 11
Page 200
87.

One of the largest areas of concern about this policy had been the
impact on supported accommodation, where the costs of managing
tenancies and maintaining properties is generally higher than the
average cost for social housing. There was a concern within the social
housing sector that if rents were restricted to LHA then many supported
schemes, particularly future developments, would become financially
unviable. The Council’s new build programme mainly comprises
supported accommodation for older/vulnerable tenants, for example
Priory View or Houghton Regis Central, so this was a potential risk.

88.

Government policy in this area has evolved. A further announcement
in September 2016 indicated that the LHA restriction would not be
applied to supported accommodation until April 2019, at which point
Government will bring in a new funding model which will “…ensure the
supported housing sector continues to be funded at current levels...”.
This system would have devolved funding to English local authorities to
provide additional top-up funding to Providers, from a ‘ring fenced pot’.
There was, however, a fear within the Housing sector that the top up
fund would not fully compensate social housing providers for the
differential between LHA and the affordable rent.

89.

Government have reacted to this concern and have recently proposed
a new funding regime that is tailored to the 3 different types of
supported housing. For sheltered and extra care housing a “Sheltered
Rent” is envisaged from April 2020; this will take into account the
higher cost of these types of housing compared to general needs
housing. Meanwhile short term supported housing, such as TA, will be
funded by a new ring-fenced grant to Local Authorities from 2020,
based on current projections of future need. Longer term supported
housing for working-age tenants (for example, housing for people with
learning or physical disabilities or mental ill health) will continue to be
funded through the welfare system (housing benefit/Universal Credit).

90.

A consultation has been launched on these proposals, and concludes
in January 2018. Whilst the initial reaction within the sector is positive
there is still uncertainty as to what the “sheltered rent” will be set at,
particularly as it will now be based on a “gross eligible rent” that will
include eligible service charges. There is also the risk that the grant for
short term supported housing will not be sufficient to cover future need.
The policy statement issued by Government stresses that discussions
will occur with Local Authorities (via consultation) to ensure that the
sheltered rent and grant amount “take account of the cost of provision”.

91.

When the Self-Financing system was introduced in 2012 every stock
retained Authority was given a debt cap, set at the level of its SelfFinancing settlement figure. In the case of Central Bedfordshire this is
£164,995,000. As the Council’s debt is currently at this level it is
prohibited from further borrowing to develop new housing. Recently
there have been indications that Government may relax this restraint.

Agenda Item 11
Page 201
92.

In 2014 the Chancellor offered Councils £300M of additional HRA
borrowing capacity, with a target of 10,000 new homes. That
programme was wound down as there was insufficient take up of the
offer, with circa £220M allocated and plans for just 3,000 new homes
nationally. In the White Paper of February 2017 there was reference to
the opportunity for “bespoke housing deals” with Local Authorities in
“high demand areas, which have a genuine ambition to build”.

93.

In the budget of 22 November 2017 the Chancellor developed this
approach further by announcing that Government would lift HRA debt
caps in areas of high demand. According to Budget documents, Local
Authorities will be invited to bid for increases in their caps from 2019/20
up to a total of £1Bn by the end of 2021/22. Further details will emerge
over coming weeks, and the potential for schemes that cannot currently
be funded from existing budgets will be explored with a view to bidding.

HRA Capital Programme
94.

The Draft 2018/19 – 2021/22 HRA detailed Capital programme is
attached at Appendix C. The programme is expected to be financed by
Homes and Communities Agency grant funding; contributions from
retained rentals (revenue contributions), capital receipts from Right to
Buy (RtB); capital receipts from shared ownership and outright sales,
as well as land sales, commuted Section 106 contributions and
contributions from Reserves. A breakdown of financing is shown in
Appendix A. The overall position on financing within the Housing
Revenue Account is increasingly varied.

Engagement with Overview & Scrutiny Committees and Tenants
95.

The draft HRA Budget report will be presented to the Corporate
Resources Committee on 25 January 2018. Consultation with the
Tenant Investment Panel (TIP) over the Investment Plan occurred
during the autumn of 2017, with full tenant approval of all project lines.

96.

The draft Budget and Investment Plan will be presented to the Way
Forward Panel, Supported Involved Residents Forum (SIRF) and TIP
on 9 January 2018. Feedback from these tenant groups will appear in
the final budget report, as will all comments received from stakeholders
engaged with during the consultation on the Draft HRA Budget.

Council Priorities
97.

The proposed actions support the Council’s priority to enhance Central
Bedfordshire by providing great resident services, managing growth
effectively and balancing regeneration aims with growth, through
investment to promote economic benefit, employment and renewal. At
the same time, improvements are focused on enhancing the wellbeing
of the more vulnerable members of the community.

Agenda Item 11
Page 202
98.

The Housing Service approach clearly demonstrates and supports the
journey towards being a more efficient and responsive council.

Corporate Implications
Legal Implications
99.

The Budget sets out the resources that are required to enable the
authority to discharge its statutory obligations as a Housing Authority.

Financial Implications
100.

These are set out within the report. The HRA Business Plan shows
that rental income will exceed the anticipated costs of managing the
stock over 30 years, which will provide annual surpluses that will create
opportunities for new investment, whilst repaying debt (£165M).

Equalities Implications
101.

There are no Human rights or equality implications arising directly from
this report, although the re-provision and re-modelling of sheltered and
general needs housing would be subject to Equalities Assessment.

Risk Management
102.

In considering the budget proposals, it is necessary to take account of
the associated risks and in particular the budget planning assumptions
contained within Appendix D attached. Any changes to these could
impact on the financial position of the HRA Business Plan.

103.

Given the sudden and unexpected change in rent policy announced in
the Emergency Budget of July 2015, there is always the risk that
Government rent policy will be adjusted. However the announcement
that rent setting will return to CPI+1% for a 5 year period from 2020
does establish some partial reassurance that long term rent increases
will be based on CPI +1%. As a result rental income in the Business
Plan has been assumed to rise at 3.5% per year from year 3 to year
30, equivalent to CPI at 2.5% + 1%. CPI has fluctuated dramatically
over recent years, but 2.5% represents a longer, historical average.

104.

The opening balances on Reserves, over and above the contingency of
£2.2M, are predicted to be £24.6M as at 1 April 2018, with
contributions from Reserves amounting to £11.7M to fund investment
in the year 2018/19. The estimated balance in Reserves, excluding
contingency, as at 31 March 2019, is £19.5M. Whilst most of this
amount is provisionally earmarked for the schemes proposed in the
future years of the Investment Plan, it could (if required) be diverted to
address shortfalls in amounts due to Government in relation to the void
levy, or to repay debt if the interest rate environment changed.

Agenda Item 11
Page 203
105.

Another key risk is in relation to the HRA Debt Strategy. The current
average rate of interest on HRA debt is 2.38%. Increases to interest
rates would have an immediate effect on the variable rate loans, and
could have an impact on refinancing costs for the fixed rate loans that
mature from 2024. Close monitoring of financial market conditions,
allied to a consideration of principal debt repayment, is required to
deliver a debt strategy that will support the HRA Business Plan.

106.

There are risks that relate to income collection, arising from Welfare
Reform, in particular the spare room subsidy and introduction of
Universal Credit. The mitigation of the impact of the spare room
subsidy is a proactive approach being taken to enable tenants to move.
During the current year, 17 new tenancies have been created through
enabling Mutual Exchanges and Transfers, so that people are able to
secure accommodation that they can afford to occupy in the long term.
The Council is committed to being responsive; customer focussed; and
supporting community self reliance through provision of a high quality
housing management service that mitigates risk in this area.

107.

The Housing Service is informing tenants of Benefit changes; allocating
additional staff resources to controlling arrears and supporting tenants
to manage their income. The Housing Service performs well on
income collection and re-letting properties. The Housing Service is
getting closer to customers, having established the approach known as
“tenancy sustainment”. Whilst this approach incurs higher revenue
costs, the approach is a benefit to tenants and saves money to the
whole system, benefitting the Council as well as the Health system.

108.

There is a further risk that future Right to Buy (RtB) sales will reach
levels that adversely affect the Business Plan, by significantly reducing
income streams. The government is committed to helping those
tenants with an aspiration to own their own home and, to further this
aim, the discounts available under RtB were increased in April 2012.
The current maximum discount is £78,600, and this rises each year in
line with inflation. From July 2014 the maximum percentage discount
for tenants living in houses increased from 60% to 70%, to provide
parity with those purchasing their own flats, and from May 2015 the
qualifying period for the RtB was dropped from 5 to 3 years.

109.

Whilst there has been an increase in RtB sales since 2012, with 29
sales in 2016/17 and 20 in the financial year up to the end of October
2017, this represents a small percentage of the stock of approximately
5,200 rented homes. For further information, see Appendix D.

110.

In terms of strategic direction, it is imperative that the replacement of
homes sold through Right to Buy is maintained through an ambitious
new build and/or acquisition programme that maintains ‘pace’. Were
the stock level (circa 5,500 including Leasehold managed properties) to
reduce substantially, the Business Plan (and all that we are able to do)
would need to contract.

Agenda Item 11
Page 204

Therefore, the pace of progress (new build or acquisitions) must be
maintained to avoid the immediate risk of having to repay RtB receipts
to Government, or the risk of having to contract.
Community Safety
111.

The options set out in the report provide opportunities to work with
community safety partners to ensure the best outcomes. There is a
pro-active approach to casework as well as close monitoring of
performance, which ensures Anti Social Behaviour is well managed by
the Housing Service.

Sustainability
112.

Investment in the housing stock and specifically the proposed mixed
tenure, mixed use Independent Living scheme in Houghton Regis will
contribute to regeneration across Central Bedfordshire and provide
wider economic benefits and employment; as well as significant town
centre impact. The investment in Crescent Court, Toddington supports
the sustainability of the village.

Conclusion
113.

There is an ongoing ambition for the HRA to be a modern, growing
business, operating efficiently by using technology, avoiding cost, and
growing income and productivity. The Council’s Housing offer is
aligned to the Council’s core social purpose and affords tight grip and
close management of the local housing system.

Next Steps
114.

A period of public consultation will commence from January 2018.

115.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees will consider the Budget proposals
in their January 2018 cycle of meetings and comments will be included
in the final Budget report to be presented to Council at its February
2018 meeting.

Appendices
The following Appendices are attached:
i.

Appendix A: 30 year forecast of Housing Service capital and revenue
expenditure; and also income, which is the summary of the Landlord
Business Plan

ii.

Appendix B: Summary of the Business Plan for the period 2018-2024

iii.

Appendix C: 2018/19 – 2021/22 Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
detailed Capital programme

Agenda Item 11
Page 205
iv.

Appendix D: HRA Budget Assumptions

Background Papers
The following background papers, not previously available to the
public, were taken into account and are available on the Council’s
website:
None

This page is intentionally left blank

LANDLORD BUSINESS PLAN
Revenue Account

2 0 1 8 /1 9
£'
000s

2 0 1 9/2 0
£'
000s

2 0 2 0 /2 1
£'
000s

2 0 2 1 /2 2
£'
000s

2 0 2 2 /2 3
£'
000s

2 0 2 3/2 4
£'
000s

2 0 2 4/2 5
£'
000s

2 0 2 5/2 6
£'
000s

2 0 2 6/2 7
£'
000s

2 0 2 7 /2 8
£'
000s

Income

(28,669)

(29,536)

(30,842)

(32,147)

(33,233)

(34,356)

(35,517)

(36,719)

(37,961)

(39,247)

8 , 647
543
94
2, 008
5, 0 47
103
3, 1 54
(1 , 68 1 )
17,915

8 , 97 7
58 6
100
2, 008
5, 0 52
88
2 , 2 45
(561 )
18,495

9, 2 8 6
630
107
2, 008
5, 0 7 4
73
1, 8 00
(42 6)
18,551

9, 48 1
60 3
113
2, 008
5, 0 0 4
73
1 , 8 98
(1 8 0 )
19,000

9, 7 2 3
62 4
117
2, 07 8
5, 0 95
75
1 , 61 0
(1 8 6)
19,135

9, 97 0
646
121
2 , 1 51
5, 32 1
78
1 , 553
(1 93)
19,647

10, 222
669
125
2, 226
5, 42 2
81
2, 27 0
(2 0 0 )
20,816

(10,753)

(11,041)

(12,290)

(13,147)

(14,097)

(14,709)

(14,701)

(15,561)

(15,248)

(16,033)

(459,010)

(596,592)

4, 0 53
200
(6,501)

4, 0 51
30 0
(6,690)

4, 0 49
50 0
(7,741)

4, 1 0 0
1, 000
(8,047)

4, 8 8 7
3, 7 1 1
(5,500)

5, 57 1
4, 1 37
(5,000)

5, 42 7
4, 0 7 5
(5,200)

5, 2 8 4
4, 47 7
(5,800)

5, 1 2 7
4, 7 2 1
(5,400)

4, 962
4, 7 7 1
(6,300)

51 , 30 7
1 37 , 0 0 3
(270,700)

98 , 8 1 9
1 64, 8 95
(332,878)

Debt Repayment Profile
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) b/fwd
Inc reas e i
n C FR (i
nt/extborrowi
ng)
Red u c ti
on i
n C FR (pri
nc i
palrepaym ent)
CFR c/fwd

164,895
0
(2 0 0 )
164,695

164,695
0
(30 0 )
164,396

164,396
0
(50 0 )
163,895

163,895
0
(1 , 0 0 0 )
162,895

162,895
0
(3, 7 1 1 )
159,184

159,184
0
(4, 1 37 )
155,047

155,047
0
(4, 0 7 5)
150,972

150,972
0
(4, 47 7 )
146,495

146,495
0
(4, 7 2 1 )
141,774

141,774
0
(4, 7 7 1 )
137,003

137,003
0
(1 37 , 0 0 3)
0

Independend Living Development Reserve
Balance Brought Forward
C ontri
bu ti
on to Res erve (from N etS u rplu s )
C ontri
bu ti
on from Res erve (to fu nd expend i
tu re)
Balance Carried Forward

(18,694)
(1 , 1 56)
782
(19,068)

(19,068)
(37 4)
1 6, 0 0 0
(3,442)

(3,442)
(5, 7 7 1 )
9, 2 1 2
0

0
(1 , 50 0 )
1 , 50 0
0

Strategic Reserve
Balance Brought Forward
C ontri
bu ti
on to Res erve (from N etS u rplu s )
C ontri
bu ti
on from Res erve (to fu nd expend i
tu re)
Balance Carried Forward

(5,999)
(5, 345)
10, 8 7 7
(467)

(467)
(6, 31 6)
5, 1 0 2
(1,681)

(1,681)
(1 , 97 0 )
3, 2 0 6
(445)

(445)
(6, 547 )
3, 668
(3,324)

(3,324)
(5, 50 0 )
4, 8 2 6
(3,998)

(3,998)
(5, 0 0 0 )
5, 498
(3,500)

(3,500)
(5, 2 0 0 )
5, 38 6
(3,314)

(3,314)
(5, 8 0 0 )
5, 57 5
(3,539)

(3,539)
(5, 40 0 )
5, 7 7 1
(3,168)

(3,168)
(6, 30 0 )
5, 97 3
(3,495)

(3,495)
(1 7 0 , 7 8 1 )
1 7 3, 57 8
(698)

Major Repairs Reserve
Balance Brought Forward
C ontri
bu ti
on to Res erve (from N etS u rplu s )
C ontri
bu ti
on from Res erve (to fu nd expend i
tu re)
Balance Carried Forward

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

(200)
0
0
(200)

HRA Balances
Balance Brought Forward
C ontri
bu ti
on (to)/from Res erve
Balanced Carried Forward

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
0
(2,000)

(2,000)
(99, 91 9)
(101,919)

Unapplied HRA Capital Receipts
Unapplied Capital Receipts b/fwd
C ontri
bu ti
on (to)C api
talRec ei
pts
Us e ofC apti
alRec ei
pts
Unapplied Capital Receipts c/fwd

(5,474)
(2 , 7 50 )
5, 37 3
(2,851)

(2,851)
(2 , 7 50 )
5, 0 0 1
(600)

(600)
(1 3, 7 90 )
1 1 , 42 8
(2,962)

(2,962)
(1 6, 565)
4, 50 0
(15,027)

(15,027)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(13,777)

(13,777)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(12,527)

(12,527)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(11,277)

(11,277)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(10,027)

(10,027)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(8,777)

(8,777)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(7,527)

(7,527)
(55, 0 0 0 )
61 , 7 50
(777)

Capital Programme
Ind epend entL i
vi
ng D evelopm ent
S toc kP rotec ti
on & O therN ew B u i
ld /Regenerati
on
Total Capital programme

782
1 9, 40 4
20,186

1 6, 0 0 0
1 2 , 348
28,348

9, 2 1 2
1 6, 434
25,646

1 , 50 0
1 0 , 0 66
11,566

0
1 0 , 436
10,436

0
1 1 , 0 51
11,051

0
1 1 , 656
11,656

0
11, 7 22
11,722

0
1 2 , 997
12,997

0
1 3, 2 0 9
13,209

0
38 6, 0 32
386,032

2 7 , 494
51 5, 355
542,849

Financed by:
C api
talRec ei
pts
Revenu e C ontri
bu ti
ons
C ontri
bu ti
ons from Res erves
Total Capital programme

5, 37 3
3, 1 54
1 1 , 659
20,186

5, 0 0 1
2 , 2 45
21, 102
28,348

1 1 , 42 8
1, 8 00
1 2 , 41 8
25,646

4, 50 0
1 , 8 98
5, 1 68
11,566

4, 0 0 0
1 , 61 0
4, 8 2 6
10,436

4, 0 0 0
1 , 553
5, 498
11,051

4, 0 0 0
2, 27 0
5, 38 6
11,656

4, 0 0 0
2 , 1 47
5, 57 5
11,722

4, 0 0 0
3, 2 2 6
5, 7 7 1
12,997

4, 0 0 0
3, 2 36
5, 97 3
13,209

61 , 7 50
1 50 , 7 0 4
1 7 3, 57 8
386,032

1 1 2 , 0 52
1 7 3, 8 43
2 56, 954
542,849

Expenditure
H ou s i
ng O perati
ons
Fi
nanc i
alInc lu s i
on
H ou s i
ng Inves tm ent
C orporate S ervi
c es
M ai
ntenanc e
D ebtRelated C os ts
Di
rec tRevenu e Fi
nanc i
ng
L and lord S ervi
c e E ffi
ci
enc y P rogram m e
Total Expenditure
Net Operating Expenditure
Interes tpaym ents
D ebtRepaym ent
Net surplus

1 0 , 48 0
692
1 30
2 , 30 4
5, 52 7
84
2 , 1 47
(2 0 7 )
21,157

1 0 , 7 44
7 16
1 34
2 , 38 4
5, 636
87
3, 2 2 6
(2 1 4)
22,713

11, 013
7 41
1 39
2 , 468
5, 7 48
90
3, 2 36
(2 2 1 )
23,214

2 0 2 8 -48
£'
000s
(1,135,557)

2 8 5, 944
2 1 , 695
4, 0 69
7 2 , 2 34
1 45, 7 55
2 , 62 3
1 50 , 7 0 4
(6, 47 6)
676,547

TO TA L
£'
000s
(1,473,783)

877,191

Memorandum

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

(8 , 8 0 1 )

(2 2 4, 1 59)

0

(99, 91 9)

(332,878)

Agenda Item 11

Page 207

171207 Appendix A 30yr HRA Business Plan summary

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Page 209
LANDLORD BUSINESS PLAN
Revenue Account

2 0 1 8 /1 9
£'
000s

2 0 1 9/2 0
£'
000s

2 0 2 0 /2 1
£'
000s

2 0 2 1 /2 2
£'
000s

2 0 2 2 /2 3
£'
000s

2 0 2 3/2 4
£'
000s

TO TA L
£'
000s

Income

(28,669)

(29,536)

(30,842)

(32,147)

(33,233)

(34,356)

(188,782)

17,915

18,495

18,551

19,000

19,135

19,647

112,744

(10,753)

(11,041)

(12,290)

(13,147)

(14,097)

(14,709)

(76,038)

4, 0 53
200
(6,501)

4, 0 51
30 0
(6,690)

4, 0 49
50 0
(7,741)

4, 1 0 0
1, 000
(8,047)

4, 8 8 7
3, 7 1 1
(5,500)

5, 57 1
4, 1 37
(5,000)

2 6, 7 1 1
9, 8 48
(39,479)

Independent Living Development Reserve
Balance Brought Forward
C ontribu tion to Res erve (from N etS u rplu s )
C ontribu tion from Res erve (to fu nd expend itu re)
Balance Carried Forward

(18,694)
(1 , 1 56)
782
(19,068)

(19,068)
(37 4)
1 6, 0 0 0
(3,442)

(3,442)
(5, 7 7 1 )
9, 2 1 2
0

0
(1 , 50 0 )
1 , 50 0
0

Strategic Reserve
Balance Brought Forward
C ontribu tion to Res erve (from N etS u rplu s )
C ontribu tion from Res erve (to fu nd expend itu re)
Balance Carried Forward

(5,999)
(5, 345)
10, 8 7 7
(467)

(467)
(6, 31 6)
5, 1 0 2
(1,681)

(1,681)
(1 , 97 0 )
3, 2 0 6
(445)

(445)
(6, 547 )
3, 668
(3,324)

(3,324)
(5, 50 0 )
4, 8 2 6
(3,998)

(3,998)
(5, 0 0 0 )
5, 498
(3,500)

(200)

(200)

(200)

(200)

(200)

(200)

(2,000)

(2,000)

(2,000)

(2,000)

(2,000)

(2,000)

Expenditure
Net Operating Expenditure
Interes tpaym ents
D ebtRepaym ent
Net surplus
Memorandum

Major Repairs Reserve
Balance Carried Forward
HRA Balances
Balanced Carried Forward

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

(8 , 8 0 1 )

(30 , 67 8 )

(39,479)
Unapplied HRA Capital Receipts
Unapplied Capital Receipts b/fwd
C ontribu tion (to)C apitalRec eipts
Us e ofC apitalRec eipts
Unapplied Capital Receipts c/fwd

(5,474)
(2 , 7 50 )
5, 37 3
(2,851)

(2,851)
(2 , 7 50 )
5, 0 0 1
(600)

Capital Programme
Ind epend entL iving D evelopm ent
S toc kP rotec tion & O therN ew B u ild /Regeneration
Total Capital programme

782
1 9, 40 4
20,186

Financed by:
C apitalRec eipts
Revenu e C ontribu tions
C ontribu tions from Res erves
Total Capital programme

5, 37 3
3, 1 54
1 1 , 659
20,186

171207 Appendix B 6yr HRA Business Plan summary

(600)
(1 3, 7 90 )
1 1 , 42 8
(2,962)

(2,962)
(1 6, 565)
4, 50 0
(15,027)

(15,027)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(13,777)

(13,777)
(2 , 7 50 )
4, 0 0 0
(12,527)

1 6, 0 0 0
1 2 , 348
28,348

9, 2 1 2
1 6, 434
25,646

1 , 50 0
1 0 , 0 66
11,566

0
1 0 , 436
10,436

0
1 1 , 0 51
11,051

2 7 , 494
7 9, 7 39
107,233

5, 0 0 1
2 , 2 45
21, 102
28,348

1 1 , 42 8
1, 8 00
1 2 , 41 8
25,646

4, 50 0
1 , 8 98
5, 1 68
11,566

4, 0 0 0
1 , 61 0
4, 8 2 6
10,436

4, 0 0 0
1 , 553
5, 498
11,051

34, 30 2
1 2 , 2 60
60 , 67 1
107,233

(41 , 355)

This page is intentionally left blank

Central Bedfordshire Council
Medium Term Financial Plan 2018-19

Capital Programme

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Schemes

Stock Protection
2018/19 Capital Budget
Directorate

HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA

HRA
HRA
HRA

General
Enhancements
Lift Replacement
Fire Safety & Alarm
Systems

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2019/20 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2020/21 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000

107
0

107
0

109
62

109
62

111
64

111
64

114
65

114
65

441
191

0
0

441
191

108

108

52

52

53

53

54

54

267

0

267

Garage Refurbishment
Paths & Fences
Siteworks
Estate & Green Space
Improvements
Energy Conservation
Roof Replacement
Assisted Living
Technology
Central Heating
Installation
Rewiring
Kitchens and
Bathrooms
Central Heating
communal
Door Replacement
Structural Repairs
Aids and Adaptations
Drainage and Water
Supply
Capitalised Salaries

115

115

120

120

126

126

133

133

494

0

494

112

112

114

114

117

117

119

119

462

0

462

214
459
566

214
459
566

224
499
577

224
499
577

237
527
589

237
527
589

250
541
601

250
541
601

925
2026
2333

0
0
0

925
2026
2333

51

51

52

52

53

53

0

0

156

0

156

724
240

724
240

739
260

739
260

807
287

807
287

855
314

855
314

3125
1101

0
0

3125
1101

882

882

1042

1042

1065

1065

1089

1089

4078

0

4078

28
296
204
434

28
296
204
434

29
302
208
442

29
302
208
442

31
308
212
451

31
308
212
451

32
314
216
460

32
314
216
460

120
1220
840
1787

0
0
0
0

120
1220
840
1787

39
420

39
420

42
431

42
431

45
441

45
441

48
452

48
452

174
1744

0
0

174
1744

Asbestos Management
Parking Schemes
Investment Panel
Programme
Targeted Door
Replacement
Sheltered Housing
Refurbishment
New Windows
New Scheme Planned
Maintenance

245
50

245
50

260
50

260
50

276
50

276
50

292
50

292
50

1073
200

0
0

1073
200

50

50

50

50

50

50

50

50

200

0

200

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

24

0

24

300
141

300
141

256
211

256
211

265
219

265
219

274
249

274
249

1095
820

0
0

1095
820

171118 Appendix C HRA Capital MTFP

0

5791

0

5791

0

6137

0

6137

6390

0

0

44

6390

6622

0

44

44

0

44

6622

24940

0

24940

Page 211

Subtotal - Stock Protection

Agenda Item 11

HRA

Scheme Title

2018/19 Capital Budget
Directorate

Scheme Title

Gross
Expenditure
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2019/20 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2020/21 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

2021/22 Capital Budget

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Total Budget 2018/19 - 2021/22

Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
£'000
£'000

External
Funding
£'000

Net
Expenditure
£'000

Future Investment
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA
HRA

Stock Remodelling
Houghton Regis
Central
Crescent Court,
Toddington
The Brook, Houghton
Regis
Site Development
Croft Green, Dunstable
Potton Road,
Wrestlingworth
New Build &
Acquisitions

Subtotal - Future Investment
Subtotal - Stock Protection
Grand Total

985

50

50

50

50

50

782

782

16000

16000

10500

10500

3630

0

0

3000

2325

5200

5200

966

1409
112

1409
112

665
40

665
40

0
50

0
50

50

500

500

0

0

642

642

650

650

9965

14395
5791
20186

0
0
0

9965

2481

14395
5791
20186

22886
6137
29023

-675

-675
0
-675

50

1135

0

1135

-2130

1500

30912

-2130

28782

-675

291

9166

-1350

7816

0
50

2074
252

0
0

2074
252

0

500

0

500

1292

0

1292

0

2481

3456

22211
6137
28348

19256
6390
25646

0
0
0

3456

3053

19256
6390
25646

7749
6622
14371

-2805
0
-2805

3053

18955

0

18955

4944
6622
11566

64286
24940
89226

-3480
0
-3480

60806
24940
85746

Agenda Item 11

Page 212

171118 Appendix C HRA Capital MTFP

985

Agenda Item 11
Page 213
APPENDIX D
B UD GE T A S S UM P TIO N S : H RA B UD GE T

The budget is based upon, and includes, the following key assumptions:
E c onom ic
i.

For 2018/19, allowance has been made for pay inflation, inflation on
supplies and services where contractually agreed, -1% on rental
income in line with the latest Government legislation, and 2% on other
(services) income;

ii.

Allowance has been made for pay Inflation, inflation on supplies and
services where contractually agreed, and 2% on other (services)
income, up until 2021/22, with 3.5% increases in income and
expenditure in the following years of the Landlord Business Plan;

iii.

Inflation of -1% on rental income in 2019/20, with a 3.5% increase in
rental income in the following years

iv.

An average interest rate on debt of 2.46% for the period 2018/19 to
2020/21, and 2.50% for 2021/22. This reflects the known average
interest on fixed rate loans and forecasts for variable interest rates
used in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. For 2022/23 an
average interest rate of 3.0% is assumed, with 3.5% thereafter.

Financ ial
i.

HRA Balances to remain at approximately £2M until such time as the
debt is repaid, thereby reducing debt related costs rather than building
up unnecessary levels of reserves;

ii.

Surpluses that remain after revenue expenditure, capital expenditure,
principal debt repayment and debt interest costs are to be allocated to
the earmarked reserve for Independent Living Development (ILDR) and
the Strategic Reserve (SR). The SR is then available to support the
Business Plan, e.g. for further investment;

iii.

1% allowance for voids in the calculation of rental income over the Plan
period. Voids performance is upper quartile, demonstrating the
financial value of tenancy sustainment and reduction in re-let periods.

iv.

An Efficiency Programme that is set out within the Landlord Business
Plan Summary, which identifies a saving of £1.681M against the cost of
the Housing Service in 2018/19, and projects year on year savings
over the life of the plan; and

Appendix D HRA Budget Assumptions

Agenda Item 11
Page 214
v.

A prudent approach to treasury management with a debt profile
balanced between an element of variable rate loans and fixed rate
loans in accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

O perational
i.

The plans for stock investment are in line with the stock condition
survey data over a 30 year period;

ii.

The delivery of the priorities set out in the Housing Asset Management
Strategy (HAMS); and

iii.

A continuing improvement in the Council’s offer to tenants and
leaseholders, as well as delivery of estate improvements and wider
regeneration aims.
E xternal–C hanges to Rightto B u y

i.

Potential loss of income arising from an increased number of Right to
Buy (RtB) sales will not adversely affect the Landlord Service Business
Plan.

ii.

New RtB discounts and proposals for re-investing the capital receipts
came into effect from April 2012, with revisions in July 2014, which
increase the maximum discount available to tenants from £0.034M to
their current level of £0.079M. Further changes in May 2015 mean that
tenants can execute their RtB after 3 years, as opposed to 5 years.

iii.

Central Government have increased the discounts in order to incentivise
tenants to exercise their Right to Buy; it is the intention to replace each
property sold in this way with a new build property.

iv.

The self-financing settlement was based on the average level of RtB
sales in the 4 preceding financial years, and therefore did not take into
account the changes to discounts.

v.

Government has altered the Housing Pooling regulations to compensate
Local Authorities for this change, so that the proportion of debt
attributable to those extra properties sold by RtB, as a result of the
increased discount, is deducted from the sale receipt prior to the
calculation of the amount to be transferred (or “pooled”).

vi.

The calculation of pooling also takes into account the receipts for the
Council and Government as modelled into the self-financing calculations.
The residual (or “surplus”) receipt, after the allowance for debt attributable
and receipts modelled in the self-financing settlement, is retained by the
Council, under the strict condition that the Council facilitates new social
housing on a one for one basis for each property sold.

Appendix D HRA Budget Assumptions

Agenda Item 11
Page 215

vii.

For the additional properties sold as a result of increased discounts there
is a resultant loss of rental income, which affects the 30 year cash flows
in the Business Plan. However there will also be a reduction in
expenditure on each of these properties, which will vary depending upon
the archetype and condition of each property.

viii.

In the majority of cases, each property will add a financial value to the
Business Plan so there is a loss experienced as a result of the extra RtB
sales. The compensation for debt attributable to each property mitigates
this loss, providing funds that can either be used for debt repayment or
capital investment (with no requirement to fund one for one
replacements).

ix.

As at the second quarter of 2017/18 the Council has useable HRA capital
receipts of £8.052M, of which £4.093M is reserved for investment in one
for one replacements. The Council has 3 years from the retention of
these monies (assessed on a quarterly basis) until it is required under
legislation to spend them on new build or acquisitions, with the receipt
comprising 30% of the total expenditure. Receipts cannot be matched
against schemes in receipt of Homes and Communities Agency (HCA)
funding. The Future Investment capital programme is reviewed regularly
to assess which schemes the receipts will be matched against, and at
what time.

x.

Careful monitoring of RtB sales will be required. Current projections
suggest that these will not have a material impact on the Business Plan,
particularly if the number of new build properties exceeds the properties
sold. If annual RtB sales were to make up a significant percentage of the
Housing stock , such that it diminished by 10% or more (approximately
500 units) over the period to 31 March 2022, then this would pose a
threat to the surpluses predicted both in the medium and longer term.

xi.

If a high rate of sales continued into the medium term the viability of the
Council’s HRA Business Plan could be called into question as unit costs
would be likely to increase.
O ther

i.

Future governments will not re-open the debt settlement and increase
the amount payable. The Government retained the power to re-open the
settlement, and in many respects the legislative changes referred to in
the main report amount to a re-opening of the settlement, as they
impact significantly on the basis of the self financing calculation (e.g.
assumptions for rent increases).

Appendix D HRA Budget Assumptions

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Page 217

Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE

9 January 2018

Recommissioning Continuing Support Services for Children
Report of: Cllr. Carole Hegley, Executive Member for Social Care and
Housing, Email: carole.hegley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Cllr. Steven Dixon, Executive Member for Education and Skills
Email: steven.dixon@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Responsible Director: Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
(sue.harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
This report relates to a decision that is Key.

Purpose of this report
1.

To present the recommissioning approach and Communication,
Engagement and Consultation (CEC) Plan for endorsement.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Executive is asked to:
1. endorse the recommissioning approach and champion the
recommissioning process; and
2. approve the engagement approach set out in the CEC Plan.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments / Recommendations
2.

The engagement approach will be presented to Overview and Scrutiny
on 16 January 2018.

Background
3.

A key element of the Children’s Transformation Programme is to develop
commissioned services that meet the identified needs of local families
and children in the most cost-effective way. Intervention at the first sign
of need is the best way to achieve good outcomes for children whilst
achieving best value financially.

Agenda Item 12
Page 218

4.

Currently, Children’s Services commissions a number of support
services for children, young people and families, but these are delivered
separately and the same customers may receive several different
services. We intend to implement a commissioning model consistent
with the “one family, one worker, one plan” approach which sits at the
heart of our transformation, and explore opportunities for greater
connectivity – joining up work within the Directorate and across the
Council’s service offer.

5.

We propose to review all services in scope and the outcomes they
achieve for our residents to identify whether they can be
recommissioned in a more joined up way.

6.

This proposal will achieve better integration of support at a local level,
resulting in the delivery of more effective and efficient support services
and better outcomes for service users.

The proposed commissioning approach
7.

We propose to recommission a number of services jointly, in order to
align services to drive improved outcomes and financial efficiencies.

8.

This approach has been discussed in detail with colleagues from
Procurement and LGSS. A competitive dialogue approach was proposed
in order to offer more flexibility in determining the final service delivery
model.

9.

Procurement and LGSS were initially supportive of this approach. The
LGSS response stated that tendering must begin by March 2018 and
warned that this is a resource intensive approach.

10. Waivers would be needed to extend the current contract term of those
services due to end in March and August 2018 to end in March 2019, in
order to re-commission all contracts holistically and with a view to
integrated, locality-based service delivery as envisioned by the
Transformation plan.
11. Outcomes from the recommissioned contracts would need to be finalised
before the Council could enter into competitive dialogue with providers.
12. Further discussion with corporate Communications highlighted that a
public consultation on the final service model(s) would need to be
undertaken before any procurement process began, but that the
Communications team would be unable to support such a consultation
until later in 2018.

Agenda Item 12
Page 219

13. As a result of this feedback, it is no longer possible to meet the statutory
timescales for both public consultation and competitive dialogue in order
to award contracts by December 2018 (ahead of contract
commencement on 1st April 2019).
14. It is proposed to proceed with the contract waivers, but to conduct
widespread stakeholder engagement early in 2018 to identify and agree
the outcomes for the recommissioned services in the coming months.
15. This engagement will feed into public consultation on the different
models and options for recommissioning, to help us understand how
these outcomes can best be delivered.
16. The results of this consultation will in turn inform the specifications of the
recommissioned services, to be tendered by a more standard procedure
(above OJEU threshold) from June 2018.
17. This proposal offers the following benefits:


time to consult more widely with service users, providers and
stakeholders, ensuring that services developed meet the identified
needs and aspirations of customers;



opportunities for co-production with local delivery partnerships and
customer forums;



the ability to consider all services at the same time to recommission
in a more integrated way, including the ability to commission and
deliver needs-led locality based services;



aligning outcomes and service delivery models with those of the new
ELFT Community Health Service to achieve maximum benefits; and



achieve improved outcomes and meet financial efficiencies captured
within the MTFP.

18. A number of contracts in scope can be extended for this period within
their current terms and conditions; however, some will require a waiver.
This may leave the Council open to challenge that tendering for these
contracts is insufficiently competitive.

Agenda Item 12
Page 220
19. However, the proposals outlined in this report will allow for greater
market engagement at an earlier stage of commissioning. This will
ensure that providers are able to shape the new services and develop
innovative solutions to meet local needs. Tenders will be published on
InTend and all providers will have an equal opportunity to bid for
contracts. The proposed extension period will support this process and
allow sufficient time to secure these positive outcomes through
recommissioning.
20. Due to the size and specialist nature of these contracts, recommissioning activity should commence at least 12 months before the
contracts end. Contract T&Cs state that providers will be informed of
commissioning decisions a minimum of 3 months before contract end
dates.
21. A Communication, Engagement and Consultation (CEC) Plan has been
produced in line with good practice within the Council to support this
project, and includes engagement with Members; children, young people
and families and other partners and stakeholders.
22. The CEC Plan includes a formal public consultation (12 weeks), as
recommissioning is likely to result in significant changes in the scope
and reach of some of the services currently delivered, including many
statutory services and services delivered by schools and the third sector.
23. It is recommended that the Executive endorse the commissioning
approach outlined.
Governance and Consultation
24. A Commissioning Project Board will be created as part of the
Transformation Governance and will oversee this re-commissioning
activity. This Board will include key stakeholders from within Children’s
Services (from Early Help/Children’s Centres, SEND, Youth Support
Services and Corporate Parenting), as well as partners from Public
Health, Procurement, Communications, Assets, Leisure & Libraries and
LGSS.
25. Further governance will take place through Children’s Services
Management Team and Transformation Board/Children’s Leadership
Board.
26. Schools Forum will be required to approve re-commissioned services
funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant as outlined in Appendix A.

Agenda Item 12
Page 221
Reason/s for decision
27. To ensure the Council meets its statutory obligation to deliver specific
services to children, young people and families as outlined in ‘Legal
implications’.
28. Where services are not statutory, to support the objective of the
Children’s Transformation Programme and Children and Young People’s
Plan to help children, young people and families at an earlier stage of
need by providing holistic, locality-based services. These services will
achieve better outcomes for our residents and divert service users from
high-cost, statutory services.
Council Priorities
29. The plan for recommissioning supports the Council’s priorities, in
particular:
 Delivering great residents’ services
 Improving education and skills
 Protecting the vulnerable, promoting wellbeing.
Corporate Implications:
Legal Implications
30. A number of services included in this re-commissioning are statutory
(see Appendix A). The re-commissioning approach will ensure that
statutory provision is compliant and effectively provided.
31. This proposal will ensure statutory procurement timescales are met,
especially when de-commissioning contracts.
32. This proposal also allows for the inclusion of a 12-week consultation on
the proposed service scope and model to fulfil the Council’s
accountability and transparency duties, including COMPACT
compliance.
Financial and Risk Implications
33. This project will support the directorate to achieve the required MTFP
efficiencies.
34. Potential legal challenge and reputational risks if commissioning and
consultation processes and timescales are compressed.

Agenda Item 12
Page 222
35. Risk due to lack of capacity within the Children’s Commissioning
Service; this is currently under review and being addressed through
recruitment processes.
36. Potential negative impact on outcomes, value for money and efficiencies
if services are not re-commissioned in an integrated way as outlined in
this report.
Equalities Implications
37. An Equality Impact Assessment has been developed as part of the
overall Transformation Programme – any additional information relating
to equalities implications specific to this project will be considered
alongside this Assessment.
Public Health Implications
38. A number of services in scope include outcomes to improve the physical
and mental/emotional health of children, young people and families. A
focus on improved wellbeing will be central to recommissioning these
services.
Community Safety Implications
39. A number of services in scope include outcomes around safeguarding,
and improving children’s behavioural, educational and social
development. This will have a positive impact on community safety by
encouraging positive choices and behaviour.
Conclusion and next Steps
40. Executive is asked to consider the proposal for recommissioning made
in this report and endorse the approach.
41. If approval is made, the next steps are to begin engaging with service
users, partners and the market to shape the outcomes for the
recommissioned services, and identify elements of good practice and
gaps in the local market.
42. At the same time, a robust data analysis will be carried out to identify
areas of local need.

Agenda Item 12
Page 223
43. The results of this analysis, and of the consultation and engagement
period, will be used to inform specifications for the recommissioned
services, which will then be advertised for competitive tender. It is
envisaged that contracts could be awarded by December 2018 (see
Appendix B).
Appendices
Appendix A:
Appendix B:
Appendix C:
Plan

Services in scope for recommissioning
Recommissioning timeline
Communication, Engagement and Consultation (CEC)

Background Papers
The following background papers, not previously available to the public, were
taken into account and are available on the Council’s website:
None
Report author(s):
Ben Pearson, Head of Commissioning and Performance, Children’s Services.
ben.pearson@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Toni Badnall-Neill, Strategic Commissioning Officer, Children’s Services.
Toni.badnall@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Page 225
Appendix A: Services in scope for recommissioning
* Service includes a statutory element
Core budget
Service

Provider

End
date

Biggleswade Children’s Centre

The Lawns Nursery

March
18

132

Dunstable North Children’s
Centre

Beecroft Academy

March
18

223

Dunstable South Children’s
Centre

YMCA

March
18

168

Flitwick Children’s Centre

YMCA

March
18

137

Houghton Regis Children’s
Centre

Hawthorn Park
Primary

March
18

230

Stotfold Children’s Centre

St Mary’s Academy

March
18

131

Shefford Children’s Centre

Shefford Lower
School

March
18

124

Leighton Buzzard Children’s
Centre

St George’s Lower

March
18

251

Sandy Children’s Centre

Laburnum Lower

March
18

125

Impartial IAG for young people*

4YPUK

March
18

160

Targeted Youth Work

Groundwork

March
18

189

Independent Visitors* and
Mentoring

Groundwork

March
18

55

Supervised Contact*

Swanstaff

March
18

300

Total

Current annual
value (£000’s)

2,225

Dedicated Schools grant
Current annual
value (£000’s)

Service

Provider

End date

Medical Needs service*

HAST

August
2018

644

Visual Impairment service*

HAST

August
2018

253

Agenda Item 12
Page 226

Hearing Impairment service*

HAST

August
2018

195

Primary Alternative Education*

Jigsaw Centre
(CBC)

March
2018

477

Total

2,295

Other
Service

Provider

End date

Pupil Referral Unit*

Academy of
Central Beds

August
2018

Total

Current annual
value (£000’s)
726
726

(The Academy is listed separately as a review of this provision is currently
ongoing, and it is funded on a different model to other contracts – all
Upper/Secondary schools have committed to funding a set number of places)

Agenda Item 12
Page 227
Appendix B: High-level recommissioning timeline
Timeline
Jan 2018
Feb 2018

Mar 2018

Apr 2018

May 2018

Jun 2018
Jul 2018
Aug 2018

Sep 2018
Oct 2018
Nov 2018
Dec 2018
Jan 2019
Feb 2019
Mar 2019
Apr 2019

Engagement and
Consultation
9/01: Approval from Exec to
start commissioning process
16/01: Update report to
Overview & Scrutiny
Commence engagement:
Member engagement
Provider forum 1: Outlining
requirements/building
consortium relationships
Schools Forum
Equality Forum
Co-production groups e.g.
SNAP
Plan, design & launch
consultation
Mar-May: Live consultation

Procurement

Complete waivers and
extend current contracts

Mar-Apr: Send out and
receive back completed
TUPE questionnaires

Provider forum 2: Outlining
tendering/procurement
process, evaluation scoring
etc.
Close consultation: including
final report to O&S and Exec
Deadline for receipt of
SSQ (Standard
Selection Questionnaire)
SSQ evaluation &
scoring
Deadline for receipt of
Tenders (ITT – Invitation
Ongoing communication with to Tender) – shortlisted
organisations only
stakeholder groups to
inform, reiterate key
ITT evaluation
messages and reassure as
per CEC Plan
Nov-Dec: CBC to
evaluate tender
responses
Award of contract(s)
Transfer & mobilisation
of services
1/04: target
commencement date

This page is intentionally left blank

